Plectic arithmetic of Hilbert modular varieties

Marius Leonhardt

Trinity College, University of Cambridge

July 2019

This thesis is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Declaration

This thesis is the result of my own work and includes nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration except as declared in the Preface and specified in the text.

It is not substantially the same as any that I have submitted, or, is being concurrently submitted for a degree or diploma or other qualification at the University of Cambridge or any other University or similar institution except as declared in the Preface and specified in the text. I further state that no substantial part of my thesis has already been submitted, or, is being concurrently submitted for any such degree, diploma or other qualification at the University of Cambridge or any other University or similar institution except as declared in the Preface and specified in the text.

Marius Leonhardt

Plectic arithmetic of Hilbert modular varieties

Abstract

We introduce plectic Galois actions on the set of CM points, on the set of connected components, and on the set of cocharacters of Shimura varieties that differ in the centre from the Hilbert modular variety. By allowing the centre to vary, we extend the plectic framework of Nekovář–Scholl to include such Shimura varieties, thereby also bridging the gap to earlier work of Nekovář. Our main result is that the map that sends a point on the Shimura variety to its connected component is equivariant under the plectic action.

To achieve this, we define a generalisation of the plectic Taniyama element, describe the points of the Shimura varieties in question in terms of abelian varieties with extra structure, and orient ourselves by the main theorem of complex multiplication over the rationals to define the plectic action on CM points. Moreover, we use a description of the set of connected components as a zero-dimensional Shimura variety and then employ class field theoretic techniques to prove the main result.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	9		
	1.1	Background and framework	9		
		1.1.1 Galois conjugates of CM abelian varieties	9		
		1.1.2 Plectic conjecture	10		
	1.2	Motivation and main results	11		
	1.3	Chapter overview	14		
	1.4	Notation and conventions	16		
2	Mai	in Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field	19		
	2.1	CM fields and the reflex norm	20		
	2.2	Abelian varieties	26		
	2.3	Abelian varieties with complex multiplication $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	30		
	2.4	Main Theorem over the reflex field	34		
	2.5	PEL Shimura variety associated to (K, Φ)	39		
3	Gal	ois conjugates of CM abelian varieties	45		
	3.1	Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q}	46		
	3.2	PEL Hilbert modular variety and Galois action on its CM points	49		
4	Ple	ctic Galois action on CM points	57		
	4.1	Plectic Galois group and plectic half transfer	58		
	4.2	eq:Plectic Taniyama element and plectic action on CM points of the PEL			
		Hilbert modular variety	65		
	4.3	Plectic Taniyama element on the entire plectic group $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	71		
	4.4	Variants of the Hilbert modular variety, and plectic action on their			
		CM points	77		
5	Plectic action on the set of connected components of variants of				
	Hill	bert modular varieties	91		
	5.1	Connected components of Shimura varieties	92		
	5.2	Plectic Galois action on connected components	97		
	5.3	Appendix: When is $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ a subgroup of the plectic group? If	09		

6	Plee	ctic action on cocharacters	117
	6.1	Plectic action on cocharacters of restrictions of scalars	. 118
	6.2	Plectic action on cocharacters of more general groups	. 124

1

Introduction

...schon eine Idee ausdenken, durchdenken, bis in die letzte Weiterung durchrechnen und kombinieren, das ist eine Freude, auf die ich gar nicht mehr gerechnet habe.

– Stefan Zweig, Rausch der Verwandlung¹

1.1 Background and framework

Fix a totally real number field F and denote its degree by $r = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$. The main objects of study in this thesis are variants of the Hilbert modular variety associated to F. These variants are certain Shimura varieties whose points parametrise r-dimensional abelian varieties with real multiplication by F equipped with a polarisation and a level structure. Of special focus will be those points corresponding to abelian varieties with complex multiplication (CM), so let us start with a summary of CM theory.

1.1.1 Galois conjugates of CM abelian varieties

A complex elliptic curve A_0 has CM if its endomorphism algebra is an imaginary quadratic number field K_0 . The most powerful result in the theory of CM elliptic curves is the Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication. It describes the Galois conjugates of torsion points of A_0 in terms of the class field theory of K_0 . See [Sil94, Ch. II] for a modern account and [Sch98] for a historical perspective. As an application, the Main Theorem implies "Kroneckers Jugendtraum" — an explicit construction of the maximal abelian extension of K_0 using the torsion points of A_0 .

The first higher-dimensional analogue of CM theory was established by Shimura and Taniyama [ST61, Shi71]. They study abelian varieties A whose endomorphism

¹Fischer Taschenbuch Verlag, 21st edition, July 2014, p. 290, l. 13-15.

algebra is a CM field K such that A induces a fixed CM type Φ on K. The Main Theorem in this context gives a very similar description of Galois conjugates of torsion points of A, with two main modifications: First of all, the theorem only gives information about conjugation by Galois elements that fix the reflex field E of the pair (K, Φ) . And secondly, the class-field-theoretic behaviour is now governed by the reflex norm

$$N_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}.$$

This result turned out to be extremely powerful. For example, it allowed Deligne [Del71] to define the notion of canonical models for Shimura varieties. The problem of extending the Main Theorem to conjugation by arbitrary Galois elements, not only those fixing the reflex field, was addressed by Tate [Tat16]. He defined an extension of the reflex norm called the half transfer

$$F_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \longrightarrow \Gamma_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$$

and conjectured (and proved "up to signs") that the formula describing Galois conjugates of CM abelian varieties in the Main Theorem over the reflex field should remain valid for conjugation by arbitrary Galois elements if one replaces the reflex norm by the half transfer. Deligne [Del82] completed Tate's proof and the result is now known as the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} . It is intricately related to the Taniyama group [Lan79, MS82b], CM motives [Sch94, Far06], and to conjugation of Shimura varieties [MS82a].

As an application, the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} yields an explicit formula for the Galois action on the CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety in terms of the half transfer.

1.1.2 Plectic conjecture

The plectic Galois group is the semidirect product $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ of the symmetric group S_r acting on r-tuples of elements of Γ_F by permuting the coordinates. Choosing representatives s_i for the right Γ_F -cosets in $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, so that $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} = \bigsqcup_{1 \leq i \leq r} s_i \Gamma_F$, we get an embedding

$$\rho_s \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r, \quad \gamma \mapsto (\sigma, (h_i)_{1 \le i \le r})$$

determined by

$$\gamma s_i = s_{\sigma(i)} h_i, \quad 1 \le i \le r.$$

The embedding ρ_s depends on the choice of the s_i ; however, there are choice-free versions of the plectic group $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ and of the embedding ρ_s , see e.g. (4.1.3).

Nekovář [Nek09] noticed that Tate's half transfer admits a natural extension to

a plectic half transfer

 $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi} \colon S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r \longrightarrow \Gamma_K^{\mathrm{ab}}.$

This allowed him to define an action of a certain large subgroup $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_0$ of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ on the CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety. By the formula mentioned at the end of Section 1.1.1, this action of $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_0$ extends the action of Γ_Q . Moreover, Blake [Bla16] used the plectic half transfer to define a plectic Taniyama group.

Inspired by [Nek09], Nekovář and Scholl [NS16] formulated the plectic conjecture. It predicts that Shimura varieties associated to groups of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$, for Ha reductive group over F, carry functorial and canonical extra structures. These so-called plectic structures should conjecturally exist on the level of motives. The prototypical example is the (non-PEL) Hilbert modular variety, which is associated to $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂. In this case, the motives in question are given by abelian varieties with real multiplication and level structure.

For general H, [NS16] also outlines how the plectic structures should manifest themselves in various realisations, defines a plectic analogue of the reflex field called the plectic reflex Galois group, and sketches arithmetic applications e.g. to Stark's conjectures and Beilinson's conjectures. For example, on the étale cohomology groups of Shimura varieties, a plectic structure is simply an action of the plectic group extending the Galois action. In a different direction, [NS17] defines plectic mixed Hodge structures and shows that the singular cohomology of the Hilbert modular variety carries a canonical plectic mixed Hodge structure.

1.2 Motivation and main results

There is a subtle, but fundamental difference between the setups of [Nek09] and [NS16]. Namely [Nek09] considers the PEL Hilbert modular variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G, \mathfrak{h}^r \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^r)$ whose underlying group G is not of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ for any group H. Instead, G is related to the group $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$, which underlies the Hilbert modular variety $\operatorname{Sh}(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2, (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^r)$, by the Cartesian diagram

This situation motivates the following questions: Is there a way of extending the plectic framework of [NS16] to include Shimura varieties whose underlying groups are not necessarily of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$? Is there a common reason for the phenomena in [Nek09] and [NS16] that explains why it was necessary to restrict to the subgroup

 $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_0 \subset S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ in [Nek09]? As a concrete example, we want to be able to define a plectic reflex Galois group for the PEL Hilbert modular variety in analogy to [NS16], and to define an action of the plectic group $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ on the CM points of the non-PEL Hilbert modular variety in analogy to [Nek09].

In this thesis, we address these questions for groups G' that differ only in the centre from a restriction of scalars $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$. Here we say that G' differs only in the centre from $G_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ if G' embeds into G_1 and the diagram

is Cartesian, where d and d_1 are the canonical maps $d: G' \to C' := G'/(G')^{\text{der}}$ and $d_1: G_1 \to C_1 := G_1/G_1^{\text{der}}$. We will see in (6.2.9) that this condition implies that G' and G_1 have the same adjoint and derived groups, but different centres, justifying the terminology.

For example, in the case of the Hilbert modular variety, the groups that differ only in the centre from $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂ are in bijection with algebraic tori R over \mathbb{Q} with $R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. We denote the group corresponding to R by G^R ; it fits into the Cartesian diagram

For technical reasons, we restrict to R with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R$. For each such R, we define a subset $X^R \subset (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^r$ such that (G^R, X^R) is a Shimura datum. We think of the family of Shimura varieties $\mathrm{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, where R ranges over tori with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, as interpolating between the Hilbert modular case $(R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m)$ and the PEL Hilbert modular case $(R = \mathbb{G}_m)$. We therefore call the Shimura varieties $\mathrm{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ variants of the Hilbert modular variety.

Our main results are as follows: For each R, we define three plectic groups $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\mathrm{CM}}^R$, $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ and $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\mathrm{cc}}^R$ together with actions of

- (A) $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{CM}^R$ on the set $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)_{CM}$ of CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$,
- (B) $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ on the set $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ of connected components of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$,
- (C) $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{cc}^R$ on the set $X_*(G^R)$ of cocharacters of G^R .

More precisely, the groups $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{CM}^R$ and $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{cc}^R$ are subgroups of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$. For many choices of R, the group $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ is also a subgroup of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$, but we do not know if this is true in general, see (5.2.7). For (A) we need two ingredients: The first ingredient is a description of the points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ in terms of abelian varieties with real multiplication by F equipped with an $R(\mathbb{Q})$ -class of a polarisation and a level structure, see (4.4.5). The second ingredient is a class-field-theoretic preimage (the plectic Taniyama element)

$$\widetilde{f}_{\Phi} \colon S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} / K^{\times}$$

of the plectic half transfer \widetilde{F}_{Φ} , see (4.3.6). The group $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{CM}^R$ is then precisely defined, in (4.4.11), in such a way that the formula for the Galois action on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ extends to $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{CM}^R$ when Tate's half transfer F_{Φ} is replaced by the plectic Taniyama element \widetilde{f}_{Φ} , see (4.4.13).

For (B) we take advantage of the description of $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ as a zerodimensional Shimura variety, see (5.1.9) and (5.2.3). We then use the class-fieldtheoretic description (5.2.4) of the Galois action on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ to define the group $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ and its action on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ in (5.2.6).

Although the groups and actions in (A) and (B) are defined in different ways, we are able to prove the following theorem, which is Theorem (5.2.10) and can be seen as the main result of this thesis.

1.2.1 Theorem. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be an intermediate algebraic torus defined over \mathbb{Q} . Then $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\mathrm{CM}}^R$ canonically embeds into $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$, and the π_0 -map restricted to CM points

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)_{\operatorname{CM}} \longrightarrow \pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$$

is $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\mathrm{CM}}^R$ -equivariant.

Finally, (C) requires purely group-theoretic considerations: The full plectic group $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ acts naturally on the cocharacters of $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂ and by the Cartesian diagram (1.2.0.3) the cocharacters of G^R form a subgroup of the cocharacters of $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂. We thus define $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{cc}^R$ as the stabiliser of this subgroup under the action of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$, see (6.2.4). It is then straightforward to define the plectic reflex Galois group of (G^R, X^R) , see (6.2.6).

To conclude, the group actions in (A), (B) and (C) all extend the natural action of the Galois group $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Thus they can be viewed as instances of plectic structures in the sense of [NS16] for the groups G^R , which differ only in the centre from $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂. In the case $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ the action (A) is precisely the one discovered in [Nek09], and [NS16] dealt with (C) for $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. In this sense, this thesis both generalises and interpolates between [Nek09] and [NS16].

1.3 Chapter overview

Chapters 2 and 3 are a review of CM theory as outlined in Section 1.1.1 and serve a twofold purpose: In these chapters we introduce the necessary notation, which is quite extensive, and present the results of CM theory in a form most amenable to generalisation. We often only sketch proofs or give references. We invite readers who are familiar with CM theory and the theory of Shimura varieties to skim through these chapters, or to directly start with Chapter 4.

In Chapter 2 we review the theory of complex multiplication over the reflex field. We start by introducing CM fields, CM types, the reflex norm, and CM abelian varieties. We then state the Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field in two versions, Theorem (2.4.7) and Theorem (2.4.10). We finish Chapter 2 with an application to the canonical model of the PEL Shimura variety parametrising polarised CM abelian varieties.

Section 3.1 recalls the definition of Tate's half transfer $F_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab} \to \Gamma_{K}^{ab}$ and states the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} again in two versions, Theorem (3.1.3) and Theorem (3.1.5). In Section 3.2 we interpret the points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety $\mathrm{Sh}(G, \mathfrak{h}^r \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^r)$ in terms of abelian varieties equipped with real multiplication, polarisation and level structure. By applying the Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q} , we obtain an explicit formula for the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action on the CM points of $\mathrm{Sh}(G, \mathfrak{h}^r \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^r)$.

Sections 4.1 and 4.2 summarise the results of [Nek09]. Here we introduce the plectic Galois group $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ and discuss several of its manifestations. We also recall Nekovář's plectic half transfer and the action of the subgroup $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_0$ on the CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety.

The stage is now set for the results announced in Section 1.2. Section 4.3 extends the definition of Nekovář's plectic Taniyama element to the entire plectic group. The main ingredients are a suitable section χ_F of the reciprocity homomorphism $r_F: \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \twoheadrightarrow \Gamma_F^{ab}$ together with diagram (4.3.1.1) from class field theory. Section 4.4 introduces the variants $\mathrm{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ of the Hilbert modular variety and proves a moduli description (4.4.5) in terms of abelian varieties. Then it defines the subgroup $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\mathrm{CM}}^R$ of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ and an action of this subgroup on the CM points of $\mathrm{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ in (4.4.13), extending the natural action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Chapter 5 is devoted to the study of $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$, the set of connected components of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. We start by recalling the description of the set of connected components of an arbitrary Shimura variety as a zero-dimensional Shimura variety and then apply it to $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. We then use a general formula to describe the Galois action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ in terms of a certain reciprocity morphism, see (5.2.4). This allows us to define the plectic group $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ and an action of this group on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ in (5.2.6), extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. We then prove Theorem (1.2.1) in (5.2.9) and (5.2.10).

Section 5.3 is an appendix and contains a discussion of cohomological conditions on the torus R that imply that $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{\pi_0}^R$ is a subgroup of the plectic group $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$. Among those conditions is the vanishing of the Shafarevich–Tate group $\operatorname{III}(R)$ of R, see (5.3.4.1). Examples of tori whose Shafarevich–Tate group vanishes include $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ and $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$.

Section 6.1 reviews the plectic Galois action of $S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r$ on the set of cocharacters $X_*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H)$ of the group $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$. In Section 6.2, we first define the plectic group $(S_r \ltimes \Gamma_F^r)_{cc}^R$ and an action of this group on $X_*(G^R)$ in (6.2.4) using the Cartesian diagram (1.2.0.3), and then define the plectic reflex Galois group of (G^R, X^R) in (6.2.6). We finish with a discussion of general properties (6.2.9) of groups that differ only in the centre from a group of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$, and generalise the results of this chapter to such groups.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Tony Scholl for introducing me to the beautiful theory of complex multiplication. Thank you very much for your ongoing encouragement and support. From you I learned that complicated mathematics is best understood with easy examples in mind, and I think the influence of this maxim is visible in this work.

Secondly, over the course of four years I have learned a lot of mathematics from attending conferences and exchanging mathematical ideas with many people. It is impossible to name them all, but I would like to highlight a few instances with a particularly large impact on my mathematical career and the contents of this thesis:

I encountered Shimura varieties for the first time at a "crash course" in 2016, and I thank the organisers Erik Visse and Wouter Zomervrucht for setting it up, and the participants Alex Best, Ben Heuer, and Misja Steinmetz for helpful discussions. Back then I was not aware of the important role that this topic would play in my research. I have also been a frequent participant at the "Kleine AG", and I thank Andreas Mihatsch and the other organisers for making it so enjoyable. Moreover, I thank André Macedo and Rachel Newton for telling me about the Shafarevich–Tate group of a torus as part of an excellent summer school at Bristol.

Thirdly, let me thank the number theory research group at Cambridge for exploring many aspects of arithmetic in various study groups. Thank you to my office mates Christos Anastassiades and Zhiyou Wu for some helpful discussions. In addition, I thank Beth Romano for introducing me to the wonderful theory of Lie algebras and for giving me the opportunity to teach, the benefits of which are hard to underestimate. Fourthly, it is my pleasure to send a huge thank you to Ben Heuer, Jef Laga, Nils Prigge, and Beth Romano, for proofreading drafts of this thesis and for your helpful feedback.

Finally, I thank my friends from all over the world for always being there for me and for handing me the thread to guide me out of the maze of mathematics when I needed it. I thank my family, especially my parents and my sister, for always believing in me. From a very young age I wanted to study mathematics, and without you this dream would not have come true.

1.4 Notation and conventions

For an algebraic number field k, we write \mathbb{A}_k (resp. $\mathbb{A}_{k,f}$) for the adeles (resp. finite adeles) of k and \mathbb{A}_k^{\times} (resp. $\mathbb{A}_{k,f}^{\times}$) for the ideles (resp. finite ideles) of k. When $k = \mathbb{Q}$, we often write \mathbb{A} for $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ etc. Moreover, $k_{>0}^{\times}$ denotes the subgroup of k^{\times} consisting of all elements that are positive under every real embedding of k. We write Γ_k for the absolute Galois group of k and Γ_k^{ab} for its abelianisation. For notation regarding class field theory, see (2.4.1). We also write $\Sigma_k = \text{Hom}(k, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) = \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_k$ for the set of embeddings of k into $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ denotes an algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q} .

To avoid notational difficulties, we will usually view all occuring number fields as embedded into $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ as embedded into \mathbb{C} . We will use the letter c to denote complex conjugation, both as an element of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$, of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ or $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{ab}}$, or of Galois groups of CM fields. We will also occasionally use \overline{z} for the complex conjugate of z.

From Section 3.2 onwards, we fix a totally real number field F and write Σ for Σ_F . We denote by S_{Σ} the symmetric group of the finite set Σ . Since we usually denote elements of S_{Σ} by σ , we will use x for elements of Σ .

Algebraic groups will usually be defined over \mathbb{Q} . For an algebraic group H over a number field k, we write $R_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H$ for the Weil restriction of scalars. It is the algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} whose A-points, for any \mathbb{Q} -algebra A, are given by

$$(R_{k/\mathbb{Q}}H)(A) = H(A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} k).$$

To shorten notation, we will occasionally denote the torus $R_{k/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ by T_k , where \mathbb{G}_m denotes the multiplicative group. For a torus T, we denote its character group by $X^*(T)$ and its cocharacter group by $X_*(T)$. We often write R for an algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. For more notation on algebraic groups, see e.g. (6.2.8).

If k is a number field, V is a k-vector space and A is a Q-algebra, we sometimes write V(A) for $V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} A$.

Labels to paragraphs, theorems, examples, etc. consist of three numbers, the first

two of them indicating the chapter and section in which the paragraph can be found. Labels for equations consist of four numbers, and labels for items in lists of three numbers and a lower case letter. In both cases, the first three numbers indicate the paragraph in which the equation or list can be found. When cross-referencing, except for chapters and sections we will always put the label in parentheses, and we will often simply write "(1.2.1)" when refering to Theorem (1.2.1).

2

Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field

In this chapter, we summarise the theory of complex multiplication over the reflex field. The main goals are to introduce notation for CM fields, CM types, and polarised abelian varieties, and to provide the background to state the Main Theorem of CM over the reflex field. The Main Theorem is the starting point of both the theory of Shimura varieties and the study of Galois conjugates of CM abelian varieties, and both will play a major role in this thesis.

In Section 2.1 we start by defining CM fields and CM types. We then associate a reflex field E and a reflex type to a CM type Φ of a CM field K, and use them to define the reflex norm $N_{\Phi} \colon E^{\times} \to K^{\times}$. Finally, using the Serre group we find that N_{Φ} extends to a morphism of algebraic tori $R_{E/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m \to R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$.

In Section 2.2 we introduce complex abelian varieties as polarisable complex tori and explain how to think of polarisations in terms of Riemann forms. We then define rational Hodge structures and state the equivalence of categories (2.2.10) between the category of abelian varieties up to isogeny and the category of polarisable rational Hodge structures.

In Section 2.3 we take a closer look at abelian varieties A with complex multiplication by a CM field K. By definition, this means A is equipped with an embedding

$$i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

We define the CM type Φ of K associated to (A, i), and then describe polarised CM abelian varieties (A, i, ψ) of type Φ by associating to (A, i, ψ) a lattice $\mathfrak{a} \subset K$ and a totally imaginary element $t \in K^{\times}$, see (2.3.5). We call $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ the type of (A, i, ψ) .

Section 2.4 is devoted to the Main Theorem over the reflex field. We start with a quick summary of results from class field theory, which we will use throughout this thesis. We then state the Main Theorem in two versions: For a polarised CM abelian variety (A, i, ψ) of type $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$, Theorem (2.4.7) describes the type of the conjugate of (A, i, ψ) under an automorphism of \mathbb{C} fixing the reflex field E of (K, Φ) in terms of the finite adelic points of the reflex norm

$$N_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$$

Moreover, Theorem (2.4.7) also describes the conjugates of the torsion points of A in terms of the reflex norm, and Theorem (2.4.10) rephrases this result in terms of Tate modules.

In Section 2.5 we introduce the PEL Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ associated to a pair (K, Φ) . The points of the zero-dimensional variety $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ are in bijection with isomorphism classes of abelian varieties with CM of type (K, Φ) equipped with polarisation and level structure. We then explain how the Main Theorem over the reflex field can be used to get a canonical model of $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$.

With small exceptions, the contents of this chapter can be found in [Shi71], which is based on [ST61], and in [Mil07], see also [Lan83]. For this reason, proofs are kept short and often sketchy. For details about the Serre group, we also use [Bla15], [Sch94] and [MS82b]. In Section 2.2, we follow [SD74] and [BL04], and for the background on Shimura varieties we use [Del71] and [Mil17].

2.1 CM fields and the reflex norm

2.1.1 (CM fields). A *CM field* is a totally imaginary quadratic extension K of a totally real field. We will usually denote this totally real field by F and its degree by $r = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$, so that $[K : \mathbb{Q}] = 2r$.

It is useful to also state the equivalent definition [Shi71, Prop. 5.11]: A number field K is a CM field if and only if it has a non-trivial automorphism c that acts as complex conjugation under every embedding $\varphi \in \Sigma_K := \text{Hom}(K, \mathbb{C})$, i. e. $\varphi \circ c = \overline{\varphi}$ where $\overline{(\cdot)}$ denotes complex conjugation on \mathbb{C} . Namely, one chooses c to be the non-trivial element of Gal(K/F). We will often simply denote c by $\overline{(\cdot)}$.

Note that the Galois closure over \mathbb{Q} of a CM field is again a CM field, and similarly the composite of two CM fields is a CM field too.

2.1.2 (CM types). Let K be a CM field. A CM type Φ of K is a subset $\Phi \subset \Sigma_K = \text{Hom}(K, \mathbb{C})$ containing precisely one embedding from each complex conjugate pair, i.e.

$$\Sigma_K = \Phi \sqcup \overline{\Phi}$$

The pair (K, Φ) is called a *CM pair*.

2.1.3 (Reflex field and reflex type). Let (K, Φ) be a CM pair. To (K, Φ) , we can associate the *reflex field* $E = E(K, \Phi)$, which will play a crucial role in the following considerations. It is the subfield E of \mathbb{C} given by

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E) := \{ \tau \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}) \mid \tau \Phi = \Phi \}.$$

More explicitly, it is given by

$$E = \mathbb{Q}(\mathrm{Tr}_{\Phi}(x) \mid x \in K),$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}_{\Phi}(x) := \sum_{\varphi \in \Phi} \varphi(x)$.

Note that the reflex field E is by definition a subfield of \mathbb{C} , and is itself a CM field because complex conjugation on \mathbb{C} induces the required automorphism on E. Moreover, the reflex field E comes equipped with a CM type Φ^* , called the *reflex type*. It is defined as follows:

Let L be the Galois closure of K over \mathbb{Q} and let $G = \operatorname{Gal}(L/\mathbb{Q})$. Fix an embedding $L \subset \mathbb{C}$, inducing an identification $G \cong \Sigma_L$. We view E as a subfield of L, so we have a diagram of fields



It is then not hard to see [Shi71, p. 125–126] that

$$\Phi_L^{-1} = \{ \varphi \in G \colon \varphi^{-1} |_K \in \Phi \}$$

is a CM type of L and is induced from a CM type Φ^* of E. The pair (E, Φ^*) is called the *reflex pair* of (K, Φ) .

Sketch of proof. Let us write $H := \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$, $H^* := \operatorname{Gal}(L/E)$, and identify $\Sigma_K = G/H$ and $\Sigma_E = G/H^*$. Observe that $H^* = \{g \in G \mid g\Phi_L = \Phi_L\}$.

Let us write $\Phi = \{\varphi_1 H, \dots, \varphi_r H\} \subset \Sigma_K = G/H$, so that $\Phi_L = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^r \varphi_i H$. Using that complex conjugation gives an element c in the centre of G, one sees that Φ_L^{-1} is a CM type of L and consists of right cosets for H^* , i.e.

$$\Phi_L^{-1} = \bigsqcup_{j=1}^m \psi_j H^*$$
 (2.1.3.1)

for some $\psi_j \in G$. This means that Φ_L^{-1} is induced from $\Phi^* := \{\psi_1 H^*, \dots, \psi_m H^*\} \subset \Sigma_E$, and one can show that Φ^* is indeed a CM type of E.

However, it is worth pointing out that Φ^* depends on the embedding $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ induced from the chosen embedding $L \subset \mathbb{C}$.

2.1.4 Example. Let us give a few concrete examples of CM types. Let K be a cyclic CM field of degree 6 and write $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) = \langle g \rangle$. For a concrete example, one may take $K = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_7)$. To avoid confusion, let us embed K into \mathbb{C} via id $= g^0$ and identify Σ_K with G. The maximal totally real subfield F of K is the fixed field of $g^3 = c$. Let us denote by K_0 the subfield of K fixed by the subgroup $H = \langle g^2 \rangle$. Then K_0 is an imaginary quadratic field.

Since K has degree 6, it has precisely $2^3 = 8$ different CM types: two of them are induced from the subfield K_0 and the remaining six are primitive. For example the CM type $\Phi_0 = \{g^0|_{K_0}\} \subset \Sigma_{K_0} = G/H$ of K_0 induces the CM type $\Phi = \{g^0, g^4, g^2\}$ of K. On the other hand, the CM type $\Psi = \{g^0, g^1, g^2\}$ of K is primitive. To calculate their reflex types, we see that $\Phi^{-1} = \{g^0, g^4, g^2\} = \operatorname{id} H$, so $\Phi^* = \Phi_0$. Moreover, $\Psi^{-1} = \{g^0, g^4, g^5\} = \Psi^*$.

We observe that the reflex pair is always primitive, and repeating this calculation we see that the "double reflex" of a CM type is equal to its primitive subpair. These two facts actually hold in complete generality, i. e. for any CM pair (K, Φ) , see [ST61, p. 71]. For more examples, see [ST61, 8.4]

2.1.5 (Reflex norm). Let (K, Φ) be a CM pair and E its reflex field. Fix an embedding $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ and let Φ^* be the associated reflex type of E. The *reflex norm* is the group homomorphism

$$N_{\Phi} \colon E^{\times} \longrightarrow K^{\times}$$
$$x \longmapsto \prod_{\psi \in \Phi^{*}} \psi(x).$$

This is well-defined: Using the notation of (2.1.3), note that if $\sigma \in H$ and $\psi \in \Phi_L^{-1} = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^r H \varphi_i^{-1}$, then $\sigma \psi \in \Phi_L^{-1}$. So σ induces a permutation of Φ_L^{-1} . By (2.1.3.1) σ induces a permutation of $\{\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_m\}$, say $\psi_j \mapsto \psi_{k(\sigma,j)}$, determined by $\sigma \psi_j \in$

 $\psi_{k(\sigma,j)}H^*$. For $x \in E^{\times}$ we then conclude that

$$\sigma N_{\Phi}(x) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} \sigma \psi_j(x) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} \psi_{k(\sigma,j)}(x) = N_{\Phi}(x).$$

Hence $N_{\Phi}(x)$ is fixed by all $\sigma \in H$, i.e. $N_{\Phi}(x) \in K^{\times}$.

Moreover, one can show that the reflex norm is independent of the choice of embedding $K \subset \mathbb{C}$: Calling this embedding $\iota: K \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota(K)$, with $\iota(K) \subset \mathbb{C}$, we see that Φ^* depends on ι , hence the reflex norm $N_{\Phi}: E^{\times} \to \iota(K^{\times})$ depends on ι (in the calculation above, we suppressed ι from notation). In order to get a map $E^{\times} \to K^{\times}$ we need to post-compose the reflex norm N_{Φ} with ι^{-1} , and one can check that this composition is independent of the choice of ι .

We will need the reflex norm also as a map between the (finite) ideles of E and K, so we remark here that the group homomorphism N_{Φ} extends to a morphism

$$N_{\Phi} \colon R_{E/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m \longrightarrow R_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$$

of algebraic tori over \mathbb{Q} . The details can be found in (2.1.8) below, but first we need some background about algebraic tori and the Serre group.

2.1.6 (Restriction of scalars of \mathbb{G}_m). For any number field M, we write T_M for the algebraic torus $R_{M/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. It is defined over \mathbb{Q} and its character and cocharacter groups can be identified with $\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_M]$ as $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules. We write (co-)characters as $\sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} n_{\sigma}[\sigma]$ with $n_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Here $[\sigma']$ denotes either the character

$$[\sigma'] \colon (M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times} = \prod_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times},$$
$$(t_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} \longmapsto t_{\sigma'},$$

or the cocharacter

$$[\sigma'] \colon \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} \longrightarrow \prod_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} = (M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times}$$
$$t \longmapsto (1, \dots, 1, t, 1, \dots, 1),$$

where the t is in the entry corresponding to σ' . It will always be clear from context whether $[\sigma']$ denotes a character or a cocharacter.

The action of $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $[\sigma] \in X^*(T_M)$ or $[\sigma] \in X_*(T_M)$ is given by

$$\gamma\colon [\sigma]\mapsto [\gamma\circ\sigma].$$

The canonical perfect pairing

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon X^*(T_M) \times X_*(T_M) \to \mathbb{Z}, \quad \langle f, g \rangle := \deg(f \circ g),$$

where the degree of the morphism $\mathbb{G}_m \to \mathbb{G}_m$, $t \mapsto t^n$, is defined to be *n*, translates to

$$\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_M] \times \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_M] \to \mathbb{Z}, \quad \left\langle \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} m_\sigma[\sigma], \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} n_\sigma[\sigma] \right\rangle = \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_M} n_\sigma m_\sigma.$$

2.1.7 (Serre group). Let $E \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a CM field. The Serre group S^E at level E is the algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} whose character group is given by

$$X^*(\mathcal{S}^E) := \left\{ \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_E} n_{\sigma}[\sigma] \; \middle| \; n_{\sigma} + n_{\overline{\sigma}} = n_{\sigma'} + n_{\overline{\sigma}'} \text{ for all } \sigma, \sigma' \in \Sigma_E \right\} \subset X^*(T_E).$$

The equivalence of categories [PR94, Thm 2.1] between algebraic tori and their character groups implies that \mathcal{S}^E is a quotient of T_E , so there is a canonical map $T_E \to \mathcal{S}^E$. Moreover, its cocharacter group is given by

$$X_*(\mathcal{S}^E) = X_*(T_E) / X^*(\mathcal{S}^E)^{\perp},$$

where $X^*(\mathcal{S}^E)^{\perp} := \{ \mu \in X_*(T_E) \mid \langle \chi, \mu \rangle = 0 \text{ for all } \chi \in X^*(\mathcal{S}^E) \}.$

The fixed embedding $E \subset \mathbb{C}$, which we will temporarily denote by ι , determines a cocharacter $\mu^E := [\iota] + X^*(\mathcal{S}^E)^{\perp}$ of \mathcal{S}^E . On characters, this corresponds to

$$(\mu^E)^* \colon X^*(\mathcal{S}^E) \to X^*(\mathbb{G}_m) = \mathbb{Z}, \quad \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_E} n_\sigma[\sigma] \mapsto n_\iota.$$

From this it is not hard to see that μ^E is defined over E and that its weight $-(c+1)\mu^E$ is defined over \mathbb{Q} , where $c \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ denotes complex conjugation.

In fact, the pair (\mathcal{S}^E, μ^E) satisfies the following universal property [Mil81, start of §4]: For every pair (T, μ) consisting of a Q-algebraic torus T and a cocharacter μ of T defined over E such that $-(c+1)\mu$ is defined over Q, there exists a unique morphism $\rho_{\mu} \colon \mathcal{S}^E \to T$ defined over Q such that the following diagram commutes:



2.1.8 (Reflex norm as a morphism of algebraic groups). Let (K, Φ) be a CM pair with reflex pair (E, Φ^*) as in (2.1.5). There we constructed the reflex norm as a group homomorphism $N_{\Phi} \colon E^{\times} \to K^{\times}$, which we will now upgrade to a morphims of algebraic tori over \mathbb{Q} .

Note that the CM type Φ determines a cocharacter $\mu_{\Phi} := \sum_{\varphi \in \Phi} [\varphi] \in X_*(T_K)$. By definition of the reflex field E, the cocharacter μ_{Φ} is defined over E, and its weight $-(c+1)\mu_{\Phi} = \sum_{\varphi \in \Sigma_K} [\varphi]$ is defined over \mathbb{Q} . By the universal property of the Serre group, there exists a unique morphism $\rho_{\Phi} \colon \mathcal{S}^E \to T_K$ defined over \mathbb{Q} such that

$$\mathbb{G}_{m} \xrightarrow{\mu^{E}} \mathcal{S}^{E} \xrightarrow{}_{\mu_{\Phi}} \qquad (2.1.8.1)$$

$$\mathbb{G}_{m} \xrightarrow{\mu^{E}} \mathcal{S}^{E} \xrightarrow{}_{\mu_{\Phi}} \xrightarrow{}_{T_{K}} \qquad (2.1.8.1)$$

commutes.

Composing ρ_{Φ} with the canonical map $T_E \to \mathcal{S}^E$ gives the desired morphism

$$N_{\Phi} \colon T_E \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^E \xrightarrow{\rho_{\Phi}} T_K,$$

which we will temporarily denote by N'_{Φ} to avoid confusion.

We claim that N'_{Φ} agrees, on \mathbb{Q} -points, with the reflex norm N_{Φ} defined in (2.1.5).

Proof of claim. Looking at the morphisms in the commutative diagram (2.1.8.1) on the level of characters, one sees that

$$\rho_{\Phi}^* \colon X^*(T_K) \longrightarrow X^*(\mathcal{S}^E), \quad \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma_K} n_{\sigma}[\sigma] \longmapsto \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \Phi} n_{\sigma}\right)[\iota] + (\text{other terms}),$$

where ι denotes the fixed embedding $E \subset \mathbb{C}$.

Using that ρ_{Φ} is defined over \mathbb{Q} , one can determine ρ_{Φ}^* completely as

$$\rho_{\Phi}^* \colon X^*(T_K) \longrightarrow X^*(\mathcal{S}^E), \quad [\sigma] \longmapsto \sum_{\tau \in \Sigma_E} m_{\tau}(\sigma)[\tau]$$

with

$$m_{\tau}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \tau = \gamma^{-1} \circ \iota \text{ for some } \gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \text{ such that } \gamma \circ \sigma \in \Phi, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that $(N'_{\Phi})^*$ is given by the same formula, using $X^*(\mathcal{S}^E) \subset X^*(T_E)$. This enables us to write down N'_{Φ} explicitly on $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -points (in terms of the $m_{\tau}(\sigma)$).

We want to prove that the following diagram commutes

$$(E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times} \xrightarrow{N'_{\Phi}} (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times}$$
$$\uparrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow$$
$$E^{\times} \xrightarrow{N_{\Phi}} K^{\times}.$$

Using the above formula for N'_{Φ} (in terms of the $m_{\tau}(\sigma)$) and combining it with the notation of (2.1.3), this reduces to proving that for each $\sigma \in \Sigma_K$,

$$\{\tau \in \Sigma_E \mid \sigma \in \tau\Phi\} = \tilde{\sigma}\Phi^*,$$

where $\tilde{\sigma} \in G$ denotes a lift of $\sigma \in \Sigma_K = G/H$. To show this, also denote a lift of $\tau \in \Sigma_E$ to G by $\tilde{\tau}$. Then

$$\{\tau \in \Sigma_E \mid \sigma \in \tau\Phi\} = \{\tilde{\tau}H^* \in \Sigma_E \mid \sigma \in \tilde{\tau}\Phi\}$$
$$= \{\tilde{\tau}H^* \in \Sigma_E \mid \tilde{\sigma} \in \sqcup_{i=1}^r \tilde{\tau}\varphi_i H\}$$
$$= \{\tilde{\tau}H^* \in \Sigma_E \mid \tilde{\tau} \in \tilde{\sigma}(\sqcup_{i=1}^r H\varphi_i^{-1}) = \tilde{\sigma}(\sqcup_{j=1}^m \psi_j H^*)\}$$
$$= \tilde{\sigma}\Phi^*,$$

so we are done. In the penultimate step, we used (2.1.3.1).

2.2 Abelian varieties

2.2.1 (Complex abelian varieties). Let A be an abelian variety defined over \mathbb{C} , of dimension $g = \dim A$. By Riemann's classification of abelian varieties over \mathbb{C} , see e.g. [Mil08, Prop. I.2.1], there exists a lattice Λ in a g-dimensional \mathbb{C} -vector space V and an isomorphism $A(\mathbb{C}) \cong V/\Lambda$ of complex Lie groups, which we will call a uniformization of A.

More intrinsically, one can define V to be the tangent space of A at the origin. In this setting, Λ can be defined to be $\Lambda := H_1(A, \mathbb{Z})$.

Conversely, let V be a finite dimensional complex vector space and Λ a lattice in V. Then [Mum70, §3, Cor. on p. 35] the complex torus V/Λ admits the structure of an abelian variety if and only if it is *polarisable*.

Here, a *polarisation* on V/Λ is defined to be an isogeny between V/Λ and its dual complex torus that is associated to an ample line bundle on V/Λ . We call V/Λ *polarisable* if it admits a polarisation.

2.2.2 (Polarisations and Riemann forms). Let V be a finite dimensional complex vector space and Λ a lattice in V. Because we are working over the complex numbers, the Theorem of Appell-Humbert [Mum70, §2, p. 20] implies that polarisations on

 V/Λ are in bijection with positive definite Hermitian Riemann forms on V with respect to Λ . Such forms are maps $H: V \times V \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfying

- *H* is Hermitian, i.e. *H* is \mathbb{C} -linear in the first variable and satisfies $H(v, w) = \overline{H(w, v)}$ for all $v, w \in V$.
- *H* is positive definite, i.e. H(v, v) > 0 for all $v \in V \setminus \{0\}$.
- Im *H* is \mathbb{Z} -valued on $\Lambda \times \Lambda$.

It is not difficult (compare [Mum70, §2, Lemma on p. 19]) to express these properties only in terms of the imaginary part E of H, namely

- $E: V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ is an \mathbb{R} -bilinear alternating form satisfying E(iv, iw) = E(v, w) for all $v, w \in V$.
- The form $(x, y) \mapsto E(ix, y)$ is positive definite.
- E is \mathbb{Z} -valued on $\Lambda \times \Lambda$.

Such forms E are called Riemann forms on V with respect to Λ . Because $\Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} = V$, it is enough to know E on Λ (or on $\Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$). In this thesis, we will often simply call E (or $E|_{\Lambda \times \Lambda}$) a polarisation of V/Λ .

2.2.3 (Endomorphisms of abelian varieties). Let A be an abelian variety over \mathbb{C} of dimension g, and let $A = V/\Lambda$ be a uniformization of A. Then the endomorphisms of A are given by

$$\operatorname{End}(A) = \{ \Psi \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{C}}(V) \colon \Psi(\Lambda) \subset \Lambda \}.$$

This shows that the endomorphism ring End(A) has two natural representations:

- (a) The *complex representation* is given by the action of End(A) on the complex vector space V of dimension g.
- (b) The rational representation is given by the action of End(A) on the free Z-module Λ = H₁(A, Z) of rank 2g, or (which is essentially the same) as the action of End_Q(A) := End(A) ⊗_Z Q on the 2g-dimensional Q-vector space H₁(A, Q). This action is faithful.

These representations are related by the Hodge decomposition

$$H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} \cong V \oplus \overline{V}, \qquad (2.2.3.1)$$

where \overline{V} denotes a copy of the vector space V on which $\operatorname{End}(A)$ acts by the complex conjugate of the action on V, i.e. if P is the matrix of $\Psi \in \operatorname{End}(A)$ acting on V with

respect to some basis, then Ψ acts on \overline{V} by \overline{P} (with respect to the same basis). The proof of this relation is an explicit calculation using 'nice' bases, see [SD74, Lem. 39].

Before moving on to CM abelian varieties, it will be useful to connect the theory of abelian varieties over \mathbb{C} to the theory of rational Hodge structures. We follow [Mil17, §2], but restrict ourselves to the necessary minimum.

2.2.4 ((Rational) Hodge structures). A *(real) Hodge structure* is a finite dimensional real vector space V together with a *Hodge decomposition*

$$V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} V^{p,q},$$

where $V^{p,q}$ are complex subspaces of $V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ such that $V^{p,q}$ is the complex conjugate of $V^{q,p}$. The set of $(p,q) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ with $V^{p,q} \neq 0$ is called the *type* of the Hodge structure.

The condition $V^{p,q} = \overline{V^{q,p}}$ implies that, for each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the (complex) subspace $\bigoplus_{p+q=n} V^{p,q}$ is stable under complex conjugation. Hence there is a real subspace V_n of V such that $V_n \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} V^{p,q}$. We call V_n the weight space of weight n.

A \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structure is a free \mathbb{Z} -module Λ of finite rank together with a Hodge decomposition of $\Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$ such that the weight spaces are defined over \mathbb{Q} . Similarly, a \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure is a finite dimensional \mathbb{Q} -vector space M together with a Hodge decomposition of $M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C}$ such that the weight spaces are defined over \mathbb{Q} .

2.2.5 (Hodge structures and representations of the Deligne torus). Giving a Hodge structure on a finite dimensional real vector space V is equivalent to giving a representation $h: \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GL}(V)$ of the *Deligne torus* $\mathbb{S} := R_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}\mathbb{G}_m$, which is an algebraic torus over \mathbb{R} . The dictionary between these two points of view is to let $(z_1, z_2) \in \mathbb{S}(\mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}^{\times} \times \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ act on $V^{p,q}$ by multiplication by $z_1^{-p} z_2^{-q}$.

Associated to a Hodge structure $h: \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ we also have a cocharacter μ_h of $\operatorname{GL}(V)_{\mathbb{C}}$ given by

$$\mu_h \colon \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}} \to \mathrm{GL}(V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}), \quad \mu_h(z) := h_{\mathbb{C}}(z,1),$$

and this cocharacter determines h.

For example, a Hodge structure of type $\{(-1,0), (0,-1)\}$ on a real vector space V is the same as a complex structure J on V, i.e. an endomorphims $J \in \text{End}(V)$ such that $J^2 = -1$. Namely, if h denotes the associated representation of \mathbb{S} , then J = h(i).

2.2.6 (Polarisations of Hodge structures). Let (M, h) be a \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure of weight n. A polarisation of (M, h) is a \mathbb{Q} -bilinear form $\psi \colon M \times M \to \mathbb{Q}$ satisfying

- $\psi(h(z)v, h(z)w) = (z\overline{z})^{-n}\psi(v, w)$ for all $v, w \in M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}, z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, and
- the pairing $(v, w) \mapsto \psi(v, h(i)w)$ is positive definite (on $M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R} \times M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$).

We call (M, h) polarisable if it admits a polarisation. Similarly, one defines polarisations for \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structures and real Hodge structures.

For example, if (M, h) has type (-1, 0), (0, -1) (i.e. weight -1), then a polarisation of (M, h) is a bilinear form $\psi \colon M \times M \to \mathbb{Q}$ satisfying

- ψ is alternating and $\psi(h(i)v, h(i)w) = \psi(v, w)$ for all $v, w \in M \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$, and
- $(v, w) \mapsto \psi(v, h(i)w)$ is positive definite.

The connection to abelian varieties is given by the following theorem, see [Mil17, Thm 6.8]:

2.2.7 Theorem (Abelian varieties and Hodge structures). The category of abelian varieties over \mathbb{C} is equivalent to the category of polarisable \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structures of type $\{(-1,0), (0,-1)\}$ via the functor

$$A \longmapsto H_1(A, \mathbb{Z}).$$

2.2.8 Remark. If the abelian variety A is given as V/Λ , then $H_1(V/\Lambda, \mathbb{Z}) = \Lambda$. The Hodge decomposition (2.2.3.1) equips Λ with a \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structure of type $\{(-1,0), (0,-1)\}$, namely, $V = V^{-1,0}$ and $\overline{V} = V^{0,-1}$. We mentioned in (2.2.1) that A admits a polarisation, which we described in terms of Riemann forms in (2.2.2). The Riemann form E (restricted to $\Lambda \times \Lambda$) is then precisely a polarisation of the \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structure Λ .

2.2.9 (Isogeny category). For large parts of this thesis, we will work in the category of abelian varieties *up to isogeny*. Its objects are abelian varieties, but the morphisms between A_1 and A_2 in this isogeny category are given by

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A_1, A_2) := \operatorname{Hom}(A_1, A_2) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

Sometimes, elements of $\operatorname{Hom}(A_1, A_2) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ are called *quasi-isogenies*, because some integer multiple of a quasi-isogeny is an actual isogeny.

Working in this category has the effect that isogenies are viewed as isomorphisms.

The equivalence of categories (2.2.7) implies:

2.2.10 Theorem. The category of abelian varieties over \mathbb{C} up to isogeny is equivalent to the category of polarisable \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures of type $\{(-1,0), (0,-1)\}$ via the functor

$$A \longmapsto H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}).$$

We will denote the \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure on $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ by $h_A \colon \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GL}(H_1(A, \mathbb{R}))$.

2.3 Abelian varieties with complex multiplication

Going back to endomorphisms of abelian varieties, using the ideas of (2.2.3) one can classify the possible division algebras $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A) := \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ for simple A, see [SD74, Thm. 43]. In this thesis, we are interested in abelian varieties with complex multiplication, which in some sense are those abelian varieties whose endomorphism algebra has largest possible centre. Namely, by [ST61, Prop. 1, p. 39], any commutative semi-simple subalgebra B of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A)$ satisfies $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} B \leq 2 \dim A$.

2.3.1 (Abelian varieties with complex multiplication). We say an abelian variety A over \mathbb{C} of dimension g has complex multiplication (CM) by a CM field K if $[K : \mathbb{Q}] = 2g$ and we are given an embedding

$$i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A).$$

A few remarks:

- (2.3.1.a) An abelian variety A can have CM by several CM fields. Therefore, we include the homomorphism $i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A)$ as part of the data and say that (A, i)has CM by K, or that A has CM by K via i.
- (2.3.1.b) If A is simple, then $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A)$ is a division algebra. One can then show that if (A, i) has CM by K with A simple, then i is an isomorphism. In this case, K is determined up to isomorphism.
- (2.3.1.c) Some authors allow K to be a CM algebra instead of a CM field. A CM algebra is a finite product of CM fields. Most of the theory can be worked out for CM algebras instead of CM fields, but for the purpose of this thesis we will always restrict to the case where K is a field. This is not too restrictive because if A has CM by a CM algebra, then it is isogeneous to a product of abelian varieties, each of which has CM by a CM field.

2.3.2 (CM type determined by A). Let us assume that $(A, i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A))$ has CM by K. Then the 2g-dimensional \mathbb{Q} -vector space $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ carries a faithful representation of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A)$ and hence by K. So we can view $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ as a onedimensional vector space over K, and simply write $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) = K$.

On the other hand, K also acts, via i and the complex representation of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A)$, on the tangent space V of A at the origin. The vector space V is g-dimensional over \mathbb{C} , and diagonalising the K-action we get an isomorphism of complex vector spaces with K-actions

$$V \cong \bigoplus_{\varphi \in \Phi} \mathbb{C}_{\varphi} =: \mathbb{C}^{\Phi},$$

for a subset $\Phi \subset \Sigma_K = \text{Hom}(K, \mathbb{C})$ with g elements (repetitions allowed), where \mathbb{C}_{φ} denotes a one-dimensional complex vector space on which K acts via φ .

It remains to show that Φ is a CM type of K. This follows from the Hodge decomposition (2.2.3.1): We have isomorphisms of complex vector spaces with K-actions

$$V \oplus \overline{V} \cong H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} \cong K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} \cong \bigoplus_{\varphi \in \Sigma_K} \mathbb{C}_{\varphi}$$

But the left hand side is isomorphic to $\bigoplus_{\varphi \in \Phi} \mathbb{C}_{\varphi} \oplus \bigoplus_{\varphi \in \overline{\Phi}} \mathbb{C}_{\varphi}$, thus Φ is a CM type of K.

We say that (A, i) is of type (K, Φ) .

2.3.3 Remark. Let (A, i) be a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) . As in (2.3.2), we can view $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ as a one-dimensional K-vector space, and the tangent space V of A at the origin is isomorphic to \mathbb{C}^{Φ} , which is equipped with CM by K by letting $x \in K$ act as multiplication by $\Phi(x) = (\varphi(x))_{\varphi \in \Phi} \in \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}$.

Under the equivalence of categories (2.2.10), the abelian variety A hence corresponds to the \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure (K, h_{Φ}) , where h_{Φ} encodes the isomorphism

$$K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}.$$

In other words, the endomorphism $h_{\Phi}(i)$ of $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$ is equal to the pullback of multiplication by $(i, \ldots, i) \in \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}$ under this isomorphism.

The CM pair (K, Φ) determines the Q-Hodge structure (K, h_{Φ}) , so we conclude that the isogeny class of a CM abelian variety (A, i) is determined by its type (K, Φ) . Put differently, there is a bijection between CM types of K and isogeny classes of abelian varieties with CM by K.

We have seen that (A, i) determines the pair (K, Φ) , and that in turn (K, Φ) determines the isogeny class of (A, i). In order to get a finer classification, we also need to take polarisations into account. We follow the exposition in [Mil07, p. 5, before Prop. 1.3].

2.3.4 (Compatible polarisations). Let $(A, i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A))$ be a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) . We call (the Riemann form of) a polarisation $\psi: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \times H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathbb{Q}$ (K-)compatible (with i) if its Rosati involution stabilises i(K) and induces complex conjugation on it. This means that $\psi(i(a)v, w) = \psi(v, i(c(a))w)$ for all $v, w \in H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ and $a \in K$.

We can describe compatible polarisations more explicitly as follows: As in (2.3.2) we can view $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ as a 1-dimensional vector space over K. Call a basis element e. Then by [Shi71, (5.5.13)] there exists a unique element $t \in K^{\times}$ such that

$$\psi(x \cdot e, y \cdot e) = E_t(x, y) := \operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(txc(y)), \text{ for all } x, y \in K.$$

The conditions of (2.2.2) (or (2.2.6)) on the polarisation ψ translate to

(2.3.4.a) t being totally imaginary (because ψ is alternating), and

(2.3.4.b) Im $\varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$ (because $(x, y) \mapsto \psi(ix, y)$ is positive definite).

2.3.5 (Polarised CM abelian varieties). Let us classify triples (A, i, ψ) consisting of a CM abelian variety (A, i) of type (K, Φ) as in (2.3.2) and a compatible polarisation ψ .

To analyse this situation, let $\Theta : \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Lambda \xrightarrow{\sim} A$ be a uniformization. Choose a Kbasis element e of $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$. This determines a lattice $\mathfrak{a} \subset K$ by $\mathfrak{a} := \{x \in K \mid x \cdot e \in \Lambda\}$, and allows us to identify $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}$ with $\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$, where we write $\Phi : K \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}$ for the map $x \mapsto (\varphi(x))_{\varphi \in \Phi}$.

Together with the discussion in (2.3.4), this shows that the choice of e determines a quadruple $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$, which we will also call the *type* of (A, i, ψ) relative to the uniformization Θ .

A different choice of basis element for $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ has the form $e' = a^{-1}e$ for some $a \in K^{\times}$, resulting in changing \mathfrak{a} to $\mathfrak{a}' = a\mathfrak{a}$ and t to $t' = \frac{t}{a\overline{a}}$ (and Θ to $\Theta' = \Theta \circ a^{-1}$, where $a^{-1} \colon \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(a\mathfrak{a}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$ denotes the map induced from multiplication by $\Phi(a^{-1})$ on \mathbb{C}^{Φ}).

To summarise: The type $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ as above determines the triple (A, i, ψ) up to isomorphism. Here an isomorphism of triples (A, i, ψ) is an isomorphism of abelian varieties respecting the complex multiplication i and the polarisation ψ . Conversely, a triple (A, i, ψ) determines the type $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ up to simultaneously changing \mathfrak{a} to $a\mathfrak{a}$ and t to $\frac{t}{a\overline{\mathfrak{a}}}$, for some $a \in K^{\times}$.

Finally, a quadruple $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$, with K a CM field, Φ a CM type of K, \mathfrak{a} a lattice in K and $t \in K^{\times}$ a totally imaginary element, occurs as the type of some polarized CM abelian variety (A, i, ψ) if and only if $\operatorname{Im} \varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$.

The following lemma will be very useful.

2.3.6 Lemma. Let $(A, i: K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A))$ be a CM abelian variety. Let F denote the maximal totally real subfield of K, i. e. $F = K^{\langle c \rangle}$. Assume that $\psi: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \times$ $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathbb{Q}$ is a polarisation of A that is F-compatible, i. e. $\psi(i(a)v, w) =$ $\psi(v, i(a)w)$ for all $v, w \in H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ and $a \in F$.

Then ψ is also K-compatible.

Proof. To shorten notation, let $V := H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$. As before, we identify V with K and drop i from notation. Note that $\dim_K V = 1$, hence $\dim_F V = 2$. The proof proceeds in three steps.

• The map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_F(V, F) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, \mathbb{Q}), \quad v^* \longmapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ v^*$$

is an *F*-linear isomorphism, where $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, \mathbb{Q})$ is an *F*-vector space via $(f \cdot \alpha)(v) := \alpha(fv)$ for $f \in F$, $\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, \mathbb{Q})$, and $v \in V$.

The map is clearly F-linear and both its domain and target have dimension $2[F:\mathbb{Q}]$ over \mathbb{Q} , so it is enough to check that the map is injective. So assume that $\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ v^* = 0$ for some $v^* \in \operatorname{Hom}_F(V, F)$. Then the F-vector space $\operatorname{im}(v^*)$ is contained in ker $(\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}})$, which has dimension $[F:\mathbb{Q}] - 1$ over \mathbb{Q} , hence $v^* = 0$.

Let W denote the Q-vector space of all Q-bilinear, alternating, F-compatible forms B: V × V → Q. We make W into an F-vector space by defining (f · B)(v, w) := B(fv, w) for f ∈ F and B ∈ W. Then W has dimension 1 as an F-vector space.

Let us first look at the *F*-vector space *U* of all \mathbb{Q} -bilinear, *F*-compatible (not necessarily alternating) forms $B: V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$. Writing *U'* for the *F*-vector space of *F*-bilinear forms $B': V \times V \to F$, identifying a bilinear form *B* on *V* with the map $v \mapsto B(v, \cdot)$, and using the previous step we get an *F*-linear isomorphism

$$U' = \operatorname{Hom}_F(V, \operatorname{Hom}_F(V, F)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_F(V, \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, \mathbb{Q})) = U$$
$$B' \longmapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ B'.$$

The F-subspace W of U consists precisely of those $B \in U$ that are alternating. Now $B' \in U'$ is alternating if and only if the linear map $\beta_{B'} \colon V \to \operatorname{Hom}_F(V, F)$ defined by $\beta_{B'}(v) \coloneqq B'(v, \cdot) + B'(\cdot, v)$ is trivial, which by the previous step happens if and only if $\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ \beta_{B'}$ is trivial. But clearly $\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ \beta_{B'} = \beta_{\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ B'}$, which by the same argument is trivial if and only if $\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \circ B'$ is alternating. Thus the isomorphism $U \cong U'$ restricts to an isomorphism between W and the F-vector space of F-bilinear alternating forms $V \times V \to F$, i. e. with $\operatorname{Hom}_F(\bigwedge^2 V, F)$. Since V has dimension 2 over F, this latter space has dimension 1 over F.

• Note that $\psi \in W$. So finally we claim that any $B \in W$ is K-compatible.

Let W' denote the set of all K-compatible, Q-bilinear, alternating forms $B: V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$. Then W' is an F-subspace of W, and $W' \neq 0$ because the pairing E_t , for any totally imaginary $t \in K^{\times}$, is non-trivial. But since $\dim_F W = 1$, we must have W' = W.

2.3.7 Remark (Torsion points and uniformizations). Let (A, i) be a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) , and let $\Theta \colon \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}) \xrightarrow{\sim} A$ be a uniformization of A, with \mathfrak{a} a lattice in K. Since $\mathfrak{a} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = K$, the torsion points of A correspond under Θ to $\Phi(K)/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$. We will simply write $\Theta \colon K/\mathfrak{a} \xrightarrow{\sim} A_{\text{tors}}$, although this should really be written as $\Theta \circ \Phi$, for $\Phi \colon K \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}$ given by $\Phi(x) := (\varphi(x))_{\varphi \in \Phi}$. The importance of introducing the reflex field is illustrated by the following observation:

2.3.8 (Change of CM type). Let (A, i) be a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) . Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$. Then the conjugate abelian variety σA also has CM by K via

$${}^{\sigma}i \colon K \xrightarrow{i} \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(A) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}({}^{\sigma}A).$$

The same calculation as in (2.3.2) shows that $({}^{\sigma}A, {}^{\sigma}i)$ is of type $(K, \sigma\Phi)$, where $\sigma\Phi := \{\sigma \circ \varphi \mid \varphi \in \Phi\}$. In particular, $({}^{\sigma}A, {}^{\sigma}i)$ has the same type as (A, i) if and only if $\sigma\Phi = \Phi$, i.e. if and only if σ fixes the reflex field $E(K, \Phi)$.

2.4 Main Theorem over the reflex field

We are now almost ready to state the Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field. But before doing so, we need to introduce more notation, and talk about class field theory.

2.4.1 (Class field theory). Let k be a number field. We write $\mathbb{A}_k^{\times} := \prod_v k_v^{\times}$ for the group of ideles of k and $\mathbb{A}_{k,f}^{\times} := \prod_{v \nmid \infty} k_v^{\times}$ for the group of finite ideles. We embed k^{\times} diagonally into \mathbb{A}_k^{\times} and $\mathbb{A}_{k,f}^{\times}$.

Class field theory [NSW15, Ch. 8] says that there exists a surjective, continuous group homomorphism

$$\operatorname{art}_k \colon \mathbb{A}_k^{\times}/k^{\times} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(k^{\operatorname{ab}}/k) = \Gamma_k^{\operatorname{ab}}$$

called the Artin map. We normalise it by sending uniformizers to geometric Frobenius elements. Recall that the kernel of art_k is the connected component of the identity element, which is equal to the closure of $k_{\infty,>0}^{\times} \cdot k^{\times}$ inside $\mathbb{A}_k^{\times}/k^{\times}$. Here $k_{\infty,>0}^{\times} := \prod_{v \text{ real}} \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times} \times \prod_{v \text{ complex}} \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is the identity component in $k_{\infty}^{\times} := \prod_{v \mid \infty} k_v^{\times}$. In particular, art_k induces a surjective, continuous group homomorphism

$$r_k \colon \mathbb{A}_{k,f}^{\times} / k_{>0}^{\times} \longrightarrow \Gamma_k^{\mathrm{ab}},$$

where $k_{>0}^{\times} := k^{\times} \cap k_{\infty,>0}^{\times}$ denotes the elements of k^{\times} that are positive at all real places of k. For example, if k is totally imaginary, e.g. when k is a CM field, then $k_{>0}^{\times} = k^{\times}$. The following commutative diagram summarises the situation

$$\mathbb{A}_{k}^{\times}/k^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{k}^{\times}/k_{\infty,>0}^{\times}k^{\times} \longrightarrow \pi_{0}(\mathbb{A}_{k}/k^{\times}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{art}_{k}} \Gamma_{k}^{\operatorname{ab}}$$

$$\stackrel{\widehat{}}{\underset{\mathbb{A}_{k,f}^{\times}/k_{>0}^{\times}}{} \xrightarrow{r_{k}} (2.4.1.1)$$

2.4.2 Example (Class field theory of \mathbb{Q}). For the field \mathbb{Q} , one can describe its class field theory explicitly using roots of unity and the cyclotomic character: The Theorem of Kronecker–Weber states that \mathbb{Q}^{ab} is obtained by adjoining all roots of unity to \mathbb{Q} . Hence the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}^{ab}/\mathbb{Q})$ is canonically isomorphic to $\hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$, the isomorphism being given by the cyclotomic character χ_{cyc} : $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}^{ab}/\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$: An element $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}^{ab}/\mathbb{Q})$ acts on a root of unity ζ by

$$\sigma(\zeta) = \zeta^{\chi_{\rm cyc}(\sigma)}.$$

On the other hand, the identity component in $\mathbb{Q}_{\infty}^{\times} = \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ is $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$, and in this case $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times} \cdot \mathbb{Q}^{\times} / \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$ is a closed subgroup of $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} / \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$. Moreover, the quotient $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} / (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times} \cdot \mathbb{Q}^{\times})$ is isomorphic to $\hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$, the isomorphism being induced from the inclusion $\hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} \subset \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$. The Artin map is then given explicitly by the commutative diagram



2.4.3. (Class field theory and transfer) Let k'/k be a finite extension of number fields. Then we have a commutative diagram [Tat67, (13), p. 197]

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{A}_{k'}^{\times}/k'^{\times} & \stackrel{\operatorname{art}_{k'}}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_{k'}^{\operatorname{ab}} \\ & \uparrow & & \uparrow^{V_{k'/k}} \\ \mathbb{A}_{k}^{\times}/k^{\times} & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{art}_{k}} & \Gamma_{k}^{\operatorname{ab}}, \end{array}$$

where the left vertical arrow is induced from the inclusion $k \subset k'$ and the right vertical arrow is the transfer map $V_{k'/k} \colon \Gamma_k^{ab} \to \Gamma_{k'}^{ab}$, see (2.4.4). The same diagram with "r" instead of "art" and finite ideles and totally positive elements on the left hand side also commutes. We will very often use the particular case when $k = \mathbb{Q}$.

2.4.4 (Transfer). Let Γ be a (profinite) group and Δ be a (closed) finite index subgroup. Denote (the closure of) the commutator subgroup of Γ by $[\Gamma, \Gamma]$, and the abelianisation of Γ by $\Gamma^{ab} := \Gamma/[\Gamma, \Gamma]$. The *transfer map*

$$V\colon \Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}} \longrightarrow \Delta^{\mathrm{ab}}$$

is defined as follows: For $x \in \Gamma/\Delta$, let $s_x \in \Gamma$ be a representative of the right Δ -coset x, so that $\Gamma = \bigsqcup_x s_x \Delta$. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we have $\gamma s_x = s_{\gamma x} \delta$ for some $\delta \in \Delta$, i.e.

 $s_{\gamma x}^{-1} \gamma s_x \in \Delta$. So we can define

$$V(\gamma) := \prod_{x \in \Gamma/\Delta} (s_{\gamma x}^{-1} \gamma s_x \cdot [\Delta, \Delta]) \in \Delta^{\mathrm{ab}}.$$

One checks that V is a (continuous) group homomorphism, hence factors through Γ^{ab} , and is independent of the chosen system of representatives (s_x) .

If k'/k is a finite extension of number fields, then $\Gamma_{k'}$ is a finite index subgroup of Γ_k and we denote the resulting transfer map by $V_{k'/k}$.

2.4.5 ("Idele times lattice"). Let K be a number field and $\mathfrak{a} \subset K$ a lattice. For a prime number p, let $K_p := K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p$ and $\mathfrak{a}_p := \mathfrak{a} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$, a \mathbb{Z}_p -lattice in K_p . For an idele $x = (x_v)_v \in \mathbb{A}_K^{\times}$ (or a finite idele, since the ∞ -component will not play a role here), define its p-component to be $x_p := (x_v)_{v|p} \in \prod_{v|p} K_v = K_p$. Then $x_p \cdot \mathfrak{a}_p$ is also a \mathbb{Z}_p -lattice in K_p .

Now [Lan83, Ch. 3.6, p. 77-78] one can find a lattice \mathfrak{b} in K such that $\mathfrak{b}_p = x_p \mathfrak{a}_p$ for all prime numbers p. So we define $x \cdot \mathfrak{a} := \mathfrak{b}$. For example, if \mathfrak{a} is a fractional ideal, then we can define $\mathfrak{b} := (x) \cdot \mathfrak{a}$, where (x) is the fractional ideal of K defined by the idele x.

Furthermore, using the isomorphism $K/\mathfrak{a} \cong \bigoplus_p K_p/\mathfrak{a}_p$, we can also define a "multiplication by x" map $K/\mathfrak{a} \to K/x\mathfrak{a}$ in the following way: Let $u \in K$ and choose $v \in K$ such that $v \equiv x_p u \mod x_p \mathfrak{a}_p$ for all p. Define $x \cdot (u \mod \mathfrak{a}) := v \mod x\mathfrak{a}$. The following commutative diagram illustrates this process:



We denote this map by $K/\mathfrak{a} \xrightarrow{x} K/x\mathfrak{a}$ although it is not really a "multiplication by x" map.

If \mathfrak{a} is a fractional ideal, one can avoid working with prime numbers p and instead work with the prime ideals \mathfrak{p} of K. The procedure remains the same.

2.4.6 (Projective vs. inductive limit). Here is another way to think about the construction in (2.4.5): For any lattice \mathfrak{a} in K, we have $\mathfrak{a} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = K$. So on the one hand, we can view K/\mathfrak{a} as the union (inductive limit) of all $\frac{1}{n}\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{a}$, and we have
constructed a map

$$K/\mathfrak{a} = \varinjlim_{n} \left. \frac{1}{n} \mathfrak{a} \right/ \mathfrak{a} \xrightarrow{x} \varinjlim_{n} \left. \frac{1}{n} x \mathfrak{a} \right/ x \mathfrak{a} = K/x \mathfrak{a}.$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\mathbb{A}_{K,f} = \left(\underbrace{\lim_{n}}_{n} \frac{1}{n} \mathfrak{a} \middle/ \mathfrak{a} \right) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

For every *n*, the "multiplication by *x*" map above induces a map $\frac{1}{n}\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{a} \to \frac{1}{n}x\mathfrak{a}/x\mathfrak{a}$. For n|m, these maps are compatible in the right way, so we get an induced map between the projective limits (also denoted by *x*)

Then the dotted arrow is precisely given by multiplication by $x \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$.

We are now ready to state the Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field. Up to notational differences¹, this is [Shi71, Thm 5.15] and follows from the results in [ST61]. For a full proof, see [Lan83, Ch. 3, Thm 6.1] or [Mil07, Thm 3.13].

2.4.7 Theorem (Main Theorem of CM over the reflex field I). Let (A, i) be a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) equipped with a compatible polarisation ψ . Let (A, i, ψ) be of type $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ relative to a uniformization $\Theta \colon \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}) \xrightarrow{\sim} A$. Furthermore, let E be the reflex field of (K, Φ) , let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E)$ and choose $s \in \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times}$ such that $r_E(s) = \sigma|_{E^{\operatorname{ab}}}$.

Then:

- (2.4.7.a) The triple $\sigma(A, i, \psi) := ({}^{\sigma}A, {}^{\sigma}i, {}^{\sigma}\psi)$ is of type $(K, \Phi; f\mathfrak{a}, t\frac{\chi_{cyc}(\sigma)}{ff})$ relative to some uniformization Θ' , where $f = N_{\Phi}(s) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$.
- (2.4.7.b) There exists a unique uniformization $\Theta' \colon \mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(f\mathfrak{a}) \xrightarrow{\sim} ({}^{\sigma}\!A)(\mathbb{C})$ such that the following diagram commutes:



¹Most notably, [Shi71] and [Lan83] use a different normalisation for class field theory by sending uniformizers to *arithmetic* Frobenius elements. We follow the convention in [Mil07], see (2.4.1).

Here the left vertical arrow is the "multiplication by f" map defined in (2.4.5).

2.4.8 Remark. In (2.4.7.a) we write ${}^{\sigma}A$ for the conjugate abelian variety. It has CM by K via ${}^{\sigma}i$, see (2.3.8). The polarisation ${}^{\sigma}\psi$ of ${}^{\sigma}A$ is defined to be associated to the σ -conjugate of the line bundle determining ψ . For more details in the slightly different language of divisors, see [Lan83, Ch. 3.4].

Moreover, by [Mil07, Lemma 3.7] we have $\frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\sigma)}{f\overline{f}} \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{\times}$, so the quadruple $(K, \Phi; f\mathfrak{a}, t\frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\sigma)}{f\overline{f}})$ is a type in the sense of (2.3.5).

The Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication is a statement of the action of $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ fixing the reflex field on the torsion points of an abelian variety A with CM by K. It will be useful to restate this theorem in terms of the Tate module of A.

2.4.9 (Tate module). The *(full, rational) Tate module* of an abelian variety A is defined to be

$$\widehat{V}(A) := \left(\varprojlim_n A[n] \right) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

It is a free $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}$ -module of rank 2 dim A. If A has complex multiplication by K, then $\widehat{V}(A)$ becomes a free $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}$ -module of rank 1.

The Main Theorem now becomes [Mil07, Thm 3.10]:

2.4.10 Theorem (Main Theorem of CM over the reflex field II). Let (A, i) be an abelian variety with CM of type (K, Φ) , and let E be the reflex field of (K, Φ) . Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E)$ and let $s \in \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times}$ such that $r_E(s) = \sigma|_{E^{\operatorname{ab}}}$. Finally, let $f := N_{\Phi}(s) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$.

Then there exists a unique K-linear quasi-isogeny $\lambda: A \to {}^{\sigma}\!A$ such that the following diagram is commutative:

$$\widehat{V}(A) \xrightarrow{f} \widehat{V}(A) \\
\xrightarrow{\sigma} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\lambda} \\
\widehat{V}(^{\sigma}A).$$
(2.4.10.1)

Moreover, if ψ is a compatible polarisation on (A, i), then for all $v, w \in H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ we have

$$({}^{\sigma}\psi)(\lambda(v),\lambda(w)) = \frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\sigma)}{f\overline{f}}\psi(v,w).$$

Sketch of proof that Theorems (2.4.7) and (2.4.10) are equivalent. Theorem (2.4.7) follows from Theorem (2.4.10) by [Mil07, 3.13], but the argument can be reversed. Namely, the isogeny $\lambda: A \to {}^{\sigma}\!A$ and the uniformizations Θ and Θ' are related by

$$\lambda = \Theta' \circ \Theta^{-1},$$

where we view Θ as a K-linear isomorphism of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures $(K, h_{\Phi}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}), h_A)$ and similarly for Θ' . Moreover, the commutative diagrams (2.4.7.b) and (2.4.10.1) are related by (2.4.6).

2.5 PEL Shimura variety associated to (K, Φ)

We will now explain how the Main Theorem over the reflex field can be used to get a canonical model of a certain (PEL) Shimura variety associated to a CM pair (K, Φ) . This is an easy case of a general phenomenon, which will come up again in (3.2.8), and is included here as an illustrative example for the general case.

2.5.1 (Two Shimura data associated to (K, Φ)). Let K be a CM field and Φ a CM type of K. Let $h_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GL}_{\mathbb{Q}}(K)_{\mathbb{R}}$ be the associated \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure, see (2.3.3). We view $T_K = R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as an algebraic subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}_{\mathbb{Q}}(K)$: On \mathbb{Q} -points, we embed $T_K(\mathbb{Q}) = K^{\times}$ as the K-linear endomorphisms in $\operatorname{GL}_{\mathbb{Q}}(K)$. By construction, for every $z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ the map $h_{\Phi}(z)$ is K-linear on $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$, hence we may view h_{Φ} as a morphism $h_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{S} \to (T_K)_{\mathbb{R}}$ of algebraic tori over \mathbb{R} .

The pair $(T_K, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ satisfies the axioms [Del79, (2.1.1.1-3)] because T_K is a torus, hence $(T_K, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ is a Shimura datum. However, except when K/\mathbb{Q} is imaginary quadratic, it is not of PEL type. We modify T_K slightly in order to get a PEL Shimura datum:

Let F be the maximal totally real subfield of K. Define the Q-algebraic torus T by the Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} T & & & T_K \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow_N \\ \mathbb{G}_m & & & T_F, \end{array} \tag{2.5.1.1}$$

where the map N is the norm map, which on the level of \mathbb{Q} -points is given by the norm $N_{K/F}: K^{\times} \to F^{\times}$, and the embedding $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow T_F$ on the level of \mathbb{Q} -points is given by the inclusion $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \hookrightarrow F^{\times}$. In particular, this means that

$$T(\mathbb{Q}) = \{ x \in K^{\times} \mid N_{K/F}(x) \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \}.$$

We describe all these maps on the level of cocharacters in (6.2.2).

It is then not hard to see that the image of h_{Φ} is contained in the \mathbb{R} -torus $T_{\mathbb{R}}$. Then $(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ is a Shimura datum of PEL type: Fix a totally imaginary element $t \in K^{\times}$ such that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$. Then $(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ is the PEL Shimura datum (in the sense of [Del71, 4.9]) associated to the simple \mathbb{Q} -algebra K, with involution given by complex conjugation, acting on the \mathbb{Q} -vector space K, which we equip with the alternating, \mathbb{Q} -bilinear, K-compatible form E_t from (2.3.4). **2.5.2** (Shimura variety associated to $(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$). For a compact open subgroup $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we define the *Shimura variety of level* U to be the set

$$\operatorname{Sh}_U(T, \{h_{\Phi}\}) := T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [\{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)/U].$$

It is often more convenient to work with the projective limit over all such U, namely we call the limit

$$\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\}) := \varprojlim_{U} \operatorname{Sh}_{U}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$$

the Shimura variety associated to $(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$. It carries an action by $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ by multiplication on the right in the second factor. We mention the formula [Orr18, (1), p. 4] (which is a variant of [Del79, Prop. 2.1.10]):

$$\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\}) = T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left[\{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_f) / \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})} \right] = \{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_f) / \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})},$$

where $\overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}$ denotes the closure of $T(\mathbb{Q})$ inside $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ (in the idelic topology).

The Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ is a pro-algebraic variety over \mathbb{C} , i. e. the projective limit of the algebraic varieties $\operatorname{Sh}_U(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ over \mathbb{C} . However, every Shimura variety has a unique so-called *canonical model*, defined over its *reflex field*, a certain number field. The aim of the following discussion is to describe the canonical model for $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ in terms of abelian varieties with complex multiplication.

2.5.3 (Reflex field of $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$). Associated to the Hodge structure h_{Φ} we have the cocharacter $\mu_{h_{\Phi}}$ (see (2.2.5)). By definition, for $z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ it is given by

 $\mu_{h_{\Phi}}(z) =$ multiplication by $(z, \ldots, z, 1, \ldots, 1)$ on $\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{\overline{\Phi}} = K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C}$,

i.e. the cocharacter $\mu_{h_{\Phi}}$ agrees with the cocharacter μ_{Φ} of T_K defined in (2.1.8). The description of the cocharacters of T in (6.2.2.4) shows that μ_{Φ} can be viewed as a cocharacter of T, too. This also means that the reflex norm constructed in (2.1.8) can be viewed as a morphism $N_{\Phi}: T_E \to T$.

By Definition (6.1.11), the reflex field of the Shimura datum $(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ (or of $(T_K, \{h_{\Phi}\})$) is the field of definition of the cocharacter μ_{Φ} , and so is equal to the reflex field E of the CM pair (K, Φ) .

2.5.4 (Canonical model of $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$). The *canonical model* of a Shimura variety is defined to be a model over the reflex field, equipped with a (right) action of the adelic points of the underlying group, satisfying a certain *reciprocity law* on its *special points*. For a precise definition, see [Del71, 3.13] or [Mil17, 12.8].

In our case, the underlying algebraic group is the torus T, so all points are special points and the associated Shimura variety is zero-dimensional. Moreover, the reciprocity law is given by a morphism $T_E \to T$ (see [Mil17, (60)]) that agrees, by its definition, with the reflex norm $N_{\Phi}: T_E \to T$.

Spelling out the definition: The canonical model of $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ is a pro-variety M defined over E with a (right) action of $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, together with a $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -equivariant isomorphism $m \colon M \times_E \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ such that for every point $[h_{\Phi}, g] \in \operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$, where $g \in T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, the point $m^{-1}([h_{\Phi}, g]) \in M(\mathbb{C})$ is defined over E^{ab} , and for an arbitrary $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E)$ and an element $s \in \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times}$ such that $r_E(s) = \sigma|_{E^{\operatorname{ab}}}$, we have

$$\sigma[h_{\Phi}, g] = [h_{\Phi}, gN_{\Phi}(s)]. \tag{2.5.4.1}$$

Now, a zero-dimensional pro-variety defined over any field E is the same as a profinite set equipped with a continuous action of the absolute Galois group Γ_E of E. So here we can simply define the canonical model M by declaring it to be the profinite set $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$, which we equip with a Γ_E -action by defining $\sigma \in \Gamma_E$ to act by the formula (2.5.4.1).

2.5.5 Remark. As explained in (2.5.4), the construction of canonical models for tori is basically tautological. (2.5.4.1) simply defines the correct Γ_E -action. What is less tautological is its relationship with the Main Theorem over the reflex field, which we will explain in the remaining paragraphs of this section and which is the reason for defining canonical models in the way they are defined.

Canonical models are defined by the property that on special points the Galois action is equal to a certain class-field theoretic recipe (called a reciprocity map). This reciprocity map is modelled on the reflex norm. This means that, for PEL Shimura varieties, special points correspond to abelian varieties with complex multiplication, and so the Main Theorem over the reflex field implies, under a few technical assumptions, that the moduli variety representing the associated PEL moduli problem defines a canonical model of the Shimura variety.

We illustrate this procedure by looking at the example of the Shimura variety $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$. It is related to abelian varieties with complex multiplication of type (K, Φ) by Theorem (2.5.8) below, which can be found in [Del71, 4.11], specialised to the particular choice of PEL data in (2.5.1). For a proof and an explicit description of the bijection, one can use the same strategy as in the proof of (4.4.5).

For the remainder of this section, we fix, as in (2.5.1), a totally imaginary element $t \in K^{\times}$ such that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$. Temporarily, we write V = K and $\psi: V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$ for the bilinear form E_t defined in (2.3.4), and we write $V(\mathbb{A}_f)$ for $V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_f = \mathbb{A}_{K,f}$.

2.5.6 Theorem $((T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ and CM abelian varieties). The coset space

$$T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [\{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)]$$

is in bijection with the set of isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta)$, consisting of

- (A, i) a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) ,
- s a K-compatible polarisation of A, and
- $\eta: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ an isomorphism of $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}$ -modules sending $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} \psi$ to $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} s$,

satisfying the condition

(2.5.6.a) There exists a K-linear isomorphism $a: (H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}), h_A) \xrightarrow{\sim} (V, h_{\Phi})$ of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures that sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}\psi$.

Moreover, if we let $g \in T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ act on such a quadruple $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta)$ by sending it to $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \circ g)$, then this bijection is equivariant for the $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -actions.

2.5.7 Remarks. A few comments about the notation in the above theorem are necessary.

(2.5.7.a) We view $\mathbb{Q}^{\times s}$ as the set of all bilinear forms $\{qs \mid q \in \mathbb{Q}\}$ on $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ (and similarly for $\mathbb{Q}^{\times \psi}$). Note that not every element of the set $\mathbb{Q}^{\times s}$ is a polarisation, since for negative q the pairing $(v, w) \mapsto qs(v, h_A(i)w)$ is negative definite, so the last condition of (2.2.6) fails.

The condition on η sending $\mathbb{A}_{f}^{\times}\psi$ to $\mathbb{A}_{f}^{\times}s$ then translates to: There exists an element $q \in \mathbb{A}_{f}^{\times}$ such that $s(\eta(v), \eta(w)) = q\psi(v, w)$ for all $v, w \in V(\mathbb{A}_{f})$. Similarly for the last condition on a in (2.5.6.a).

- (2.5.7.b) An isomorphism of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta) \xrightarrow{\sim} (A', i', \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s', \eta')$ is a quasiisogeny $f: A \to A'$ such that
 - f sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times s}$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times s'}$,
 - f is K-compatible (with respect to i and i'), and
 - f sends η to η' , i.e. $f \circ \eta = \eta'$.

Note that the $T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -action on quadruples induces a well-defined action on the set of isomorphism classes of such quadruples.

Theorem (2.5.6) immediately implies the following interpretation of the points of the Shimura variety $\text{Sh}_U(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$, see [Del71, 4.11]:

2.5.8 Corollary (Complex points of $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$). For any compact open subgroup $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, the points of the Shimura variety

$$\operatorname{Sh}_U(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})(\mathbb{C}) = T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [\{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)/U]$$

are in bijection with isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta U)$ satisfying the conditions of Theorem (2.5.6), where ηU denotes a (right) U-coset of isomorphisms $V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ and isomorphisms between such quadruples are defined as in (2.5.7.b), with the last condition replaced by the analogous equality of (right) U-cosets $(f \circ \eta)U = \eta'U$.

Similarly, in the projective limit we get a bijection between

$$\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})(\mathbb{C}) = T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left[\{h_{\Phi}\} \times T(\mathbb{A}_{f}) / \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}\right]$$

and isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})})$.

We use this interpretation of the complex points of $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ in terms of CM abelian varieties to define another profinite set and equip it with the structure of a pro-variety over E:

2.5.9 (Moduli variety). Let M^+ be the set of isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})})$, consisting of

- (A, i) a CM abelian variety of type (K, Φ) defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$,
- s a K-compatible polarisation of A, also defined over² $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, and
- $\eta: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ an $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}$ -module-isomorphism sending $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} \psi$ to $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} s$,

satisfying the condition

(2.5.9.a) There exists a K-linear isomorphism $a: (H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}), h_A) \xrightarrow{\sim} (V, h_{\Phi})$ of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures that sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}\psi$.

Note that the only difference to the set in Corollary (2.5.8) is that (A, i, s) is defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, which enables us to conjugate (A, i, s) by an element of Γ_E . In fact, any (polarised) complex abelian variety with CM is isomorphic to a (polarised) CM abelian variety defined over some number field, see [ST61, Prop. 26, p. 109], so indeed M^+ is equal to the set in (2.5.8).

We endow M^+ with the profinite topology as M^+ is equal to the projective limit, over all compact open subgroups $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, of sets M_U^+ defined in the same way

²This means that the line bundle associated to s is defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, see (2.2.2).

with (right) U-cosets of η instead of $\overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}$ -cosets. We let $\sigma \in \Gamma_E$ act on an element $[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}]$ of M^+ by

$$\sigma[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}] := [{}^{\sigma}\!A, {}^{\sigma}\!i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}({}^{\sigma}\!s), (\sigma \circ \eta) \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}],$$

where ${}^{\sigma}\!A$ denotes the conjugate abelian variety, ${}^{\sigma}\!i$ and ${}^{\sigma}\!s$ are defined as in (2.4.8), and the action on the level structure η is given by composition with the induced map on Tate modules $\sigma: \widehat{V}(A) \to \widehat{V}({}^{\sigma}\!A)$.

It is not hard to check that this gives a well-defined continuous action of Γ_E on the set M^+ , hence gives M^+ the structure of a zero-dimensional pro-variety over E. We call M^+ the moduli variety (associated to T, h_{Φ} and ψ).

Combining this with the Main Theorem of Complex Multiplication over the reflex field, in the version (2.4.10), yields the following theorem, see [Del71, 4.19 & 4.20]:

2.5.10 Theorem. The moduli variety M^+ defines a canonical model of the Shimura variety $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$.

Proof. First of all, Corollary (2.5.8) shows that M^+ indeed defines a model of $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ over the reflex field E.

Secondly, let $[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}]$ be a point of M^+ , and let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E)$ and $u \in \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times}$ such that $r_E(u) = \gamma|_{E^{\operatorname{ab}}}$. Let $\lambda \colon A \to \gamma A$ be the quasi-isogeny in the statement of the Main Theorem over the reflex field (2.4.10). Then

$$\gamma \circ \eta = \lambda \circ N_{\Phi}(u) \circ \eta = \lambda \circ \eta \circ N_{\Phi}(u),$$

where the first equality is the commutative diagram (2.4.10.1), and the second equality holds because η is $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}$ -linear. Together with the statement about the polarisation in (2.4.10), we see that λ defines an isomorphism of quadruples

$$(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} s, \eta \circ N_{\Phi}(u)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\gamma A, \gamma i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}(\gamma s), \gamma \circ \eta).$$

We conclude that

$$\gamma[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}] = [A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, (\eta \circ N_{\Phi}(u))\overline{T(\mathbb{Q})}]$$

which by (2.5.4.1) precisely says that M^+ is a canonical model for $Sh(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$. \Box

Galois conjugates of CM abelian varieties

Let (K, Φ) be a CM pair. In this chapter we generalise the Main Theorem of CM over the reflex field to the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} . The former gives only information about conjugates of CM abelian varieties by Galois elements fixing the reflex field E of (K, Φ) , whereas the latter allows arbitrary Galois elements. The key idea is to replace the reflex norm $N_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times} \to \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ by the Taniyama element $f_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$.

Section 3.1 starts by defining Tate's half transfer

 $F_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$

associated to a CM pair (K, Φ) . For $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, the Taniyama element $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ is then a suitably normalised class-field-theoretic preimage of $F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$. Using class field theory, we can think of the Taniyama element as extending the reflex norm. We then state the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} in two version: Theorem (3.1.3) describes Galois conjugates of torsion points of CM abelian varieties, and Theorem (3.1.5) describes the same effect on the level of Tate modules.

Fix a totally real number field F. In Section 3.2 we introduce the PEL Hilbert modular variety Sh(G, X) associated to F. In (3.2.6) we interpret the points of Sh(G, X) as isomorphism classes of abelian varieties with real multiplication by Fequipped with polarisation and level structure, and describe the canonical model of Sh(G, X) over \mathbb{Q} . Finally, in (3.2.9) we apply the Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} to get an explicit formula describing the Galois action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on the CM points of Sh(G, X) in terms of the Taniyama element. This formula is extremely useful when generalising this action to an action of the plectic Galois group in Chapter 4.

The results of Section 3.1 can be found in [Mil07, §4], which is based on the observations in [Tat16], see also [Lan83, Ch. 7]. In Section 3.2 we apply the general

theory of Shimura varieties, see [Mil17] and [Del71], to the specific example of the PEL Hilbert modular variety.

3.1 Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q}

3.1.1 (Tate's half transfer). Let $K \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ be a CM field and Φ be a CM type of K. Identify $\Sigma_K = \operatorname{Hom}(K, \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ with $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_K$. For each $\rho \in \Sigma_K$, choose a representative $w_{\rho} \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ of the corresponding coset in $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_K$ in such a way that for all $\rho \in \Sigma_K$ we have

$$w_{c\rho} = c w_{\rho},$$

where $c \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ denotes complex conjugation.

The choice of w_{ρ} gives a partition $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} = \bigsqcup_{\rho \in \Sigma_K} w_{\rho} \Gamma_K$, so for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, we have $\gamma w_{\rho} = w_{\gamma\rho} h$ for some $h \in \Gamma_K$. In other words, $w_{\gamma\rho}^{-1} \gamma w_{\rho} \in \Gamma_K$, so we may define *Tate's half transfer* by

$$F_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \longrightarrow \Gamma_{K}^{\mathrm{ab}}$$
$$\gamma \longmapsto \prod_{\varphi \in \Phi} \left(w_{\gamma\varphi}^{-1} \gamma w_{\varphi} \right) \big|_{K^{\mathrm{ab}}}.$$

These maps have the following properties, which can be checked easily:

- (3.1.1.a) [Mil07, Lem. 4.4] $F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ is independent of the choice of the set-theoretic section $w: \Sigma_K \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, \rho \mapsto w_{\rho}$ to $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \twoheadrightarrow \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_K = \Sigma_K$.
- (3.1.1.b) [Mil07, Lem. 4.5] $F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ is independent of the choice of embedding of K into $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$.
- (3.1.1.c) From the definition of the transfer map $V_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \colon \Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{ab}_{K}$ in (2.4.4) one immediately sees that

$$F_{\Phi}(\gamma) \cdot F_{c\Phi}(\gamma) = \prod_{\varphi \in \Sigma_K} \left(w_{\gamma\varphi}^{-1} \gamma w_{\varphi} \right) \Big|_{K^{\mathrm{ab}}} = V_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma).$$

That is why F_{Φ} is called a "half-transfer".

(3.1.1.d) [Nek09, (1.4.1.3)] For $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ we have the "cocycle relation"

$$F_{\Phi}(\gamma\gamma') = F_{\gamma'\Phi}(\gamma)F_{\Phi}(\gamma').$$

We are aiming for a description of the effect of conjugation by $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on the torsion points of a CM abelian variety. Under a uniformization, the torsion points will be given by K/\mathfrak{a} as in (2.3.7), and the effect of γ on torsion points will again

be expressed by multiplication by a certain idele $f \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$. This idele is (a lift of) the Taniyama element — a particular preimage, under the Artin map, of Tate's half transfer. Here we follow the ideas of [Tat16, Prop.-Def.].

3.1.2 (Taniyama element). Let (K, Φ) be as in (3.1.1), and let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Look at the following commutative diagram with exact rows

Here, 1 + c denotes the map that multiplies an element with its conjugate under c. Moreover, c acts by conjugation on Γ_K^{ab} . By [Tat16, Lemma 1], ker (r_K) is uniquely divisible and complex conjugation c acts trivially on it, so the left vertical arrow is an isomorphism. By an easy diagram chase, this means the right hand square is a pullback square.

Using the action of c by conjugation on Γ_K^{ab} , choosing the coset representatives $w'_{\varphi} := w_{c\varphi}c$ to calculate $F_{c\Phi}(\gamma)$ (see 3.1.1.a), then using (3.1.1.c) and finally class field theory (2.4.3) and (2.4.2), we see that

$${}^{1+c}F_{\Phi}(\gamma) = F_{\Phi}(\gamma)(cF_{\Phi}(\gamma)c^{-1}) = F_{\Phi}(\gamma)F_{c\Phi}(\gamma) = V_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma) = r_K(\chi_{cyc}(\gamma))$$

Since the right square in (3.1.2.1) is Cartesian, there exists a unique $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ such that

(3.1.2.a) $r_K(f_{\Phi}(\gamma)) = F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$, and

(3.1.2.b) ${}^{1+c}f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)K^{\times}.$

The map $f_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ is called the *Taniyama element* attached to (K, Φ) . The cocycle relation for Tate's half transfer translates to

$$f_{\Phi}(\gamma\gamma') = f_{\gamma'\Phi}(\gamma)f_{\Phi}(\gamma'), \quad \gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

The relation between the Taniyama element and the reflex norm is given by [Mil07, Prop. 4.9]: If $\gamma \in \Gamma_E$, where E is the reflex field of (K, Φ) , then for any $u \in \mathbb{A}_{E,f}^{\times}/E^{\times}$ such that $r_E(u) = \gamma|_{E^{ab}}$ we have

$$f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = N_{\Phi}(u)K^{\times}.$$

We are now ready to state the Main Theorem. Again, we will present two versions of it, one in terms of torsion points and one in terms of Tate modules. For a proof: [Tat16] proves the theorem up to a sequence of signs, and the proof was completed as a consequence of [Del82], see [Del82, Rem. 4, p. 263]. The details can be found in [Mil07, §4].

3.1.3 Theorem (Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} — I). Let (A, i, s) be a triple consisting of a CM abelian variety (A, i) of type (K, Φ) and a compatible polarisation s. Assume (A, i, s) has type $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ relative to a uniformization Θ . Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and take $f \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = fK^{\times}$. Then:

(3.1.3.a) The triple $(\gamma A, \gamma i, \gamma s)$ has type

$$\left(K, \gamma \Phi; f\mathfrak{a}, t \frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}}\right)$$

relative to some uniformization Θ' .

(3.1.3.b) Moreover, one can choose Θ' uniquely such that the following diagram is commutative:



3.1.4 Remark. By condition (3.1.2.b) we have $\frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}} \in K^{\times}$, and this element is fixed by complex conjugation, hence even lies in F^{\times} . Hence the quadruple $\left(K, \gamma \Phi; f\mathfrak{a}, t \frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}}\right)$ in (3.1.3.a) makes sense.

Now, part of the assertion of (3.1.3.a) is that

$$\operatorname{Im} \varphi \left(t \frac{\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}} \right) > 0, \quad \text{for all } \varphi \in \gamma \Phi, \tag{3.1.4.1}$$

so that the quadruple satisfies the last condition in (2.3.5). We will prove (3.1.4.1) directly and in more generality in (4.2.9).

In terms of Tate modules, this translates to:

3.1.5 Theorem (Main Theorem of CM over \mathbb{Q} — II). Let (A, i, s) be a triple consisting of a CM abelian variety (A, i) of type (K, Φ) and a compatible polarisation s. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and take $f \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = fK^{\times}$. Then:

- (3.1.5.a) $(\gamma A, \gamma i)$ is of type $(K, \gamma \Phi)$.
- (3.1.5.b) There exists a unique K-linear isomorphism¹ $\delta \colon H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H_1(\gamma A, \mathbb{Q})$ such that

$$s\left(\frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}}x, y\right) = (\gamma s) (\delta x, \delta y), \quad x, y \in H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}),$$

¹Note that if $\gamma \Phi \neq \Phi$, then δ cannot be an isomorphism of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures. So in general δ is only an isomorphism of K-vector spaces.

and the following diagram commutes:



Sketch of proof that Theorems (3.1.3) and (3.1.5) are equivalent. This is similar to the equivalence of (2.4.7) and (2.4.10). Namely, we again view a uniformization Θ as a K-linear isomorphism of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures $(K, h_{\Phi}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}), h_A)$. Then the map δ of (3.1.5.b) is related to the uniformizations in (3.1.3) by

$$\delta = \Theta' \circ \Theta^{-1}.$$

Moreover, the commutative diagrams in (3.1.3.b) and (3.1.5.b) are related by (2.4.6).

3.2 PEL Hilbert modular variety and Galois action on its CM points

In (2.5.8), we saw that the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ parametrises CM abelian varieties of a fixed type (K, Φ) . Moreover, in (2.5.10) we then used the Main Theorem over the reflex field E of (K, Φ) to describe the Γ_E -action on $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$ in terms of the reflex norm. It was essential to only look at Galois elements fixing E, because otherwise, by (2.3.8), the conjugate abelian variety induces a CM type on K that is different from Φ , and therefore does not define a point of $\operatorname{Sh}(T, \{h_{\Phi}\})$.

From now on, fix a totally real number field F. In this section, we introduce the Hilbert modular variety and the PEL Hilbert modular variety. The latter parametrises abelian varieties with real multiplication by a totally real field Fequipped with polarisation and level structure. For any totally imaginary quadratic extension K of F, the PEL Hilbert modular variety contains the points corresponding to abelian varieties with CM by K — of any CM type — as special points. It is the goal of this section to understand the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on these special points using the Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q} .

We denote the two-dimensional F-vector space F^2 by V.

3.2.1 (Hilbert modular variety). Let G_1 be the Q-algebraic group given by $G_1 :=$

 $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_F(V)$. Define $h_0 \colon \mathbb{S} \to (G_1)_{\mathbb{R}}$ by

$$h_0(i) := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in G_1(\mathbb{R}) = \mathrm{GL}_{F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}}((F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})^2),$$

and let X_1 be the $G_1(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of h_0 . To describe X_1 more explicitly, we identify $V(\mathbb{R}) = (F^2) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$ with $\prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \mathbb{R}^2$, using $F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R} = \prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \mathbb{R}$, where $\Sigma_F = \operatorname{Hom}(F, \mathbb{C})$. Since the totally real field F will always be fixed, we will very often drop the F from notation and simply write Σ for Σ_F .

Under this identification, we get $G_1(\mathbb{R}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, so we write elements $g \in G_1(\mathbb{R})$ as $g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma_F}$ with $g_x \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. For example, the element $h_0(i)$ corresponds to

$$h_0(i) = \left(\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G_1(\mathbb{R}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R}).$$
(3.2.1.1)

If we let $\prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ act on $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma_F}$ by componentwise Möbius transformations, then we may identify X_1 with $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma_F}$ by

$$X_1 \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma_F}$$

$$gh_0 g^{-1} \longmapsto (g_x \cdot i)_{x \in \Sigma_F}, \quad g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G_1(\mathbb{R}),$$

$$(3.2.1.2)$$

compare [vdG88, Ch. I.7]. The pair (G_1, X_1) is a Shimura datum, i.e. it satisfies the axioms [Del79, (2.1.1.1-3)]. The associated Shimura variety $Sh(G_1, X_1)$ is called the *Hilbert modular variety* (associated to F).

In order to get a PEL Shimura datum, we equip V with the \mathbb{Q} -bilinear alternating form $\psi \colon V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$ given by

$$\psi\left(\begin{pmatrix}v_1\\v_2\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}w_1\\w_2\end{pmatrix}
ight) = \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\circ\det\begin{pmatrix}v_1&w_1\\v_2&w_2\end{pmatrix}.$$

The form ψ is *F*-compatible, i.e. $\psi(fv, w) = \psi(v, fw)$ for all $v, w \in V$ and $f \in F$.

3.2.2 (PEL Hilbert modular variety). Associated to the PEL datum (of type (C)) consisting of the simple Q-algebra F, with trivial involution, acting on the Q-vector space V equipped with the alternating, Q-bilinear, F-compatible form ψ , we get a PEL Shimura datum (G, X) as in [Mil17, Def. 8.15], [Del71, 4.9]. We call the associated Shimura variety Sh(G, X) the PEL Hilbert modular variety.

We can describe the group $G \subset G_1$ explicitly as having \mathbb{Q} -points

$$G(\mathbb{Q}) = \{ g \in \mathrm{GL}_2(F) \mid \det(g) \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \}.$$

The proof of this is an easy calculation and is done, in slightly more generality, in (4.4.4). In other words, the diagram

is Cartesian. This is precisely diagram (1.2.0.1). On \mathbb{Q} -points, the bottom arrow is given by the inclusion $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \hookrightarrow F^{\times}$ and the right hand arrow is given by the usual determinant det: $\operatorname{GL}_2(F) \to F^{\times}$. Note the similarity to (2.5.1.1).

On real points, this means

$$G(\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G_1(\mathbb{R}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma_F} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \ \middle| \ \det(g_x) = \det(g_{x'}) \ \forall x, x' \in \Sigma \right\}.$$

We can also describe X more explicitly: Let $h_0: \mathbb{S} \to (G_1)_{\mathbb{R}}$ be as in (3.2.1). First of all, by (3.2.1.1) h_0 lands in $G_{\mathbb{R}} \subset (G_1)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Moreover, the form $(v, w) \mapsto \psi(v, h_0(i)w)$ is positive definite on $V(\mathbb{R})$, hence h_0 lies in X. This means that X is the $G(\mathbb{R})$ conjugacy class of h_0 , and it is easy to see that the bijection (3.2.1.2) restricts to

$$X \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma_F} \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^{\Sigma_F}$$

$$gh_0 g^{-1} \longmapsto (g_x \cdot i)_{x \in \Sigma_F}, \quad g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G(\mathbb{R}),$$

$$(3.2.2.2)$$

where \mathfrak{h} denotes the upper half plane in \mathbb{C} . For a proof in a slightly more general setting, we refer to (5.1.7).

3.2.3 (Reflex field of Sh(G, X)). In (6.1.11) we define the reflex field E(G, X) of a Shimura datum (G, X). By [Mil17, 12.4(c)], in the case of a PEL Shimura datum the reflex field E(G, X) is given by $\mathbb{Q}(\operatorname{Tr}_X(b) \mid b \in F^{\times})$, where $\operatorname{Tr}_X(b)$ denotes the trace of $b \in F^{\times}$ acting on $V^{-1,0}$, where $V = V^{-1,0} \oplus V^{0,-1}$ is the Hodge decomposition associated to h (compare (2.2.4)).

In the case of the Shimura datum (G, X) from (3.2.2), we can take $h = h_0$, and then a direct calculation shows that $\operatorname{Tr}_X(b) = \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(b)$ for all $b \in F^{\times}$. Hence $E(G, X) = \mathbb{Q}$. Moreover, Definition (6.1.11) only depends on the adjoint group of G. By (6.2.9), the adjoint group of G and G_1 are the same, so $E(G_1, X_1) = \mathbb{Q}$ too.

Similar to (2.5.8), the complex points of Sh(G, X) can be interpreted as isomorphism classes of abelian varieties. The following theorem is a special case of [Mil17, Thm 8.17]. We prove a slightly different, but more general version in (4.4.5).

3.2.4 Theorem ((G, X) and abelian varieties with real multiplication). The coset

space

$$G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)]$$

is in bijection with the set of isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta)$, where

- A is a complex abelian variety,
- $i: F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ is a ring homomorphism,
- s is an F-compatible polarisation of A, and
- $\eta: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ is an $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}$ -module-isomorphism sending $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} \psi$ to $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} s$,

satisfying the condition

(3.2.4.a) There exists an F-linear isomorphism $a: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ that sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}\psi$ and satisfies $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X$.

Moreover, this bijection is equivariant for the right $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -actions.

3.2.5 Remarks. To clarify the notation, let us make a few comments.

- (3.2.5.a) If $i: F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ for an abelian variety A of dimension $[F:\mathbb{Q}]$ as in the theorem, then we say that (A, i) has real multiplication by F.
- (3.2.5.b) A polarisation s of an abelian variety (A, i) with real multiplication by F is called F-compatible if s(i(f)v, w) = s(v, i(f)w) for all $f \in F$ and $v, w \in$ $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}).$
- (3.2.5.c) In (3.2.4.a) $h_A \colon \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{End}(H_1(A, \mathbb{R}))$ denotes the Hodge structure on $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ and $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \colon \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GL}(V)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is given (on \mathbb{R} -points) by $z \mapsto a \circ h_A(z) \circ a^{-1}$.
- (3.2.5.d) We call $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta)$ and $(A', i', \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s', \eta')$ isomorphic if there exists a quasiisogeny $f: A \to A'$ that is *F*-linear (with respect to *i* and *i'*), sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s'$ and satisfies $\eta' = f \circ \eta$.
- (3.2.5.e) By [Mil17, 8.19], condition (3.2.4.a) is equivalent to s being F-compatible and i satisfying the trace condition
 - For any b ∈ F[×], the trace of i(b), acting on the tangent space of A at the origin, is equal to Tr_X(b) = Tr_{F/Q}(b).

By a calculation very similar to the one in (2.3.2), we see that this trace condition is automatically satisfied. It is nonetheless useful to mention condition (3.2.4.a) because the existence of an isomorphism *a* (although automatic) is the key for the proof of Theorem (3.2.4). As in (2.5.8), Theorem (3.2.4) implies the following interpretation of the points of the Shimura variety Sh(G, X), see [Del71, 4.11]:

3.2.6 Corollary (Complex points of Sh(G, X)). The complex points

$$\operatorname{Sh}(G,X)(\mathbb{C}) := \varprojlim_{U} G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/U] = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left[X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right] (3.2.6.1)$$

of the Shimura variety Sh(G, X) are in bijection with isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$, where

- A is a complex abelian variety,
- $i: F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ is a ring homomorphism,
- s is an F-compatible polarization of A, and
- $\eta: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ is an $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}$ -module-isomorphism sending $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} \psi$ to $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times} s$,

satisfying the condition

(3.2.6.a) There exists an F-linear isomorphism $a: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ that sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}s$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times}\psi$ and satisfies $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X$.

Here $Z \subset G$ denotes the centre of G, and $\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$ denotes the closure of $Z(\mathbb{Q})$ inside $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ (in the adelic topology). Moreover, the second equality in (3.2.6.1) is [Orr18, (1), p. 4].

3.2.7 (Special points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$). By definition, a *special point* of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ is a point $[h, g] \in \operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ such that the Mumford-Tate group of h is a torus, where we view $h: \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ as a \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure on V via $G \subset \operatorname{GL}_F(V) \subset \operatorname{GL}_{\mathbb{Q}}(V)$.

By [Mil17, 14.11]², if the point [h, g] corresponds to a quadruple $[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} s, \eta \overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q})]$ under the bijection in (3.2.6), then [h, g] is special if and only if A has CM by a CM algebra (compare (2.3.1.c)). In this case, since h takes values in $G_{\mathbb{R}}$, it is in particular F-linear, so the CM structure on A must extend the real multiplication i by F. Hence A has CM by a CM field K that is a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F. We will often abuse notation and denote the associated embedding $K \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ also by i.

3.2.8 (Canonical model of Sh(G, X)). In order to get a canonical model for the Shimura variety Sh(G, X), one follows the strategy outlined in [Mil17, p. 126], mimicking the Siegel case presented in [Mil17, §14]. Namely, the canonical model is the

²[Mil17, 14.11] is actually the analogous statement for points of the Siegel variety. But the condition on h being special (resp. A having CM) only depends on the Mumford-Tate group of h (resp. A), hence the same argument works.

(pro-)variety M^+ over \mathbb{Q} representing the moduli functor, modelled on Corollary (3.2.6), of abelian varieties with real multiplication by F equipped with polarisation and level structure. See also [Del71, 4.15, 5.8] or [Kot92, §8].

Corollary (3.2.6) tells us that M^+ is a model for the Shimura variety Sh(G, X). By (3.2.7), its special points correspond to CM abelian varieties. To show that this defines a canonical model is then similar to the calculation in (2.5.10) and relies only on the Main Theorem over the reflex field.

3.2.9 (Galois action on special points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$). Let $\mathcal{P} = [A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ be a special point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ as in (3.2.7). Then A has CM, so in particular can be defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

By (3.2.8), the γ -conjugate of the given point corresponds to the quadruple

$$\gamma[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}] = [{}^{\gamma}\!A, {}^{\gamma}\!i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}({}^{\gamma}\!s), (\gamma \circ \eta) \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$$

The abelian variety (A, i) has CM, say of type (K, Φ) for some totally imaginary quadratic extension K of F. Note that by Lemma (2.3.6) the polarisation s is automatically K-compatible. We observe that the point $\gamma \mathcal{P}$ for arbitrary $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is a special point too, because $(\gamma A, \gamma i)$ is a CM abelian variety (of type $(K, \gamma \Phi)$). Moreover, we can describe it using the Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q} : Take $f \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = fK^{\times}$. Using the notation in (3.1.5), we can write

$$[{}^{\gamma}\!A, {}^{\gamma}\!i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}({}^{\gamma}\!s), \gamma \circ \eta] = \left[{}^{\gamma}\!A, {}^{\gamma}\!i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}s\left(\frac{\chi_{\rm cyc}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}}\delta^{-1}(\cdot), \delta^{-1}(\cdot)\right), \delta \circ f \circ \eta\right].$$

We can give a similar description in terms of uniformizations: Using the notation of Theorem (3.1.3), we have

$$[A, i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} s, \eta] = [\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{t}, \Theta^{-1} \circ \eta], \qquad (3.2.9.1)$$

where $i_{\Phi} \colon K \to \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}))$ is given by sending $k \in K$ to the map on $\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$ given by multiplication by $(\varphi(k))_{\varphi \in \Phi}$. For the conjugate quadruple, we get

$$\begin{split} [{}^{\gamma}\!A, {}^{\gamma}\!i, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}({}^{\gamma}\!s), \gamma \circ \eta] &= [\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi}/\gamma \Phi(f\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{\chi t}, (\Theta')^{-1} \circ \gamma \circ \eta] \\ &= [\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi}/\gamma \Phi(f\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{\chi t}, f \circ \Theta^{-1} \circ \eta], \end{split}$$
(3.2.9.2)

where $\chi = \frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}} \in F^{\times}$. Here the first equality follows from (3.1.3.a) and the second equality follows from (3.1.3.b).

3.2.10 Remark (Galois conjugates of special points). It is actually true in full generality that conjugates of special points of an arbitrary Shimura variety by Galois elements that fix its reflex field are again special points, see [Orr18, Thm 5.1].

But here we additionally need the Main Theorem over \mathbb{Q} to get the explicit description in (3.2.9) of the conjugate special point on the PEL Hilbert modular variety in terms of CM abelian varieties.

4

Plectic Galois action on CM points

Fix a totally real number field F. In this chapter, we introduce the plectic Galois group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ associated to F. For every algebraic torus R defined over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, we then show that a certain subgroup $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{CM}^R$ of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ acts naturally on the CM points of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. Here the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ is a variant of the Hilbert modular variety. It is associated to the group G^R that fits into the Cartesian diagram (1.2.0.3)

$$\begin{array}{ccc} G^R & & \longrightarrow & R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2 \\ & & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ R & & & & R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m. \end{array}$$

The key idea to define this action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ on the CM points is to extend Tate's half transfer $F_{\Phi} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{\operatorname{ab}}_K$ to a plectic half transfer

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi} \colon \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \longrightarrow \Gamma_K^{\operatorname{ab}}.$$

The goal of Section 4.1 is to familiarise the reader with the properties of the plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. The absolute Galois group of \mathbb{Q} embeds into the plectic group via

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \quad \gamma \mapsto \operatorname{id} \otimes \gamma.$$

This definition does not involve any choices. However, it is useful to identify $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ with the semi-direct product $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ mentioned in Section 1.1.2, where $\Sigma := \operatorname{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) = \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_F$. Namely, a choice of coset representatives $s = (s_x)_{x \in \Sigma}$ for the right Γ_F -cosets in $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ defines an isomorphism β_s : $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$. We finish Section 4.1 by recalling in (4.1.11) the definition of the plectic half transfer \widetilde{F}_{Φ} , where (K, Φ) denotes a CM pair.

Section 4.2 starts with some remarks about class field theory before defining, for

an element γ of a certain subgroup $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, the plectic Taniyama element $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ as a suitably normalised class-field-theoretic preimage of $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$. Inspired by formula (3.2.9) for the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action, we then show in (4.2.10) how the subgroup $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ naturally acts on the set of CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety.

Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are a review of the results in [Nek09], most of which are presented without proof. We present them in enough detail to generalise the results to Shimura varieties whose groups differ only in the centre from $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂, i.e. are of the form G^R as above.

In Section 4.3 we extend the plectic Taniyama element \widetilde{f}_{Φ} to the entire plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. To do so, we choose a splitting $\chi_F \colon \Gamma_F^{\operatorname{ab}} \to \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$ to the reciprocity map $r_F \colon \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \to \Gamma_F^{\operatorname{ab}}$, and then proceed in analogy to Tate's strategy (3.1.2), see (4.3.6).

In Section 4.4 we study the Shimura varieties $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. In (4.4.5) we prove a moduli interpretation of the points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ in terms of isomorphism classes of abelian varieties with real multiplication by F equipped with an $R(\mathbb{Q})$ -class of a polarisation and a level structure. We define the subgroup $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\mathrm{CM}}$ of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ in (4.4.11). Finally, we show in (4.4.13) that the group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\mathrm{CM}}$ of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\mathrm{CM}}$ acts naturally on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

4.1 Plectic Galois group and plectic half transfer

4.1.1. (Plectic Galois group) The (F-)plectic Galois group is the group

 $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$

of *F*-algebra automorphisms of $F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. The absolute Galois group of \mathbb{Q} embeds into the plectic Galois group via

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \quad \gamma \mapsto \operatorname{id}_F \otimes_{\gamma} \gamma$$

It is useful to view $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ more concretely as a certain semi-direct product:

4.1.2. (Semi-direct product) Fix an embedding $F \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ and identify $\Sigma := \Sigma_F = \text{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ with the quotient $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_F$. Let S_{Σ} be the symmetric group on the finite set Σ . Let Γ_F^{Σ} denote the group of Σ -tuples $h = (h_x)_{x \in \Sigma}$ of elements of Γ_F , with the group structure given by pointwise composition.

We introduce the semi-direct product

$$S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma},$$

where the group operation is given by

$$(\sigma, h)(\sigma', h') := \left(\sigma\sigma', (h_{\sigma'(x)}h'_x)_{x \in \Sigma}\right).$$

Let $s: x \mapsto s_x$ be a section to the map $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \twoheadrightarrow \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}/\Gamma_F = \Sigma$. Then we can define an injective group homomorphism

$$\rho_s \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}, \quad \rho_s(\gamma) = (\sigma, h),$$

where σ is given by $\sigma: x \mapsto \gamma x$ and $h = (h_x)_{x \in \Sigma}$ by $h_x = s_{\gamma x}^{-1} \gamma s_x$. For more details, e.g. on how ρ_s depends on the chosen section s, see [Nek09, (1.1.2)].

4.1.3. (Isomorphism between $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ and $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$) We continue (4.1.2). Let $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Sigma}$ denote the ring of Σ -tuples of elements of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. We view $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Sigma}$ as an *F*-algebra via the fixed embedding $F \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ in each component. By [Nek09, (1.1.3)] the canonical map

$$S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Aut}_{F} \left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Sigma} \right),$$
$$(\sigma, h) \longmapsto \left[(q_{x})_{x \in \Sigma} \mapsto \left(h_{\sigma^{-1}(x)}(q_{\sigma^{-1}(x)}) \right)_{x \in \Sigma} \right],$$

is a group isomorphism. We will simply identify these two groups.

The section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ induces an isomorphism of *F*-algebras

$$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Sigma} \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_x = F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}},$$
$$(q_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \longmapsto (s_x(q_x))_{x \in \Sigma},$$

where we view $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_x$ as an *F*-algebra via the embedding $x \in \Sigma = \text{Hom}(F, \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Combining these two observations (see [Nek09, (1.1.4)]), we get an isomorphism

$$\beta_s \colon \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Aut}_F(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Sigma}) = S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$$

between the plectic Galois group (4.1.1) and the semi-direct product (4.1.2). Moreover, the isomorphism β_s is compatible with the embeddings of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, i.e. we have the commutative diagram



4.1.4 Remark. (Plectic groups and induced representations) The semi-direct product $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ is a purely group-theoretical construction. Replacing $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ by an arbitrary group Γ and the subgroup Γ_F of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ by a finite index subgroup Δ of Γ , and denoting $\Sigma := \Gamma/\Delta$, we can define the group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$ in the same way.

Similarly, a section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma$ will induce an embedding $\rho_s: \Gamma \hookrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$. Now (compare [NS16, §3] and [Nek09, (1.1.1.1)]), if V is a representation of Δ , then the induced representation is the vector space

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\Delta}^{\Gamma}(V) = \bigoplus_{x \in \Sigma} s_x . V, \qquad (4.1.4.1)$$

where the right hand side consists of formal sums (or Σ -tuples) of elements of V, and the s_x are only introduced for notational purposes to denote the summand corresponding to x. It comes equipped with a Γ -action given as follows: If $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $\sum_{x \in \Sigma} s_x \cdot v_x \in \operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_Q}(V)$, and $\rho_s(\gamma) = (\sigma, h)$, then

$$\gamma\left(\sum_{x\in\Sigma}s_x.v_x\right) := \sum_{x\in\Sigma}s_{\sigma(x)}.h_x(v_x). \tag{4.1.4.2}$$

This formula clearly makes sense for arbitrary $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$, and it is straightforward to check that this defines a representation of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$. Similar remarks apply for the tensor induction of V and other related constructions, see e.g. (4.1.6) below.

Induced representations are one instance where plectic groups arise naturally. Of course, the action of Γ on the induced module is canonical, i.e. given a different section s' there is a canonical isomorphism of Γ -representations between $\bigoplus_{x \in \Sigma} s_x V$ and $\bigoplus_{x \in \Sigma} s'_x V$. In other words, there is a description of $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Delta}^{\Gamma}(V)$ that is independent of s, so it is desirable to also find a description of $\rho_s \colon \Gamma \hookrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$ that is independent of s.

4.1.5 (Another version of the plectic group). For general groups Γ and Δ , look at the group (see [NS16, §3] and [Bla15, (3.2.1)])

$$\Gamma \# \Delta := \operatorname{Aut}_{\operatorname{Set} - \Delta}(\Gamma)$$

of right Δ -equivariant bijections of the set Γ with itself.

The group Γ embeds into $\Gamma \# \Delta$ as the subgroup of left translations, i.e. $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is sent to the bijection $g \mapsto \gamma g$, which clearly is right Δ -equivariant. Now [Bla15, (3.2.2)], a section $s \colon \Sigma \to \Gamma$ induces a group isomorphism

$$\pi_s \colon \Gamma \# \Delta \xrightarrow{\sim} S_\Sigma \ltimes \Delta^\Sigma \tag{4.1.5.1}$$

that is compatible with the respective embeddings of Γ , i. e. we have the commutative

diagram



Moreover, $\Gamma \# \Delta$ acts canonically on the intrinsically defined induction $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Delta}^{\Gamma}(V)$, and the isomorphim (4.1.4.1) is compatible with the actions of $\Gamma \# \Delta$ and $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Delta^{\Sigma}$ under π_s .

4.1.6 Example. (Plectic action on CM types — I) As a concrete example of (4.1.4), let K be a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F, and choose an embedding $K \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. We continue to use the notation of (4.1.2). The section $s: \Sigma = \Sigma_F \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ determines a CM type $\{\varphi_x \mid x \in \Sigma\}$ of K by $\varphi_x := s_x|_K$. It allows us to write

$$\Sigma_K = \{ c^b \varphi_x \mid x \in \Sigma_F, b \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \}.$$
(4.1.6.1)

We claim that the set Σ_K with its usual $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action is isomorphic to the induced module (in the category of sets with $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action rather than the category of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ representations over some field)

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\{1,c\}) = \bigsqcup_{x \in \Sigma} s_x.\{1,c\}$$

by sending $c^b \varphi_x = c^b s_x|_K = (s_x c^b)|_K \in \Sigma_K$ to $s_x c^b \in \operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_Q}(\{1, c\})$. Here $\{1, c\}$ is a two-element set equipped with the (left) Γ_F -action given by the map $\Gamma_F \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K/F) = \langle c \rangle = \{1, c\}$, which we will denote by $h \mapsto c^{\overline{h}}$ with $\overline{h} \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

Proof of claim. The map $c^b \varphi_x \mapsto s_x \cdot c^b$ is clearly a bijection $\Sigma_K \to \operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\{1,c\})$, and for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $\rho_s(\gamma) = (\sigma, h)$ we have

$$\gamma(c^{b}\varphi_{x}) = \left[\gamma s_{x}c^{b}\right]\Big|_{K} = s_{\gamma x}(s_{\gamma x}^{-1}\gamma s_{x})c^{b}\Big|_{K} = s_{\sigma(x)}h_{x}c^{b}\Big|_{K} = s_{\sigma(x)}c^{b+\overline{h}_{x}}\Big|_{K}$$

 \mathbf{so}

$$\gamma(c^b\varphi_x) \mapsto s_{\sigma(x)}.c^{b+\overline{h}_x} = \gamma(s_x.c^b),$$

where the last equality holds by Definition (4.1.4.2) (without the formal sum). \Box

We conclude that we can define an action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ on Σ_K by

$$(\sigma, h)(c^b \varphi_x) := c^{b+\bar{h}_x} \varphi_{\sigma(x)}. \tag{4.1.6.2}$$

Clearly this action factors through the finite group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \operatorname{Gal}(K/F)^{\Sigma}$. Since σ is a permutation of Σ , this action induces an action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ on the set of CM types

of K, which depends on the choice of s because the identification (4.1.6.1) does — but see (4.1.8.a) for a result that is independent of s.

4.1.7 Example. Let us give a concrete example of the plectic action on CM types by having another look at the CM types $\Phi = \{g^0, g^4, g^2\}$ and $\Psi = \{g^0, g^1, g^2\}$ of (2.1.4), where $G = \text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) = \langle g \rangle$ is cyclic of order 6. It is not hard to see that the set of CM types decomposes into precisely two *G*-orbits, namely the induced types and the primitive types. The former is the *G*-orbit of Φ , the latter is the *G*-orbit of Ψ .

We identify $\Sigma = G/\langle c \rangle$ with $\{0, 1, 2\}$ by $g^i \langle c \rangle \mapsto i$ and also S_{Σ} with $S_{\{0,1,2\}} = S_3$. We thus write elements of $\operatorname{Gal}(K/F)^{\Sigma} = \langle c \rangle^3$ as $(c^{a_0}, c^{a_1}, c^{a_2})$ with $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, we choose the section $s \colon \Sigma \to G$ given by $s_i := g^i$. Then we have the embedding

$$\rho_s \colon G \hookrightarrow S_3 \ltimes \langle c \rangle^3, \quad g \mapsto \left(\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} c^0, c^0, c^1 \end{pmatrix} \right).$$

Using (4.1.6.2) we directly calculate that

$$\begin{pmatrix} (0 & 1), (c^1, c^0, c^0) \end{pmatrix} \Psi = \Phi.$$

In particular the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \operatorname{Gal}(K/F)^{\Sigma}$ acts transitively on the set of CM types of K. In fact, this holds for any CM field K.

4.1.8 Remarks. (Independence of the section s)

- (4.1.8.a) The actions of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ on induced representations in (4.1.4.2) and on the set of CM types in (4.1.6) induce, via β_s , actions of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, which turn out to be *independent* of the chosen section s. See (4.1.9) for the strategy of the proof.
- (4.1.8.b) Combining the isomorphisms β_s of (4.1.3) and π_s of (4.1.5.1), we get the group isomorphism [Bla15, (3.2.12)]

$$\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \# \Gamma_F,$$

which turns out to be independent of the chosen section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

4.1.9 Example. (Quotients of the plectic group)

(4.1.9.a) The composition¹

$$\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\beta_s} S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma} \twoheadrightarrow S_{\Sigma}$$
$$(\sigma, h) \mapsto \sigma,$$

¹This is actually a special case of (4.1.8.a), because similar to (4.1.6) we have $\Sigma \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\{1\}) = \bigcup_{x \in \Sigma} s_x.\{1\}$, via the map $x \mapsto s_x.1$, as sets with $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action, where $\{1\}$ denotes a set with one element and trivial Γ_F -action.

is independent of the choice of section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

(4.1.9.b) The composition

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\beta_{s}} S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma} \xrightarrow{(1, \operatorname{prod})} \Gamma_{F}^{\operatorname{ab}},$$
$$(\sigma, h) \longmapsto \prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_{x}|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}},$$

is independent of the choice of section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Moreover, when restricted to $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, we get the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} & \stackrel{\rho_s}{\longrightarrow} & S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma} \\ & & & \downarrow^{(1, \mathrm{prod})} \\ \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{ab}} & \stackrel{}{\longrightarrow} & \Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}}. \end{array}$$

Proof. Let $s': \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be another section, so $s'_x = s_x t_x$ for some $t = (t_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$. By [Nek09, (1.1.4)(iv)], we have for all $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$:

$$\beta_{s'}(\gamma) = (1, t)^{-1} \beta_s(\gamma)(1, t).$$

So if $\beta_s(\gamma) = (\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$, then

$$\beta_{s'}(\gamma) = \left(\sigma, \left(t_{\sigma(x)}^{-1}h_x t_x\right)_{x \in \Sigma}\right).$$

From this, (4.1.9.a) follows immediately. For (4.1.9.b), note

$$(1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_{s'}(\gamma) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} t_{\sigma(x)}^{-1} h_x t_x \Big|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}}$$
$$= \left(\prod_{x \in \Sigma} t_{\sigma(x)}^{-1} \Big|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}} \right) \left(\prod_{x \in \Sigma} t_x |_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}} \right) \left(\prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_x |_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}} \right)$$
$$= \prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_x |_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}},$$

so as claimed $(1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s$ is independent of s.

The last assertion is [Nek09, (1.1.2.3)] and can be proved as follows. For $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, we have $\rho_s(\gamma) = ([x \mapsto \gamma x], (s_{\gamma x}^{-1} \gamma s_x)_{x \in \Sigma})$, so

$$(1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \rho_s(\gamma) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \left(s_{\gamma x}^{-1} \gamma s_x \right) \Big|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}},$$

which by definition of the transfer map is equal to $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma)$, see (2.4.4).

So far, we have found two good indications that the plectic theory can be com-

63

bined with CM theory. Namely, by (4.1.6) the plectic group acts on CM types, extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, which is a good sign in view of (2.3.8). On the other hand, by the commutative diagram in (4.1.9.b) there is a connection between the plectic group and the transfer map, so we can hope to find an analogue of Tate's half transfer in the plectic world.

4.1.10. (Plectic action on CM types — II) We continue (4.1.6). The identification (4.1.6.1) induces a bijection

$$(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{ \mathrm{CM types of } K \},\$$
$$(a_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \longmapsto \{ c^{a_x} s_x |_K : x \in \Sigma \}.$$

The plectic action on CM types induced by (4.1.6.2) then translates to an action of $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ on $a = (a_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma}$ given by

$$(\sigma, h)a = \left(a_{\sigma^{-1}(x)} + \overline{h}_{\sigma^{-1}(x)}\right)_{x \in \Sigma}.$$
(4.1.10.1)

4.1.11. (Nekovář's plectic half transfer) With the notation as in (4.1.10), let Φ be a CM type of K, corresponding to $a = (a_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma}$. As in [Nek09, (2.1.3)], define the map

$$s\widetilde{F}_a\colon S_{\Sigma}\ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma} \longrightarrow \Gamma_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$$
$$(\sigma,h)\longmapsto \prod_{x\in\Sigma} s_{\sigma(x)}^{-1} c^{a_x + \overline{h_x}} s_{\sigma(x)} h_x s_x^{-1} c^{a_x} s_x \Big|_{K^{\mathrm{ab}}}.$$

This map depends on s and a.

By the calculations in [Nek09, (2.1.2)], this extends the domain of Tate's half transfer (3.1.1) from $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ to $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$ via the embedding $\rho_{s} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$, namely

$$_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}\circ\rho_{s}=F_{\Phi}\colon\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}\longrightarrow\Gamma_{K}^{\mathrm{ab}}.$$

Moreover (see [Nek09, (2.1.7)]), the composition

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi} := {}_s \widetilde{F}_a \circ \beta_s \colon \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \longrightarrow \Gamma_K^{\operatorname{ab}}$$

is independent of the section s and therefore only depends on the CM type Φ of K. It is called the (F-)plectic half transfer and satisfies:

(4.1.11.a) Restricted to $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ via the embedding $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ of (4.1.1), the plectic half transfer \widetilde{F}_{Φ} agrees with Tate's half transfer F_{Φ} .

(4.1.11.b) For $\gamma, \gamma' \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we have the cocycle relation

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma\gamma') = \widetilde{F}_{\gamma'\Phi}(\gamma)\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma')$$

(4.1.11.c) For $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$, we have [Nek09, (2.1.4)(ii), first formula]

$${}_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)\Big|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = \prod_{x \in |(\sigma,h)a|} c_{x} \prod_{x \in |a|} c_{x} \prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_{x}|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}},$$

where $|a| := \{x \in \Sigma : a_x \neq 0\}$ denotes the support of $a = (a_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma}$, and $(\sigma, h)a$ is given by (4.1.10.1) and corresponds to the CM type $(\sigma, h)\Phi$.

(4.1.11.d) For $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$, we have [Nek09, (2.1.4)(ii), second formula]

$$^{1+c}\left({}_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)\right) = V_{K/F} \circ (1, \operatorname{prod})(\sigma,h) \in \Gamma_{K}^{\mathrm{ab}}.$$

4.2 Plectic Taniyama element and plectic action on CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety

As in (3.1.2), in this section we define a suitably normalised preimage $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}/K^{\times}$ of the plectic half transfer $\tilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \Gamma_{K}^{ab}$ under the Artin map. To achieve this, we will start with a few remarks about class field theory, see [Nek09, §1.3].

4.2.1. (Complex conjugations) Fix an embedding $F \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. For each $x \in \Sigma$, we define the complex conjugation corresponding to x to be the element $c_x \in \Gamma_F^{ab}$ defined as follows: If $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is a section as before, then $s_x^{-1}cs_x$ is an element of Γ_F and its image c_x in Γ_F^{ab} is independent of s.

Define the subgroup $\mathfrak{c} := \langle c_x \colon x \in \Sigma \rangle \subset \Gamma_F^{ab}$. By [Nek09, (1.3.1)], the Artin map $r_F \colon \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times} \to \Gamma_F^{ab}$ induces a bijection

$$r_F \colon F^{\times} / F^{\times}_{>0} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{c}$$
$$\alpha F^{\times}_{>0} \longmapsto \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x}$$

where the $\alpha_x \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ are determined by $(-1)^{\alpha_x} = \operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha))$ for each $x \in \Sigma$. Here $\operatorname{sgn}: \mathbb{R}^{\times} \to \{\pm 1\}$ denotes the sign of a real number.

Note that the group $F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$ is isomorphic to $\{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}$ via $\alpha F_{>0}^{\times} \mapsto (\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha)))_{x \in \Sigma}$.

4.2.2. (Kernel of transfer) By [Nek09, (1.2.5)], for any number field k the kernel of the transfer map $V_{k/\mathbb{Q}}: \Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{ab}_k$ is either $\langle c \rangle$, if k is totally complex, or trivial

otherwise. In particular, one can show [Nek09, (1.3.2.4-6)] that this implies that the preimage of $\mathfrak{c} \subset \Gamma_F^{ab}$ under $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ is equal to $\langle c \rangle \subset \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab}$, so that

$$\overline{V}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \colon \Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}}_{\mathbb{Q}} / \langle c \rangle \longrightarrow \Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}}_{F} / \mathfrak{c}$$

$$(4.2.2.1)$$

is injective. Moreover, we have $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(c) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x$.

We state [Nek09, (1.3.4)], which will be extremely useful:

4.2.3 Proposition. Let K be a CM field and F its maximal totally real subfield.

(4.2.3.a) The Artin map r_K restricts to a bijection

$$\{y \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \colon {}^{1+c}y \in \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}K^{\times}\}/K^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{\gamma \in \Gamma_{K}^{\mathrm{ab}} \colon \gamma|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} \in \mathfrak{c} \cdot V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{ab}})\}.$$

Denoting its inverse by ℓ_K , we get

$${}^{1+c}\ell_K(\gamma) = \chi_{\rm cyc}(u(\gamma))K^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times},$$

where $u(\gamma) \in \Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\langle c \rangle$ is the unique element satisfying $\overline{V}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u(\gamma)) = \gamma|_{F^{ab}} \cdot \mathfrak{c}$.

(4.2.3.b) One can be more precise: If γ is an element of the domain of ℓ_K , write (non-uniquely)

$$\gamma|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x},$$

with $u \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{ab}}$ and $\alpha_x \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, $x \in \Sigma$. Then

$$N_{K/F}(\ell_K(\gamma)) = \chi_{\text{cyc}}(u)\alpha F_{>0}^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times},$$

where $\alpha \in F^{\times}$ has signs

$$\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha)) = (-1)^{\alpha_x}, \quad x \in \Sigma.$$

4.2.4 Remarks. A few comments to avoid confusion:

(4.2.4.a) For a finite idele $y \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$, note that ${}^{1+c}y = i_{K/F} \circ N_{K/F}(y) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$, where $i_{K/F}$ denotes the embedding $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$. Since $N_{K/F}(K^{\times}) \subset F_{>0}^{\times}$, we get an induced map

$$N_{K/F} \colon \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} / K^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times},$$

fitting into the commutative diagram



From this point of view, (4.2.3.a) describes the image of $\ell_K(\gamma)$ under the diagonal arrow, whereas (4.2.3.b) describes the image under the top horizontal arrow.

(4.2.4.b) Moreover, note how the description in (4.2.3.b) depends (very slightly) on the choice of u: By the injectivity of (4.2.2.1), the only other possible choice is u' = cu, and this forces α_x to change to $\alpha'_x = 1 - \alpha_x$, $x \in \Sigma$, and α to $\alpha' = -\alpha$.

4.2.5 Remark. Recall the definition of the Taniyama element $f_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ in (3.1.2), for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, from Tate's half transfer $F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$. From the point of view of (4.2.3), we can rephrase (3.1.2.b) as stating that $F_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ lies in the domain of ℓ_K , and (3.1.2.a) as

$$f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \ell_K(F_{\Phi}(\gamma)).$$

So we want to use the isomorphism ℓ_K of Proposition (4.2.3) to get a preimage of the plectic half transfer $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ under the Artin map, for $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. For this we need $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ to lie in the domain of ℓ_K , so we need to look at $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{ab}}$.

4.2.6. (1st subgroup of the plectic group) Using the notation of (4.1.11), recall (4.1.11.c): for $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$, we have

$$_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)\Big|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = \prod_{x\in|(\sigma,h)a|} c_{x} \prod_{x\in|a|} c_{x} \prod_{x\in\Sigma} h_{x}|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}.$$

We want ${}_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}$ to lie inside $\mathfrak{c} \cdot V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, as then ${}_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)$ lies in the domain of ℓ_{K} . However, as the h_{x} are arbitrary elements of Γ_{F} , this is not automatically the case. To remedy this, we define the subgroup $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma^{\Sigma}_{F})_{1} \subset S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma^{\Sigma}_{F}$ by the Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{1} & \longrightarrow & S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma} \\ & & & \downarrow^{(1, \text{prod})} \\ & & & \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{ab}} / \langle c \rangle & \xleftarrow{\overline{V}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}} & \Gamma_{F}^{\text{ab}} / \mathfrak{c}. \end{array}$$

This precisely means that $(\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ lies in $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_1$ if and only if $\prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_x|_{F^{ab}}$ lies in $\mathfrak{c} \cdot V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab})$, i.e. if and only if ${}_s\widetilde{F}_a(\sigma, h)$ lies in the domain of ℓ_K .

We also define

$$\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1 := \beta_s^{-1} \left((S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_1 \right) \subset \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

By (4.1.9.b), this definition is independent of the choice of s.

Finally, observe that the diagram in (4.1.9.b) implies that the embedding ρ_s of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ into $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ actually lands inside $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_1$. In other words,

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$$

4.2.7. (Plectic Taniyama element) Continuing with the same notation, the *plectic Taniyama element* is the map

$$\widetilde{f}_{\Phi} \colon \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{1} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$$

 $\gamma \longmapsto \ell_{K}\left(\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)\right)$

It satisfies the following properties [Nek09, (2.2.3)]:

(4.2.7.a) Because ℓ_K is inverse to r_K , we have $r_K \circ \tilde{f}_{\Phi} = \tilde{F}_{\Phi}\Big|_{\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1}$.

- (4.2.7.b) By (4.1.11.a) and (4.2.5), we have $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\mathrm{id}_F \otimes \gamma) = f_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.
- (4.2.7.c) By (4.1.11.b), we have the cocycle relation $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma\gamma') = \widetilde{f}_{\gamma'\Phi}(\gamma)\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma')$ for $\gamma, \gamma' \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$.

(4.2.7.d) By applying (4.2.3.a) to $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$, we see that for $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ we have

$${}^{1+c}\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \chi_{\rm cyc}(\widetilde{u}(\gamma))K^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times},$$

where $\widetilde{u}(\gamma)$ is the unique element of $\Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\langle c \rangle$ with $\overline{V}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\widetilde{u}(\gamma)) = \widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{ab}}\mathfrak{c}$.

It was necessary to restrict to $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_1$, because then a combination of (4.1.11.c) and (4.2.3.a) allowed us to define \tilde{f}_{Φ} . Moreover, we can achieve a more precise statement in (4.2.7.d) if we use (4.2.3.b) instead of (4.2.3.a). For this to work, it is necessary to restrict to a smaller subgroup:

4.2.8. (0th subgroup of the plectic group) Define the subgroup $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{0}$ of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$ by the Cartesian diagram

$$(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{0} \longleftrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{(1, \text{prod})}$$

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\text{ab}} \longleftrightarrow_{V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}} \Gamma_{F}^{\text{ab}},$$

and let

$$\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0 := \beta_s^{-1} \left((S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_0 \right) \subset \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}),$$

which, again by (4.1.9.b), is independent of the chosen section $s: \Sigma \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Clearly, we have $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{0} \subset (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{1}$ and so $\operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{0} \subset \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{1}$. Moreover, by the diagram in (4.1.9.b) we see that

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \subset \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0.$$

Again using the notation of (4.1.11), let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ and $(\sigma, h) = \beta_s(\gamma) \in (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_0$, and let $\widetilde{u} \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab}$ be the unique element such that $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\widetilde{u}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_x|_{F^{ab}}$. We calculate

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = {}_{s}\widetilde{F}_{a}(\sigma,h)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}$$
$$= \prod_{x \in |(\sigma,h)a|} c_{x} \prod_{x \in |a|} c_{x} \prod_{x \in \Sigma} h_{x}|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}$$
$$= \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_{x}^{\alpha_{x}} V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\widetilde{u}),$$

where $(\alpha_x)_{x\in\Sigma}$ measures the difference between the CM types Φ (which corresponds to a) and $\gamma \Phi$ (which corresponds to $(\sigma, h)a$), namely

$$\alpha_x = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } [(\sigma, h)a]_x = a_x, \\ 1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.8.1)

In the calculation above, the first equality holds by Definition (4.1.11) of \widetilde{F}_{Φ} , the second equality is (4.1.11.c), and the last equality follows from the definition of \widetilde{u} .

Applying (4.2.3.b), we conclude that (see [Nek09, (2.2.3)(vii)], which contains a typo in the definition of u(g) that we fixed here):

(4.2.8.a) For $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ and $\widetilde{u} \in \Gamma^{\operatorname{ab}}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ defined above, we have

$$N_{K/F}\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \chi_{\text{cyc}}(\widetilde{u})\alpha F_{>0}^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times},$$

where $\alpha \in F^{\times}$ has signs

$$\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha)) = (-1)^{\alpha_x} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \gamma \Phi \text{ and } \Phi \text{ agree at } x, \\ -1, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for $x \in \Sigma$.

Here we say that two CM types Φ, Φ' agree at $x \in \Sigma$ if the unique elements $\varphi_x \in \Phi$ and $\varphi'_x \in \Phi'$ extending x are the same. **4.2.9 Remark.** The assertion about the signs in (4.2.8.a) implies the following: Let $t \in K^{\times}$ be totally imaginary such that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$. Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ and $\widetilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \widetilde{f}K^{\times}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Im} \varphi \left(t \frac{\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(\widetilde{u})}{1+c\widetilde{f}} \right) > 0, \quad \text{for all } \varphi \in \gamma \Phi.$$

In particular, for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$, this proves (3.1.4.1).

We have seen in (3.2.9) how the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on the special points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety $\mathrm{Sh}(G, X)$ can be described using Tate's half transfer. Namely, recall (3.2.9.2): If K is a CM field whose maximal totally real subfield is F, and $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ describes a polarised CM abelian variety as in (2.3.5), then for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $f \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $f_{\Phi}(\gamma) = fK^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ we have²

$$\gamma \left[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right] = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi} / \gamma \Phi(f\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{\chi t}, f \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right],$$

where $\chi := \frac{\chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma)}{f \cdot \overline{f}} \in F^{\times}$.

Now, we reverse this process and *define* an action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ on the special points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ using the plectic half transfer (4.1.11) together with the observations in (4.2.8), compare [Nek09, (2.2.5)]:

4.2.10 (Plectic action on CM points of PEL Hilbert modular variety). Let K be a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F, and let $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ be a type as in (2.3.5). We look at the CM point $[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times}E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ of the PEL Hilbert modular variety $\mathrm{Sh}(G, X)$.

Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ and $\widetilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \widetilde{f}K^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$. Let $\widetilde{u} \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{ab}}$ be the unique element such that $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\widetilde{u}) = (1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma)$ as in (4.2.8), and denote $\chi := \frac{\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(\widetilde{u})}{1+c\widetilde{f}} \in F^{\times}$. Define

$$\gamma \left[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right] := \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi} / \gamma \Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_{F}, \mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f} \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right].$$

$$(4.2.10.1)$$

This defines a group action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ on the set of CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

We will prove this in more generality in (4.4.13). Here, we only give a sketch:

Sketch of proof. First of all, one needs to show that (4.2.10.1) is independent of the choice of \tilde{f} and of choosing a different type $(K, \Phi, \mathfrak{a}', t')$ (of the same CM point), but both are easy to check.

²We now ignore the uniformizations Θ and Θ' and directly work with the abelian variety $A = \mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}).$

Secondly, one needs to check that the right hand side of (4.2.10.1) defines a valid CM point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$. For this, note that $E_{\chi t}$ is a K-compatible polarisation of $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$ by (4.2.9), which by (3.2.5.e) implies that the right hand side of (4.2.10.1) is a point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, which is clearly a CM point. Let us also remark that here we identify $\widehat{V}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})) = H_1(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}$ with $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}$, so we may view $\widetilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ as a map

$$\widehat{V}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})) = \mathbb{A}_{K,f} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{f}} \mathbb{A}_{K,f} = \widehat{V}(\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a})).$$

This shows that (4.2.10.1) is well-defined. Finally, the cocycle relation (4.2.7.c) implies that (4.2.10.1) does indeed define a group action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$. \Box

4.2.11 Remark. In Definition (4.2.10.1), it was absolutely essential to restrict to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$: First of all, by (4.2.6) we need to restrict to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ because otherwise the plectic Taniyama element $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ is not defined. However, in (4.3.6) we will find a way to define the plectic Taniyama element on the entire plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Nonetheless, we need to restrict further to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ because otherwise we would have no control over the signs of the imaginary parts of χt under the embeddings $\varphi \in \gamma \Phi$. So in view of (2.3.4.b) and (4.2.9), we can only guarantee that $E_{\chi t}$ is a polarisation of $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi}/\gamma \Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$ if $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$.

4.3 Plectic Taniyama element on the entire plectic group

In the previous section we recalled Nekovář's definition of the plectic Taniyama element $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) := \ell_K(\tilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ from the plectic half transfer $\tilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \Gamma_K^{ab}$ via the isomorphism ℓ_K of (4.2.3). We had to restrict to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ so that $\tilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ lies in the domain of ℓ_K .

In this section we will extend the definition of f_{Φ} to the entire plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. We will do this in a way closer to the definition of the (non-plectic) Taniyama element in (3.1.2), using an extension of diagram (3.1.2.1).

From now on, unless stated otherwise, the results and proofs are our own.

4.3.1 (A useful diagram). We look at the commutative diagram with exact rows

Here $N_{K/F}$ denotes the norm map, $i_{K/F}$ is induced from the inclusion $F \subset K$, res $(\gamma) = \gamma|_{F^{ab}}$ is the restriction and $V_{K/F}$ the transfer map. The vertical composites are 1 + c, so that the outer diagram is precisely (3.1.2.1).

As mentioned in (3.1.2), the map 1 + c is an isomorphism on ker (r_K) , so that the right hand composite rectangle is Cartesian. By [Nek09, (1.2.2)], we have ker $(r_K) \cong \mathcal{O}_K^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} (\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}/\mathbb{Q})$ and ker $(r_F) \cong \mathcal{O}_{F,>0}^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} (\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}/\mathbb{Q})$. By Dirichlet's Unit Theorem [Neu92, Thm I.7.4] the groups \mathcal{O}_K^{\times} and $\mathcal{O}_{F,>0}^{\times}$ have the same \mathbb{Z} -rank. Hence the maps $N_{K/F} \colon \mathcal{O}_K^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_{F,>0}^{\times}$ and $i_{K/F} \colon \mathcal{O}_{F,>0}^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$ have finite kernel and cokernel, and since $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}/\mathbb{Q}$ is a \mathbb{Q} -vector space, we conclude that both left vertical arrows $N_{K/F} \colon \ker(r_K) \to \ker(r_F)$ and $i_{K/F} \colon \ker(r_F) \to \ker(r_K)$ are in fact isomorphisms. By the same diagram chase as in (3.1.2.1) this means that both right hand squares in (4.3.1.1) are Cartesian. Let us highlight the top right Cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times} & \xrightarrow{r_{K}} & \Gamma_{K}^{\mathrm{ab}} \\ & & & \downarrow_{N_{K/F}} & & \downarrow_{\mathrm{res}} \\ \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} & \xrightarrow{r_{F}} & \Gamma_{F}^{\mathrm{ab}} \end{array}$$

$$(4.3.1.2)$$

because it will be extremely useful for the rest of this section.

4.3.2 (Definition of ℓ_K revisited). With the help of diagrams (4.3.1.1) and (4.3.1.2) let us give a different perspective on the definition of ℓ_K : Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_K^{ab}$ lie in the domain of ℓ_K , i.e. $\gamma|_{F^{ab}} = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x}$ for some (almost unique, see (4.2.4.b)) $u \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab}$ and $\alpha_x \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. By (4.2.1) we have $r_F(\alpha F_{>0}^{\times}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x}$ for $\alpha \in F^{\times}$ with $\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha)) = (-1)^{\alpha_x}$ for all $x \in \Sigma$. Moreover, by (2.4.3) we also have $r_F(\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(u)) = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u)$. Now the Cartesian square (4.3.1.2) looks like

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\ell & \longmapsto & \stackrel{r_K}{\longrightarrow} & \gamma \\
\downarrow^{N_{K/F}} & & \downarrow^{\text{res}} \\
\chi_{\text{cyc}}(u)\alpha F_{>0}^{\times} & \longmapsto & V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x}
\end{array}$$

hence asserts the existence of a unique $\ell \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ such that $r_{K}(\ell) = \gamma$ and
$N_{K/F}(\ell) = \chi_{\text{cyc}}(u) \alpha F_{>0}^{\times}$. The element ℓ is precisely $\ell_K(\gamma)$ from (4.2.3).

4.3.3 (Definition of \widetilde{f}_{Φ} revisited). Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$. By definition of the group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$, we have $(1, \operatorname{prod})(\beta_s(\gamma)) = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{b_x} \in \Gamma_F^{ab}$ for some (again almost unique) $u \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab}$ and $b_x \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. Combining this with (4.1.11.c) yields (with α_x given by (4.2.8.1))

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x + b_x}.$$

Using (4.2.1), let $\alpha' \in F^{\times}$ with $\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha')) = (-1)^{\alpha_x + b_x}$ for all $x \in \Sigma$, so that $r_F(\alpha' F_{>0}^{\times}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x + b_x}$. Now the Cartesian square (4.3.1.2) looks like



and hence asserts the existence and uniqueness of an element $\tilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$. The element \tilde{f} is precisely the plectic Taniyama element $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ from (4.2.7).

In other words, the reason for restricting to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$ is to ensure we have a canonical preimage of $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}} = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x + b_x} \in \Gamma_F^{\operatorname{ab}}$ under r_F , namely $\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(u) \alpha' F_{>0}^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times}$, so that the Cartesian square (4.3.1.2) implies the existence of $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$. Note here that the ambiguity (4.2.4.b) in choosing α_x and u does not affect the product $\chi_{\operatorname{cyc}}(u) \alpha' F_{>0}^{\times}$.

For general $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ however we only have (4.1.11.c)

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = (1, \mathrm{prod})(\beta_s(\gamma)) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x} \in \Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}}.$$

Since $(1, \text{prod}): S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma} \to \Gamma_{F}^{\text{ab}}$ is surjective, $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\text{ab}}}$ can be any element of Γ_{F}^{ab} . Since we are aiming to construct a plectic Taniyama element $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ for any $\gamma \in \text{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ using the Cartesian diagram (4.3.1.2), this means we need to choose a splitting³ $\chi_{F}: \Gamma_{F}^{\text{ab}} \to \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$ to $r_{F}: \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \to \Gamma_{F}^{\text{ab}}$.

4.3.4 (Splitting of r_F). Let us look at the middle row in (4.3.1.1), i.e. the short exact sequence of topological abelian groups

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker(r_F) \xrightarrow{\kappa_F} \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{r_F} \Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}} \longrightarrow 0,$$

³We choose the notation χ_F for this splitting as it is going to play a similar role as the cyclotomic character χ_{cyc} .

where κ_F temporarily denotes the inclusion ker $(r_F) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$. The Splitting Lemma [Hat02, p. 147] tells us that (in the category of abelian groups) it is equivalent to find a map χ_F such that $r_F \circ \chi_F = \mathrm{id}_{\Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}}}$ or a map ω_F such that $\omega_F \circ \kappa_F = \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{ker}(r_F)}$. We call either of χ_F and ω_F a splitting, and if they exist they are related by the identity $\mathrm{im}(\chi_F) = \mathrm{ker}(\omega_F)$. This situation is illustrated by the diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker(r_F) \xrightarrow{\kappa_F} \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{r_F} \Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

As mentioned in (4.3.1), ker (r_F) is (uniquely) divisible, hence an injective object in the category of abelian groups. In turn, the injectivity of ker (r_F) implies the existence of the dashed arrow in the commutative diagram

This diagram precisely means that ω_F is a splitting of κ_F , and we denote the associated splitting of r_F by χ_F .

We want the splitting χ_F of r_F to be compatible with the lift $\chi_{\text{cyc}}(u)\alpha F_{>0}^{\times}$ of $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u)\prod_{x\in\Sigma}c_x^{\alpha_x}$ under r_F as in (4.3.2). This is guaranteed by the following lemma.

4.3.5 Lemma (Extra properties of χ_F). We use the notation of (4.3.4). Then

(4.3.5.a) Restricted to the subgroup $\mathbf{c} \subset \Gamma_F^{ab}$, the splitting χ_F is an inverse to the isomorphism of (4.2.1)

$$r_F \colon F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{c}.$$

(4.3.5.b) We can choose the splitting χ_F so that the following diagram commutes

Proof. To prove (4.3.5.a), notice that ω_F restricted to $F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$ is a group homomorphism with domain a finite group and target a uniquely divisible group, hence ω_F must be trivial. This easily translates into the desired property of χ_F : Let

 $c' \in \mathfrak{c}$. We need to show $\chi_F(c') = \xi(c')$, where $\xi \colon \mathfrak{c} \to F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}$ denotes the inverse of $r_F \colon F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{c}$.

We see that $\xi(c') \in F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} \subset \ker(\omega_F) = \operatorname{im}(\chi_F)$, so there exists a $\delta \in \Gamma_F^{\mathrm{ab}}$ such that $\chi_F(\delta) = \xi(c')$. We calculate

$$\chi_F(c') = \chi_F r_F \xi(c') = \chi_F r_F \chi_F(\delta) = \chi_F(\delta),$$

where the first equality uses that ξ is inverse to r_F , the second equality follows from the choice of δ , and the third equality holds since $r_F \chi_F = \text{id}$.

To prove (4.3.5.b), let us first look at the commutative diagram

It shows $\operatorname{im}(i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}) \cap \operatorname{ker}(r_F) = 0$, hence the composition

$$\ker(r_F) \xrightarrow{\kappa_F} \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} F_{>0}^{\times}$$

is injective, where the second arrow is the quotient map. Again since $\ker(r_F)$ is divisible, the dashed arrow in the following diagram

exists. Then the composite

$$\omega_F \colon \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / F_{>0}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times} / \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\omega'_F} \ker(r_F)$$

is a splitting of κ_F satisfying $\omega_F(\hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}) = 0$. We claim that the splitting χ_F associated to such an ω_F makes the diagram (4.3.5.b) commutative, where we proceed in a similar way as at the end of the proof of (4.3.5.a):

Let $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{ab}$ and let $z := \chi_{cyc}(\gamma) \in \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$, so that $r_{\mathbb{Q}}(z) = \gamma$. Since $i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(z) \in \ker(\omega_F) = \operatorname{im}(\chi_F)$, there exists an element $\delta \in \Gamma_F^{ab}$ such that $\chi_F(\delta) = i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(z)$. We calculate

$$\chi_F V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma) = \chi_F V_{F/\mathbb{Q}} r_{\mathbb{Q}}(z) = \chi_F r_F i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(z) = \chi_F r_F \chi_F(\delta) = \chi_F(\delta) = i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(z)$$

where the first equality uses the definition of z, the second equality follows from

(4.3.5.1), the third and fifth equality use the definition of δ , and the fourth equality uses $r_F \chi_F = \text{id}$. Finally, using the definition of z one more time, we conclude

$$\chi_F V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma) = i_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(z) = i_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \chi_{\text{cyc}}(\gamma),$$

i.e. (4.3.5.b) commutes.

From now on, we fix a splitting χ_F as in (4.3.4) satisfying the additional property (4.3.5.b). We are ready to define the plectic Taniyama element $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ for arbitrary $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$

4.3.6 (Plectic Taniyama element). Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. By the Cartesian diagram (4.3.1.2), there exists a unique element $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ such that

•
$$r_K(\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)) = \widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$$
 and

• $N_{K/F}(\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)) = \chi_F(\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}).$

We call the map \widetilde{f}_{Φ} : Aut_F $(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \to \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ the plectic Taniyama element. In diagrammatic form, $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ is the unique element such that

commutes.

4.3.7 Remark. Clearly this definition of \tilde{f}_{Φ} depends on the choice of χ_F . However let us show that Definition (4.3.6) of \tilde{f}_{Φ} extends Nekovář's definition (4.2.7), and hence by (4.2.7.b) in particular extends the Taniyama element f_{Φ} of (3.1.2):

Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_1$. We use the notation of (4.3.3). There we saw that $\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\operatorname{ab}}} = V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x + b_x}$ and that (4.2.7) defines $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ as the unique element such that

commutes.

On the other hand, (4.3.5) implies

$$\chi_F\left(V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u)\prod_{x\in\Sigma}c_x^{\alpha_x+b_x}\right) = \chi_{\rm cyc}(u)\alpha'F_{>0}^{\times},$$

hence the defining diagram in (4.3.6) is precisely the same as (4.3.7.1), thus the two definitions of $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)$ agree.

4.3.8 Remark. Since (4.3.1.2) is Cartesian, the splitting χ_F of the bottom horizontal map induces a splitting, let us denote it by χ_K , of the top horizontal map: For $\gamma \in \Gamma_K^{ab}$, the element $\chi_K(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$ is the unique element such that

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \chi_K(\gamma) & \longmapsto \xrightarrow{r_K} & \gamma \\ & \downarrow^{N_{K/F}} & \downarrow^{\text{res}} \\ \chi_F(\gamma|_{F^{\text{ab}}}) & \longmapsto & \gamma|_{F^{\text{ab}}} \end{array}$$

commutes. Then

$$\widetilde{f}_{\Phi} = \chi_K \circ \widetilde{F}_{\Phi}.$$

4.4 Variants of the Hilbert modular variety, and plectic action on their CM points

Let G^R be a group that differs only in the centre from $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$, i.e. G^R fits into the Cartesian diagram (1.2.0.3) and R denotes an algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. For example, for $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ the group $G^{\mathbb{G}_m}$ is the group G considered in (3.2.2). In (4.2.10) we saw that the subgroup $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0$ acts on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$. The goal of this section is to find an analogue of this plectic action on CM points for the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, for any R.

Let us start by recalling the notation of Section 3.2 and defining the variants $Sh(G^R, X^R)$ of the Hilbert modular variety.

4.4.1. (Notation) As in Section 3.2 let

- $V := F^2$ be a 2-dimensional *F*-vector space.
- $G_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ be the restriction of scalars of GL_2 .
- $\psi \colon V \times V \to \mathbb{Q}$ be the *F*-compatible, \mathbb{Q} -bilinear alternating form given by

$$\psi\left(\begin{pmatrix}v_1\\v_2\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}w_1\\w_2\end{pmatrix}
ight) = \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\circ\det\begin{pmatrix}v_1&w_1\\v_2&w_2\end{pmatrix}.$$

h₀: S → (G₁)_ℝ be the morphism of algebraic groups that is (on real points) given by

$$h_0(i) := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in G_1(\mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{GL}_2(F \otimes \mathbb{R}).$$

As noted in (3.2.2), the form $(v, w) \mapsto \psi(v, h_0(i)w)$ is positive definite on $V(\mathbb{R})$.

• X_1 be the $G_1(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of h_0 .

4.4.2. (Variants of the Hilbert modular variety) Let R be an algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} with embeddings $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. We will always assume that the composition of these two embeddings is given by the 'usual' embedding $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, which on \mathbb{Q} -points is given by the inclusion $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \hookrightarrow F^{\times}$. Define the algebraic group G^R over \mathbb{Q} by the Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
G^{R} & \longleftrightarrow & R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_{2} \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow_{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\operatorname{det})} \\
R & \longleftrightarrow & R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_{m}.
\end{array} \tag{4.4.2.1}$$

This is diagram (1.2.0.3).

Note that $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ results in $G^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m} = G_1$. For $R = \mathbb{G}_m$, the above diagram is the same as (3.2.2.1), so $G^{\mathbb{G}_m}$ is equal to the group G considered there. Of course, $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ yields inclusions

$$G^{\mathbb{G}_m} \hookrightarrow G^R \hookrightarrow G_1.$$

In (3.2.2), we also saw that h_0 actually takes values in $(G^{\mathbb{G}_m})_{\mathbb{R}}$, so in particular we can view h_0 as a morphism $\mathbb{S} \to (G^R)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and define X^R to be the $G^R(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of h_0 . Clearly, we thus have

$$X^{\mathbb{G}_m} \subset X^R \subset X^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m} = X_1.$$

In (6.2.9) we will calculate that G^R has the same adjoint group as G_1 . Axioms [Del79, (2.1.1.2-3)] obviously only depend on the adjoint group, and the same is true for [Del79, (2.1.1.1)], see [Mil17, after Def. 5.5, p. 55]. Thus (G^R, X^R) is a Shimura datum and the associated Shimura variety $Sh(G^R, X^R)$ is the desired variant of the Hilbert modular variety.

Moreover, similar to (3.2.3) we see that (G^R, X^R) has the same reflex field as (G_1, X_1) , so $E(G^R, X^R) = \mathbb{Q}$.

For the remainder of this section, fix an algebraic torus R as above. We will often drop the R from notation and simply write (G, X) for (G^R, X^R) if there is no danger of confusion.

4.4.3 Remark. The Shimura varieties $Sh(G^R, X^R)$ interpolate between the two extreme cases, the Hilbert modular variety (for $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$) and the PEL Hilbert

modular variety (for $R = \mathbb{G}_m$). The groups G^R are precisely the groups that differ only in the centre from $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ in the sense of (1.2.0.2). We will see in (6.2.9) that this implies that $(G^R)^{\operatorname{der}} = G_1^{\operatorname{der}}$ and $(G^R)^{\operatorname{ad}} = G_1^{\operatorname{ad}}$.

Moreover, similar to (3.2.1.2) and (3.2.2.2), there is a more explicit description of the set X^R in terms of upper and lower half planes, see (5.1.6).

4.4.4. (Action of F^{\times} on *F*-compatible bilinear forms) We let F^{\times} act on the set of all *F*-compatible, \mathbb{Q} -bilinear alternating forms ψ' as follows:

$$(f \cdot \psi')(v, w) := \psi'(fv, w), \quad f \in F^{\times}, \ v, w \in V.$$

Let us calculate the effect of an element $g \in G^R(\mathbb{Q})$ on the form ψ :

$$\psi(gv, gw) = \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\det g \det(v, w)) = \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\det(\det(g)v, w)) = \psi(\det(g)v, w).$$

Now by definition of G^R this means that this form is an $R(\mathbb{Q})$ -multiple of ψ . The same calculation also shows the converse, i. e. that an element $g \in \operatorname{GL}_2(F)$ preserves $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$ if and only if $g \in G^R(\mathbb{Q})$. Hence

$$G^{R}(\mathbb{Q}) = \{g \in \operatorname{GL}_{2}(F) \mid g^{*}(\psi) \in R(\mathbb{Q})\psi\}.$$
(4.4.4.1)

In (4.2.10), the key to writing down a plectic Galois action on the CM points of the PEL Hilbert modular variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^{\mathbb{G}_m}, X^{\mathbb{G}_m})$ was to understand the points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^{\mathbb{G}_m}, X^{\mathbb{G}_m})$ in terms of abelian varieties with real multiplication and extra structure as in (3.2.6). We will now prove (3.2.6) in this more general set-up:

4.4.5 Theorem (Moduli interpretation for $Sh(G^R, X^R)$). Let $(G, X) = (G^R, X^R)$ be the Shimura datum constructed in (4.4.2). Then the complex points of the Shimura variety

$$\operatorname{Sh}(G,X)(\mathbb{C}) := \varprojlim_{U} G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/U] = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left[X \times G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right]$$

are in bijection with isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$, where

- A is a complex abelian variety of dimension $[F : \mathbb{Q}]$,
- $i: F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ is a ring homomorphism,
- s is an F-compatible polarisation of A, and
- $\eta: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{V}(A)$ is an $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}$ -module-isomorphism sending the class $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)s$,

satisfying the condition

(4.4.5.a) There exists an F-linear isomorphism $a: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ that sends $R(\mathbb{Q})s$ to $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$ and satisfies $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X$, where $h_A: \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{End}(H_1(A, \mathbb{R}))$ denotes the Hodge structure on $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$.

Here, the projective limit is taken over all compact open subgroups $U \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Moreover, $Z = Z^R$ denotes the centre of $G = G^R$, and $\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$ denotes the closure of $Z(\mathbb{Q})$ inside $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

4.4.6 Remark. In analogy to (3.2.5.d), we call quadruples $(A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ and $(A', i', R(\mathbb{Q})s', \eta' \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ isomorphic if there exists a quasi-isogeny $f: A \to A'$ that is *F*-linear (with respect to *i* and *i'*), sends $R(\mathbb{Q})s$ to $R(\mathbb{Q})s'$ and satisfies $\eta' \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} = f \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$.

Proof of Theorem (4.4.5). Let $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}^R$ denote the set of isomorphism classes of quadruples $(A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ as described above. The strategy of the proof is modelled on the (PEL) Siegel case outlined in [Mil17, §6, especially prop. 6.3].

• Definition of α .

Let

$$\alpha \colon \operatorname{Sh}(G, X)(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$$
$$[h, g] \longmapsto \left[A_h, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right],$$

where

- A_h is the abelian variety associated to the Q-rational Hodge structure (V, h). In particular, we identify $H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q})$ with V.
- $i_0: F \to \operatorname{End}(V)$ is the usual *F*-structure on *V*, which does respect the Hodge structure *h* and hence induces $i_0: F \to \operatorname{End}(V, h) = \operatorname{End}(A_h) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$,
- ψ is viewed as an *F*-compatible polarisation of A_h (using the identification $H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q}) = V$), and
- g is viewed as the map $g: V(\mathbb{A}_f) \to V(\mathbb{A}_f) = \widehat{V}(A_h)$, again using $V(\mathbb{A}_f) = H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_f = \widehat{V}(A_h)$.
- The map α is well-defined.

First of all, $(A_h, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ satisfies the necessary conditions: By (the adelic version of) (4.4.4.1) we see that g preserves $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi$, and condition (4.4.5.a) holds with a = id because we identified $H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q})$ with V. Thus $[A_h, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ is an element of \mathcal{A} . Secondly, choosing (h', g') in the same class as (h, g), we see that $h' = q \circ h \circ q^{-1}$ and g' = qgz for some $q \in G(\mathbb{Q})$ and $z \in \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$. Then q defines an F-compatible isomorphism of Hodge structures $H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H_1(A_{h'}, \mathbb{Q})$, i.e. an F-compatible isogeny $A_h \to A_{h'}$. It moreover preserves $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$, and together with g' = qgzthis shows that q defines an isomorphism of quadruples $(A_h, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (A_{h'}, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g'\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$. Thus α is well-defined.

• Definition of β .

In the other direction, we define the map

$$\beta \colon \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(G, X)(\mathbb{C})$$
$$\left[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right] \longmapsto [a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta],$$

where h_A denotes the Hodge structure of A and a is an isomorphism as in (4.4.5.a).

• The map β is well-defined.

First of all, part of condition (4.4.5.a) says that $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X$. Also, $[a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta] \in \operatorname{Sh}(G, X)(\mathbb{C}) = G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ depends only on the class $\eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$, i.e. is unchanged if η is replaced by $\eta \circ z$ for any $z \in \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}$. Moreover, $a \circ \eta$ is clearly an $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}$ -linear endomorphism of $V(\mathbb{A}_f)$, hence an element of $(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, and by (4.4.5.a) and the condition on η we see that $a \circ \eta$ preserves $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi$. Thus by (the adelic version of) (4.4.4.1) we conclude that $a \circ \eta \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ as desired, so $[a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta]$ is an element of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)(\mathbb{C})$.

Secondly, if $a': H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ is another isomorphism satisfying (4.4.5.a), then $q := a' \circ a^{-1}: V \to V$ preserves $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$ (by (4.4.5.a) for both a and a'), hence by (4.4.4.1) is an element of $G(\mathbb{Q})$. This shows

$$[a' \circ h_A \circ (a')^{-1}, a' \circ \eta] = [q \circ a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \circ q^{-1}, q \circ a \circ \eta] = [a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta],$$

so β is independent of the choice of a.

Thirdly, choose $(A', i', R(\mathbb{Q})s', \eta'\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ in the same class as $(A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$. This means there is an isogeny $f: A \to A'$ with the properties in (4.4.6). Look at $a' := a \circ f^{-1}: H_1(A', \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$. Then a' satisfies (4.4.5.a) for the quadruple $(A', i', R(\mathbb{Q})s', \eta'\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$: It sends $R(\mathbb{Q})s'$ to $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$ by combining (4.4.5.a) for a with (4.4.6); since f is an isogeny, this means $h_{A'} = f \circ h_A \circ f^{-1}$, hence

$$a' \circ h_{A'} \circ (a')^{-1} = a \circ f^{-1} \circ h_{A'} \circ f \circ a^{-1} = a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X.$$

Thus we may take a' to compute β using the representative $(A', i', R(\mathbb{Q})s', \eta' Z(\mathbb{Q}))$

of $[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$, resulting in

$$(a' \circ h_{A'} \circ a', a' \circ \eta') = (a \circ f^{-1} \circ h_{A'} \circ f \circ a^{-1}, a \circ f^{-1} \circ f \circ \eta) = (a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta).$$

Thus β is well-defined.

• α and β are inverses of each other.

Let us first show that $\alpha \circ \beta = \text{id}$: The map β sends $[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ to $[a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}, a \circ \eta]$; applying α to this results in $[A_{a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}}, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, a \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$. The Hodge structure of $A_{a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}}$ is given by $h_{A_{a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}}} = a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}$, hence a defines an isogeny $A \to A_{a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1}}$ sending $R(\mathbb{Q})s$ to $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi$ by (4.4.5.a). Thus the isogeny a satisfies the conditions of (4.4.6), and we conclude

$$\left[A_{a\circ h_A\circ a^{-1}}, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, a\circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right] = \left[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right],$$

i.e. $\alpha \circ \beta = id.$

Now let us show that $\beta \circ \alpha = \text{id}$: The map α sends [h, g] to $[A_h, i_0, R(\mathbb{Q})\psi, g\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$; applying β using a = id, corresponding to the canonical identification $H_1(A_h, \mathbb{Q}) = V$, gives back [h, g]. Thus

$$\beta \circ \alpha([h,g]) = [h,g].$$

4.4.7 Remark. As mentioned before, the case $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ yields the PEL Hilbert modular variety, in which case Theorem (4.4.5) was already mentioned in (3.2.6), and is proved in [Del71, 4.11].

For most authors, "the" Hilbert modular variety is the Shimura variety associated to $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$, which corresponds to the case $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$, see e.g. [vdG88, Ch. I.7]. In this case, Theorem (4.4.5) is a special case of [Del71, 4.14] and simplifies significantly:

The Hodge structure $H_1(A, \mathbb{Q})$ of any abelian variety A of dimension $[F : \mathbb{Q}]$ with real multiplication by F is a two-dimensional F-vector space, hence by the proof of Lemma (2.3.6) the F^{\times} -class of any non-zero, alternating, \mathbb{Q} -bilinear, F-compatible form s consists of all such forms and hence always contains a polarisation. Moreover, $\bigwedge_F^2 H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \cong F$ also implies that any F-linear isogeny will preserve the F^{\times} -class of such a form. In conclusion, we can simply forget about the polarisation as part of the data. Moreover, condition (4.4.5.a) is automatic because the $G_1(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class X_1 consists of all F-compatible (polarisable) \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures on $V = F^2$.

4.4.8 (Canonical model of $\text{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$). In the PEL case $R = \mathbb{G}_m$, the canonical model of the Shimura variety $\text{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ is a fine moduli space for a certain moduli

problem involving abelian varieties with real multiplication, polarisation, and level structure, see (3.2.8).

For general R, the canonical model of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ is a coarse moduli space for a similar functor modelled on the set \mathcal{A}^R in the proof of Theorem (4.4.5), see [DT04, Remarque 2.8.1)]. The case $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ of the Hilbert modular variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)$ is explained in more detail in [TX16, §2.3, in particular after Prop. 2.4]. See also [Hid04, §4.2.1], [Liu16, §2.4.1] and [DS17, §2.5 and §2.7].

4.4.9. (Aut(\mathbb{C})-equivariance) In particular, (4.4.8) implies that for all R the bijection of Theorem (4.4.5) is Aut(\mathbb{C})-equivariant, i.e. conjugate points correspond to conjugate abelian varieties. Since [DT04, 2.8.1)] does not give many details and we will crucially use this equivariance, let us briefly explain an alternative proof of this fact, relying only on the coarse moduli space interpretation in the case $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$.

Namely, look at the following commutative diagram

$$\mathcal{A}^{R}(\mathbb{C}) \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{1}(\mathbb{C})$$

$$\left| \sim \qquad \right| \sim$$

$$\operatorname{Sh}(G^{R}, X^{R})(\mathbb{C}) \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(G_{1}, X_{1})(\mathbb{C}),$$

where $\mathcal{A}_1(\mathbb{C}) := \mathcal{A}^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m}(\mathbb{C})$. In this diagram, the vertical maps are the bijections of Theorem (4.4.5). The bottom horizontal arrow is induced from the inclusion $G^R \subset G_1$ and is a closed immersion by [Del71, 1.15.1], and the top horizontal arrow is chosen to make the diagram commute; explicitly, it maps $[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z^R(\mathbb{Q})}]$ to $[A, i, F^{\times}s, \eta \overline{Z_1(\mathbb{Q})}]$.

If we let $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ act on $\mathcal{A}^{R}(\mathbb{C})$ and $\mathcal{A}_{1}(\mathbb{C})$ by conjugating the abelian variety (and its extra structure), then the top horizontal arrow is clearly $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant. By [Del71, 5.4], the bottom horizontal arrow is the base change of a map between the canonical models defined over \mathbb{Q} , thus this arrow is also $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant. Finally, by [TX16] the canonical model for $\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)$ is a coarse moduli space for such a functor, thus the right vertical map is $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant, too. Hence the left vertical map is $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant, which is what we wanted to show.

4.4.10 (Special points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$). In analogy to (3.2.7), special points correspond to CM abelian varieties. If [h, g] corresponds to $[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ under the bijection in (4.4.5), then [h, g] is special if and only if A has CM by a CM algebra, and it again turns out that this CM algebra is automatically a CM field that is a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F.

Now let $[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta Z(\mathbb{Q})]$ be a special point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, where K is a CM field and $i: K \to \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ is an extension of $i: F \to \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. By Lemma (2.3.6) the polarisation s is automatically K-compatible. Thus (A, i, s) is a triple as

in (2.3.4), so we can find $\Phi, \Theta, \mathfrak{a}, t$ such that

$$[A, i, R(\mathbb{Q})s, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}] = [\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{t}, \Theta^{-1} \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}].$$

We claim that conversely, as long as t satisfies (2.3.4.b) and η sends $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi_0$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)E_t$, a quadruple of the form $[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_t, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ always satisfies (4.4.5.a) and hence defines a point of $\mathrm{Sh}(G, X)$.

Proof of claim. We identify the tangent space at 0 of $\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$ with \mathbb{C}^{Φ} . Then, for $f \in F$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(i_{\Phi}(f)|\operatorname{Tgt}_{0}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}))\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\varphi(f)\right)_{\varphi\in\Phi}|\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}\right) = \sum_{x\in\Sigma_{F}} x(f),$$

hence the quadruple fulfills condition (3.2.5.e) (E_t is clearly *F*-compatible because it is even *K*-compatible). Since this, in turn, is equivalent to (3.2.4.a) (i.e. condition (4.4.5.a) in the PEL case), this means that there exists an *F*-linear isomorphism $a: H_1(A, \mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} V$ that sends $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} E_t$ to $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \psi_0$ and satisfies $a \circ h_A \circ a^{-1} \in X^{\mathbb{G}_m}$. In particular, a sends $R(\mathbb{Q})E_t$ to $R(\mathbb{Q})\psi_0$, and since $X^{\mathbb{G}_m} \subset X^R$, we conclude that $[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_t, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ is a point of \mathcal{A}^R .

We continue to suppress uniformizations from notation and will henceforth write CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ as $[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$. Here it is enough if some element $t' \in R(\mathbb{Q})t$ satisfies (2.3.4.b), but we usually choose t to satisfy (2.3.4.b) itself.

As promised, we will now define a certain subgroup of the plectic group and an action of this group on the set of CM points of $Sh(G^R, X^R)$, generalising (4.2.10).

4.4.11. (Subgroup of the plectic group associated to R) As before, let R be a \mathbb{Q} algebraic torus with $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. We have subgroups $R(\mathbb{Q}) \subset F^{\times}$ and $R(\mathbb{A}_f) \subset \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}$. Let $R(\mathbb{Q})_{>0} := R(\mathbb{Q}) \cap F_{>0}^{\times}$. We then have an injective map

$$R(\mathbb{A}_f)/R(\mathbb{Q})_{>0} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times}.$$

We define the subgroup $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{CM}^R$ of the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ by the Cartesian diagram



We also define

$$\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}} := \beta_s^{-1} \left((S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})^R_{\operatorname{CM}} \right) \subset \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}),$$

which is independent of s by (4.1.9.b).

4.4.12 Remark. For $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ we clearly have

$$(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{CM}}^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_{m}} = S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}, \quad \mathrm{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\mathrm{CM}}^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_{m}} = \mathrm{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

For $R = \mathbb{G}_m$, we have $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{\times} = \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$. The bottom left entries of the defining Cartesian diagrams for the groups $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{CM}}^{\mathbb{G}_m}$ and $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_0$ in (4.4.11) and (4.2.8), respectively, are related by the isomorphism $r_{\mathbb{Q}} \colon \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} \to \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{ab}}$ or its inverse $\chi_{\mathrm{cyc}} \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\mathrm{ab}} \to \hat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}$. Using the commutative diagrams (2.4.3) and (4.3.5.b), we conclude that

$$(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{CM}}^{\mathbb{G}_{m}} = (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{0}, \quad \mathrm{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\mathrm{CM}}^{\mathbb{G}_{m}} = \mathrm{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{0}.$$

For general R, note that $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R$ induces

$$(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_0 \subset (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{CM}}^R, \quad \mathrm{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_0 \subset \mathrm{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\mathrm{CM}}^R.$$

4.4.13. (Plectic action on the CM points of $Sh(G^R, X^R)$) Let $(G, X) = (G^R, X^R)$ and let $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ be a type as in (2.3.5), with K a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F. We look at the CM point

$$\mathcal{P} = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right]$$

of the Shimura variety Sh(G, X).

Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ and $\widetilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \widetilde{f}K^{\times} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}/K^{\times}$. Let $u \in R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be such that $\chi_F \circ (1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma) = uF_{>0}^{\times}$. The existence of u is guaranteed by the definition of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$. Finally denote $\chi := \frac{u}{1+c\widetilde{f}}$, which lies in F^{\times} , see (4.4.13.2) below.

Define

$$\gamma \left[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right] := \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi} / \gamma \Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f} \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right].$$

$$(4.4.13.1)$$

This defines a group action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ on the set of CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Proof. There are several things to check in order to show that this is well-defined and in fact does give an action of $(\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}))_{\mathrm{CM}}^R$ on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, namely that (4.4.13.1) defines a point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$, does not depend on the choice of u, \tilde{f} , or the representative $(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_t, \eta \overline{Z}(\mathbb{Q}))$ of \mathcal{P} (i.e. of the uniformization), that the resulting point is again a CM point with K-compatible $(R(\mathbb{Q})$ - class of) polarisation, and that this defines a group action:

• (4.4.13.1) does not depend on the choice of u:

A different choice for u must be of the form u' = au with $a \in R(\mathbb{Q})_{>0}$. This changes χ to $\chi' = a\chi$, hence the polarisations $E_{\chi t}$ and $E_{\chi' t}$ lie in the same $R(\mathbb{Q})$ -class.

• (4.4.13.1) does not depend on the choice of f:

Let $\widetilde{f}'K^{\times} = \widetilde{f}K^{\times} = \widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}/K^{\times}$. Then $\widetilde{f}' = k\widetilde{f}$ for some $k \in K^{\times}$, and k defines an isogeny $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(k\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$ that sends the polarisation $E_{\chi t}$ to $E_{\frac{\chi}{1+c_k}t}$ and the level structure $\widetilde{f} \circ \eta$ to $k \circ \widetilde{f} \circ \eta$, i.e. k induces an equality between $\left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f} \circ \eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right]$ and

$$\left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f}'\mathfrak{a}),i_{\gamma\Phi}|_{F},R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi't},\widetilde{f}'\circ\eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right],$$

where $\chi' = \frac{u}{1+c\tilde{f'}} = \frac{\chi}{1+ck}$.

• (4.4.13.1) does not depend on the choice of uniformization:

By (2.3.5), a different choice of uniformization yields a different representative $(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(k\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{t_{2}}, k \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})})$ of \mathcal{P} , for some $k \in K^{\times}$ and $t_{2} := \frac{t}{1+c_{k}}$. The right hand side of (4.4.13.1) then becomes

$$\left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(k\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}),i_{\gamma\Phi}|_{F},R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi\frac{t}{k\cdot\overline{k}}},\widetilde{f}\circ k\circ\eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right].$$

But again we can view k as an isogeny $k \colon \mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f\mathfrak{a}}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(k\widetilde{f\mathfrak{a}})$, which induces an equality between $\left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f\mathfrak{a}}), i_{\gamma\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f} \circ \eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right]$ and

$$\left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(k\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}),i_{\gamma\Phi}|_{F},R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi\frac{t}{k\cdot\overline{k}}},k\circ\widetilde{f}\circ\eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right],$$

as desired.

• (4.4.13.1) defines a CM point of Sh(G, X):

We need to check that the right hand side of (4.4.13.1) lies in \mathcal{A}^R (see Theorem (4.4.5)). But if we show that $\tilde{f} \circ \eta$ is compatible with the $R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -classes of the polarisations, and that $R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}$ contains a polarisation of $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$, then this is guaranteed by (4.4.10).

-
$$f \circ \eta$$
 sends $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi_0$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)E_{\chi t}$:

For $v, w \in V(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we have

$$E_{\chi t}\left(\widetilde{f} \circ \eta(v), \widetilde{f} \circ \eta(w)\right) = \operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\left(ut\eta(v)\overline{\eta(w)}\right)$$
$$= E_t\left(\eta(uv), \eta(w)\right)$$
$$= \psi_0\left(urv, w\right), \quad \text{for some } r \in R(\mathbb{A}_f).$$

Here the first equality uses the definition of $E_{\chi t}$ and of χ , the second equality follows from the $\mathbb{A}_{F,f} \subset \mathbb{A}_{K,f}$ -linearity of η and the definition of E_t , and the third equality follows because η sends $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi_0$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)E_t$.

As u by definition lies in $R(\mathbb{A}_f)$, this calculation precisely shows that $\widetilde{f} \circ \eta$ sends $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi_0$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)E_{\chi t}$. This explains why we had to restrict to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ — for arbitrary $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ we only have $u \in \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}$, but we need $u \in R(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

- $R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}$ contains a polarisation of $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\widetilde{f\mathfrak{a}})$:

We need to calculate the signs of the imaginary part of χt under embeddings $\varphi \in \Sigma_K$. Recall that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi(t) > 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi$. To calculate the signs of χ , recall (4.1.11.c) that

$$\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}} = (1, \mathrm{prod})(\beta_s(\gamma)) \prod_{x \in \Sigma} c_x^{\alpha_x},$$

where $(\alpha_x)_{x\in\Sigma}$ are given by (4.2.8.1). By (4.3.6) and (4.3.5.a) we thus have

$$N_{K/F}\left(\widetilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma)\right) = \chi_F\left(\widetilde{F}_{\Phi}(\gamma)|_{F^{\mathrm{ab}}}\right) = (\chi_F \circ (1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma))(\alpha F_{>0}^{\times}),$$

where $\alpha \in F^{\times}$ satisfies $\operatorname{sgn}(x(\alpha)) = (-1)^{\alpha_x}$ for $x \in \Sigma$. By choice of \widetilde{f} and u, the last equality implies that

$$\chi \in \alpha^{-1} F_{>0}^{\times}.$$
 (4.4.13.2)

In other words, χ has the same signs as α . These signs are given by (4.2.8.1) and measure the difference between the CM types Φ and $\gamma \Phi$. We conclude that, for $\varphi \in \Sigma_K$, we have

Im
$$\varphi(\chi t) > 0$$
 if and only if $\varphi \in \gamma \Phi$. (4.4.13.3)

Since we know that $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$ has type $\gamma\Phi$, by (2.3.4.b) we conclude that $[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}, \tilde{f}\circ\eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}]$ is a point of $\mathrm{Sh}(G, X)$. It is then automatically a CM point.

• (4.4.13.1) defines a group action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$:

Let $\mathcal{P} = [\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}] \in \mathcal{A}^{R}$ be a CM point with *K*-compatible polarisation E_{t} . Let $\gamma_{1}, \gamma_{2} \in \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{R}_{\mathrm{CM}}$. We show

$$\gamma_2(\gamma_1 \mathcal{P}) = (\gamma_2 \gamma_1) \mathcal{P}. \tag{4.4.13.4}$$

To calculate the left hand side, we first let $\tilde{f}_1 \in \tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma_1)$, $u_1 \in \chi_F \circ (1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma_1)$ and $\chi_1 = \frac{u_1}{1+c\tilde{f}_1} \in K^{\times}$. Then by (4.4.13.1)

$$\gamma_1 \mathcal{P} = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma_1 \Phi} / \gamma_1 \Phi(\widetilde{f}_1 \mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma_1 \Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{\chi_1 t}, \widetilde{f}_1 \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right]$$

Now take $\widetilde{f}_2 \in \widetilde{f}_{\gamma_1 \Phi}(\gamma_2)$, $u_2 \in \chi_F \circ (1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma_2)$ and $\chi_2 = \frac{u_2}{1+c\widetilde{f}_2}$, so we get

$$\gamma_2(\gamma_1 \mathcal{P}) = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma_2 \gamma_1 \Phi} / \gamma_2 \gamma_1 \Phi(\widetilde{f}_2 \widetilde{f}_1 \mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma_2 \gamma_1 \Phi} |_F, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{\chi_2 \chi_1 t}, \widetilde{f}_2 \circ \widetilde{f}_1 \circ \eta \overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})} \right].$$

$$(4.4.13.5)$$

To calculate the right hand side of (4.4.13.4), we use the cocycle relation (4.2.7.c), which allows us to take $\tilde{f} = \tilde{f}_2 \tilde{f}_1 \in \tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma_2 \gamma_1)$ in order to calculate

$$(\gamma_2\gamma_1)\mathcal{P} = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma_2\gamma_1\Phi}/\gamma_2\gamma_1\Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma_2\gamma_1\Phi}|_F, R(\mathbb{Q})E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f}\circ\eta\overline{Z(\mathbb{Q})}\right], \qquad (4.4.13.6)$$

where $\chi = \frac{u}{1+c_{\tilde{f}}} \in K^{\times}$ with $u \in \chi_F \circ (1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma_1 \gamma_2)$. Since $\chi_F \circ (1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s$ is a group homomorphism, we may take $u = u_2 u_1$, resulting in

$$\chi = \frac{u_2 u_1}{1 + c(\widetilde{f}_2 \widetilde{f}_1)} = \chi_2 \chi_1$$

Therefore the right hand sides of (4.4.13.5) and (4.4.13.6) are equal, hence we have shown that (4.4.13.4) holds.

• (4.4.13.1) extends the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ to $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$:

The reflex field of (G^R, X^R) is \mathbb{Q} , and by (4.4.8) the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action on the $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -points of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ is given by conjugating the corresponding abelian variety and its extra structure. In particular, this applies to CM points as they are defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, where the Galois conjugate can again be described using Tate's half transfer. By (4.3.7) this agrees with (4.4.13.1).

For each Q-algebraic torus R with $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as above, we have defined a plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ and an action of this group on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. These Shimura varieties are variants of the Hilbert modular variety, and their moduli interpretation (4.4.5) only differ in the degree of precision with which they include polarisations and level structures. The calculations in the above proof show that it was crucial to restrict to $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$, precisely because then and only then the level structure $\tilde{f} \circ \eta$ sends $R(\mathbb{A}_f)\psi_0$ to $R(\mathbb{A}_f)E_{\chi t}$.

4.4.14 Remark. Let us make a few comments about the two extreme cases:

(4.4.14.a) If R = G_m, then Sh(G^{G_m}, X^{G_m}) is equal to the PEL Hilbert modular variety Sh(G, X) of (3.2.2). We have defined two plectic actions on its CM points, namely in (4.2.10) and in (4.4.13), which we will compare now:
We already remarked in (4.4.12) that the involved plectic groups Aut_F(F ⊗_Q Q)_{CM} are the same. Moreover, by (4.3.5.b) we can take u in (4.4.13.1) to be χ_{cyc}(ũ) in (4.2.10.1), and then the two formulae giving the plectic action agree.

(4.4.14.b) If $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, then $\operatorname{Sh}(G^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m}, X^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m})$ is equal to the Hilbert modular variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)$ of (3.2.1). In this case, (4.4.13) gives an action of the entire plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ on the CM points of the Hilbert modular variety. This proves [NS16, Prop. 6.8].

4.4.15 Remark. It is an interesting question in what way the group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\operatorname{CM}}$ and its action on the CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ depend on the choice of splitting χ_F . (4.4.14.a) shows that for $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ the property (4.3.5.b) prescribes the values of the splitting χ_F on the image of $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \colon \Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}}_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{\mathrm{ab}}_F$, which is all that is needed. However, for all other choices of R, including $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, this question remains open.

$\mathbf{5}$

Plectic action on the set of connected components of variants of Hilbert modular varieties

Fix a totally real number field F and an algebraic torus R over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. The goal of this chapter is to define an action of a certain plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\pi_0}^R$ on the set $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$ of connected components of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$. Here $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ is the variant of the Hilbert modular variety defined in (4.4.2). This action of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\pi_0}^R$ can be viewed as a plectic structure, in the vague sense of Section 1.1.2, on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$.

In Section 5.1 we start by recalling the description of the set of connected components of an arbitrary Shimura variety as a zero-dimensional Shimura variety. Specialising to $Sh(G^R, X^R)$, we see in (5.1.9) that

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R),$$

where VZ^R is a certain subset of $\{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}$ defined in (5.1.6).

In Section 5.2 we recall that the Galois action on the set of connected components of a Shimura variety is given by a reciprocity homomorphism. Again specialising to $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, we see in (5.2.4) that $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)) \cong \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ and explicitly describe the action of $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ in terms of class field theory. In (5.2.6) we define the group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ and an action of this group on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$, extending the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. We then show in (5.2.9) that $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\mathrm{CM}}$ embeds canonically into $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ and prove Theorem (1.2.1) in (5.2.10), namely that the π_0 -map is $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\mathrm{CM}}$ -equivariant when restricted to CM points.

In the Appendix 5.3 we formulate a cohomological condition on the algebraic torus R that implies that the group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ is a subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Namely, we show that if the Shafarevich–Tate group $\operatorname{III}(R)$ of R vanishes (condition (5.3.4.1)), then $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ is a subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Examples of tori R satisfying (5.3.4.1) include $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ and $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. Moreover, if for instance the extension F/\mathbb{Q} is cyclic, then every R satisfies (5.3.4.1).

For the description of the set of connected components of a general Shimura variety, we use [Mil17, §5, §12-13]. For background on the Galois cohomology of tori, see [Tat66, PR94].

5.1 Connected components of Shimura varieties

In this section we recall facts about connected components of Shimura varieties from [Mil17, §5]:

5.1.1. (Notation) Fix a Shimura datum (G, X). We will write

- G^{der} for the *derived group* of G, i.e. the group spanned by all commutators of elements of G.
- $T = G/G^{der}$ for the *cocentre* of G, and $\nu: G \to T$ for the quotient map.
- Z for the centre and $G^{\mathrm{ad}} := G/Z$ for the adjoint group of G.
- $T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger} := \nu(Z(\mathbb{R}))$ and $T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} := T(\mathbb{Q}) \cap T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger}$.

We state [Mil17, Thm 5.17]:

5.1.2 Theorem. Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum and U be a sufficiently small compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. If moreover G^{der} is simply connected, then the set of connected components of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}_U(G, X)$ is given by

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}_U(G,X)) \xrightarrow{\sim} T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f) / \nu(U).$$

The proof of Theorem (5.1.2) can be found in [Mil17, Thm 5.17]. However, it will be useful to describe the bijection explicitly.

5.1.3. $(\pi_0\text{-map})$ We use the notation of (5.1.2). As always, we will mostly work in the limit over all compact open subgroups, but for the moment let us fix a sufficiently small compact open subgroup $U \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Let us describe the map

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}_U(G, X) \twoheadrightarrow T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \backslash T(\mathbb{A}_f) / \nu(U).$$

It is given as the composition

$$G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [X \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/U] \xrightarrow{\sim} G(\mathbb{Q})_+ \setminus [X^+ \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/U] \longrightarrow T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f)/\nu(U)$$
(5.1.3.1)

where

- $G(\mathbb{R})_+$ is the preimage in $G(\mathbb{R})$ of the identity component of $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$, and $G(\mathbb{Q})_+ := G(\mathbb{Q}) \cap G(\mathbb{R})_+.$
- X^+ denotes a connected component of X.

The first arrow is induced from the inclusion of X^+ into X, and is a bijection by [Mil17, Lem 5.11]. The second map is induced by $\nu: G(\mathbb{A}_f) \to T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, forgetting the X^+ -coordinate.

5.1.4 Remark. (Zero-dimensional Shimura varieties) The double quotient

$$T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f) / \nu(U)$$

occuring in (5.1.2) looks similar to a double quotient defined by a Shimura variety. Let us make this resemblance even more striking:

Using the notation of (5.1.2), we also write $Y := T(\mathbb{R})/T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger}$. By real approximation¹, we have $Y = T(\mathbb{Q})/T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger}$. Moreover, Y is finite by [Mil17, p. 59, after (34)]. For any compact open subgroup $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we have the bijection

$$T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f) / U \xrightarrow{\sim} T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [Y \times T(\mathbb{A}_f) / U]$$

$$[g] \longmapsto [1, g].$$
(5.1.4.1)

Proof. It is easy to check that this map is well-defined and surjective. For the injectivity, assume $[1,g] = [1,g'] \in T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [Y \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)/U]$ for $g,g' \in T(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Then there exist $q \in T(\mathbb{Q})$ and $u \in U$ such that (q,qgu) = (1,g'). This means in particular that $q = 1 \in T(\mathbb{Q})/T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger}$, i. e. $q \in T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger}$ and therefore [g] = [g'] in $T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f)/U$.

We denote the double quotient $T(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus [Y \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)/U]$ by $\operatorname{Sh}_U(T,Y)$ although (T,Y) is not a Shimura datum because T is abelian and hence a $T(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of Hodge structures has to consist of a single element, whereas Y is a finite set with usually more than one element.

We still call such $\operatorname{Sh}_U(T, Y)$ a zero-dimensional Shimura variety, using the convention of [Mil17, p. 62-63], namely that in place of the $T(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class of Hodge structures we allow a finite set with a transitive $T(\mathbb{R})/T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger}$ -action. Here, this finite set is precisely $Y = T(\mathbb{R})/T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger}$. And, of course, we denote the projective limit over all compact open subgroups $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$ by $\operatorname{Sh}(T, Y)$.

In this way, Theorem (5.1.2) tells us that the set of connected components of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}_{U}(G, X)$ is the zero-dimensional Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}_{\nu(U)}(T, Y)$,

¹This is [Mil17, p. 63, l. 4]. For a slightly more elaborate explanation in the case of interest, see (5.1.8).

and the map

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}_U(G, X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\nu(U)}(T, Y)$$
(5.1.4.2)

is given as the composition of (5.1.3.1) and (5.1.4.1). In the projective limit over all compact open subgroups $U \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ we get

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}(G, X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(T, Y).$$
 (5.1.4.3)

5.1.5 Example. (Hilbert modular variety and PEL Hilbert modular variety) We will explicitly describe the map π_0 for the variants of the Hilbert modular variety introduced in (4.4.2). But let us first look at two familiar examples in detail:

- (5.1.5.a) Let $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ and $X_1 = (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ be the Shimura datum associated to the Hilbert modular variety (3.2.1), where we denote $\Sigma = \Sigma_F = \operatorname{Hom}(F, \mathbb{C})$. Then:
 - $G_1^{\text{der}} = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{SL}_2$, so $\nu = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\text{det}) \colon G_1 \to R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$. In particular, $T = T_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$. We will also denote ν by $d_F \colon G_1 \to T_1$.
 - $Z = Z_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathbb{G}_m).$
 - $T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger} = \{g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in (F \otimes \mathbb{R})^{\times} = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \mathbb{R}_x^{\times} \mid g_x > 0 \ \forall x \in \Sigma\} = (F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})_{>0}^{\times} \cong (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} \text{ and hence } T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} = F_{>0}^{\times} \text{ and } Y = F^{\times}/F_{>0}^{\times} = \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}.$
 - $G_1(\mathbb{R})_+ = \{g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in \operatorname{GL}_2(F \otimes \mathbb{R}) \mid \det(g_x) > 0 \ \forall x \in \Sigma \}.$
 - We choose the component $X_1^+ = \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma}$ of X_1 .

Chasing through the description of the map π_0 in (5.1.3) yields the following: Take $[h,g] \in \operatorname{Sh}_U(G_1, X_1)$, with h corresponding to $(z_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ under (3.2.1.2). The first arrow in (5.1.4.2) is given by

$$[h,g] \longmapsto [aha^{-1},ag] \in G(\mathbb{Q})_+ \setminus \left[X^+ \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)/U\right]_+$$

where $a = \begin{pmatrix} f & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in G_1(\mathbb{Q}) = \operatorname{GL}_2(F)$ with $f \in F^{\times}$ an arbitrary element satisfying $\operatorname{sgn}(x(f)) = \operatorname{sgn}(\operatorname{Im} z_x)$ for each $x \in \Sigma$, because then the Hodge structure aha^{-1} corresponds to $(fz_x)_{x\in\Sigma} \in \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma}$ under (3.2.1.2). Hence (5.1.3.1) is given by

$$[h,g] \longmapsto [d_F(a)d_F(g)] \in T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} \setminus T(\mathbb{A}_f)/\nu(U).$$

Finally, composing this with (5.1.4.1) and using $d_F(a) = f \in F^{\times} = T(\mathbb{Q})$, we get (in the inverse limit over U)

$$\pi_0\colon \operatorname{Sh}(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\operatorname{GL}_2, (\mathbb{C}\setminus\mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}),$$
$$[(z_x)_{x\in\Sigma}, g] \longmapsto [(\operatorname{sgn}\operatorname{Im} z_x)_{x\in\Sigma}, d_F(g)].$$

- (5.1.5.b) Let (G, X) be the Shimura datum associated to the PEL Hilbert modular variety, see (3.2.2); in particular, we have $X = \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma} \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^{\Sigma}$. Then:
 - $G^{\text{der}} = G_1^{\text{der}} = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{SL}_2$, so $T = \mathbb{G}_m$ and $\nu = d_F|_G \colon G \to \mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, where the second arrow is the embedding $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ of (3.2.2).
 - $Z = Z_1 \cap G$ has \mathbb{Q} -points $Z(\mathbb{Q}) = \{t \in F^{\times} \mid t^2 \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}\}.$
 - $T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger} = \{g = (g)_{x \in \Sigma} \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} \subset \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \mathbb{R}_{x}^{\times} \mid g > 0\} = \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times}$ and hence $T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} = \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{\times}$.
 - $Y = \mathbb{Q}^{\times} / \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{\times} = \{\pm 1\}.$
 - $G^{\mathrm{ad}} = G_1^{\mathrm{ad}}$, hence $G(\mathbb{R})_+ = \{g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in G(\mathbb{R}) \mid \det(g_x) > 0 \ \forall x \in \Sigma\}.$
 - We choose the component $X^+ = \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma}$ of X.

Chasing through (5.1.3) in the same way as in (5.1.5.a) yields

$$\pi_0\colon \operatorname{Sh}(G, X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}),$$
$$[(z_x)_{x \in \Sigma}, g] \longmapsto [\operatorname{sgn} \operatorname{Im} z_{x_0}, d_F(g)],$$

for any choice of $x_0 \in \Sigma$.

Before repeating this procedure for the Shimura varieties $Sh(G^R, X^R)$ of (4.4.2), let us first decribe X^R in more concrete terms.

5.1.6 Lemma. The $G^{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class $X^{\mathbb{R}}$ is in bijection with the set

$$\{(z_x)_{x\in\Sigma}\in(\mathbb{C}\setminus\mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}\mid(\operatorname{sgn}\operatorname{Im} z_x)_{x\in\Sigma}\in\mathrm{VZ}^R\},\qquad(5.1.6.1)$$

where VZ^R is the subgroup² of $\{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}$ defined by

$$\mathrm{VZ}^{R} := \left(R(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} \right) / (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} \subset (\mathbb{R}^{\times})^{\Sigma} / (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} = \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}.$$

In other words,

$$\pi_0(X^R) = \mathrm{VZ}^R \,.$$

 $^{^{2 \}prime \prime} \mathrm{VZ}^{\prime \prime}$ is short for "Vorzeichen", the German word for signs.

5.1.7 Remark. Before starting the proof, let us remark that in the cases $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ and $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ considered in (5.1.5), we get $\mathrm{VZ}^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m} = \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathrm{VZ}^{\mathbb{G}_m} = \{(1, \ldots, 1), (-1, \ldots, -1)\} \cong \{\pm 1\}$. Hence $X^{R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m} = (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ and $X^{\mathbb{G}_m} = \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma} \sqcup (-\mathfrak{h})^{\Sigma}$. So (5.1.6) includes (3.2.1.2) and proves (3.2.2.2).

Proof of Lemma (5.1.6). Let us temporarily denote G^R by G and the set in (5.1.6.1) by W. First of all, recall that $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ is identified with the $G_1(\mathbb{R})$ -conjugacy class X_1 of $h_0: \mathbb{S} \to G_{1,\mathbb{R}}$, see (3.2.1.2). We saw in (3.2.2) that h_0 factors through $G^{\mathbb{G}_m}$, and $G^{\mathbb{G}_m} \subset G^R = G$, so we may view h_0 as a morphism $h_0: \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$. Under the identification in (3.2.1.2), it remains to calculate the orbit $G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \ldots, i)$. We claim that this orbit is equal to W:

• Step 1: $G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \dots, i) \subset W$.

If $(z_x)_x = (g_x \cdot i)_x$ for some $(g_x)_x \in G(\mathbb{R})$, then $\operatorname{sgn}(\operatorname{Im} z_x) = \operatorname{sgn}(\det g_x)$ for all $x \in \Sigma$ by the usual formula for the imaginary part under Möbius transformations. As $(\det g_x)_x \in R(\mathbb{R})$ by definition of G, we get $(\operatorname{sgn} \det g_x)_x \in \operatorname{VZ}^R$. This means $(z_x)_x \in W$.

• Step 2: If $(z_x)_x \in G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \dots, i)$, and $(z'_x)_x$ satisfies sgn Im $z_x = \text{sgn Im } z'_x$ for all $x \in \Sigma$, then $(z'_x)_x \in G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \dots, i)$.

As $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ acts transitively on $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$, there exists a $(g_x)_x \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ such that $g_x \cdot z_x = z'_x$ for all x. By assumption on the signs of the imaginary parts, we know that det $g_x > 0$ for all x. Now rescale every g_x by a scalar in order to get det $g_x = 1$ and still $g_x \cdot z_x = z'_x$ for all x, which is possible since scalars do not affect the action by Möbius transformations. Thus we get $(g_x)_x \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})^{\Sigma} \subset G(\mathbb{R})$, which implies $(z'_x)_x \in G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \ldots, i)$.

• Step 3: For any $(\varepsilon_x)_x \in VZ^R$, there exists $(z_x)_x \in G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \ldots, i)$ such that sgn Im $z_x = \varepsilon_x$ for all x.

By definition, there exists $(\lambda_x)_x \in R(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\operatorname{sgn} \lambda_x = \varepsilon_x$ for all $x \in \Sigma$. Then $(g_x)_x := \left(\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_x & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right)_x$ lies in $G(\mathbb{R})$ by definition of G and satisfies det $g_x = \lambda_x$ for all x. Hence $(z_x)_x := (g_x)_x \cdot (i, \ldots, i) \in G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \ldots, i)$ satisfies $\operatorname{sgn} \operatorname{Im} z_x = \varepsilon_x$. Together, steps 2 and 3 imply $W \subset G(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (i, \ldots, i)$.

We can also describe the set VZ^R in terms of rational points of the torus R:

5.1.8 Lemma. Let R be a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus as before. Then the inclusion $R(\mathbb{Q}) \hookrightarrow R(\mathbb{R})$ induces a bijection

$$(R(\mathbb{Q}) \cdot F_{>0}^{\times})/F_{>0}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} (R(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma}) / (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} = \mathrm{VZ}^{R}$$

Proof. The map is well-defined and injective since an element of $R(\mathbb{Q}) \subset F^{\times}$ that lies in $(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma_{F}}$ clearly lies in $F_{>0}^{\times}$. For the surjectivity: Using the usual canonical isomorphisms, we can write the above map as

$$R(\mathbb{Q})/R(\mathbb{Q}) \cap F_{>0}^{\times} \longrightarrow R(\mathbb{R})/R(\mathbb{R}) \cap (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma}.$$

The surjectivity now follows because $R(\mathbb{Q})$ is dense in $R(\mathbb{R})$ by real approximation [Mil17, Thm 5.4] for the torus R, and $R(\mathbb{R}) \cap (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma}$ is open in $R(\mathbb{R})$. \Box

Now let us describe the π_0 -map for $Sh(G^R, X^R)$:

5.1.9 Example (General Hilbert modular variety). Let $(G, X) = (G^R, X^R)$ be the Shimura datum of (4.4.2), with R a Q-algebraic torus as before, and let us identify X^R with the set in (5.1.6.1). We again calculate the quantities of (5.1.3), see (6.2.9) for the calculation of Z and G^{ad} .

- $G^{\text{der}} = G_1^{\text{der}} = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{SL}_2$, so T = R and $\nu = d_F|_G \colon G \to T$.
- $Z = Z_1 \cap G$.
- $T(\mathbb{R})^{\dagger} = \{g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in R(\mathbb{R}) \subset \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \mathbb{R}_x^{\times} \mid g_x > 0 \ \forall x \in \Sigma\} = R(\mathbb{R}) \cap (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} =: R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \subset (\mathbb{R}^{\times})^{\Sigma} \text{ and hence } T(\mathbb{Q})^{\dagger} = R(\mathbb{Q}) \cap F_{>0}^{\times}.$
- $Y = R(\mathbb{R})/(R(\mathbb{R}) \cap (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma}) = (R(\mathbb{R}) \cdot (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma})/(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\times})^{\Sigma} = \mathrm{VZ}^{R}.$
- $G^{\mathrm{ad}} = G_1^{\mathrm{ad}}$, hence $G(\mathbb{R})_+ = \{g = (g_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in G(\mathbb{R}) \mid \det(g_x) > 0 \ \forall x \in \Sigma\}.$
- We choose the component $X^+ = \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma}$ of X.

Going through the same steps as in (5.1.5.a), we find that

$$\pi_0\colon \operatorname{Sh}(G,X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(R,\operatorname{VZ}^R),$$
$$[(z_x)_{x\in\Sigma},g] \longmapsto [(\operatorname{sgn}\operatorname{Im} z_x)_{x\in\Sigma},d_F(g)].$$

5.2 Plectic Galois action on connected components

Under the hypotheses of (5.1.2), we have given in (5.1.4.3) a rather explicit description of the map π_0 : $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X) \to \operatorname{Sh}(T, Y)$. Moreover, the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)$ has a canonical model over the reflex field E(G, X), so it is natural to expect that the π_0 -map is equivariant with respect to a certain action of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E(G, X))$ on $\operatorname{Sh}(T, Y)$. We quote the following results from [Mil17, (64), p. 119]. Namely, the action on Sh(T, Y) is given by a class field theoretic recipe similar to the one giving the action on Shimura varieties associated to tori (compare [Mil17, (60)-(62), p. 114]). The only difference is a component at infinity of the reciprocity map acting on Y.

5.2.1. (Galois action on connected components) Let (G, X) be an arbitrary Shimura datum such that G^{der} is simply connected. We continue to use the notation of (5.1.2). Let $h_0 \in X$ and $h := \nu \circ h_0 \colon \mathbb{S} \to T_{\mathbb{R}}$. Look at the associated cocharacter μ_h of T, see (2.2.5). By Definition (6.1.11), the reflex field E(G, X) is precisely the field of definition of the unique $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy class contained in the $G(\mathbb{C})$ -conjugacy class of μ_{h_0} , thus μ_h is certainly defined over E(G, X). [Mil17, (60)] defines a morphism of \mathbb{Q} -algebraic groups

$$r = r(T, \mu_h) \colon R_{E(G,X)/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m \longrightarrow T$$

called the reciprocity morphism.

The action of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E(G,X))$ on $\operatorname{Sh}(T,Y)$ is then defined via the adelic points of r and class field theory: Let $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E(G,X))$ and $s \in \mathbb{A}_{E(G,X)}^{\times}$ such that $\operatorname{art}_{E(G,X)}(s) = \sigma|_{E(G,X)^{\operatorname{ab}}}$. Write $r(s) \in T(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ as $r(s) = (r(s)_{\infty}, r(s)_f) \in T(\mathbb{R}) \times T(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Then define

$$\sigma[y,g]_U := [r(s)_{\infty} \cdot y, r(s)_f \cdot g], \quad [y,g]_U \in \operatorname{Sh}_U(T,Y),$$

and similarly in the limit over all compact open subgroups $U \subset T(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Then the map

 $\pi_0 \colon \operatorname{Sh}(G, X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(T, Y)$

is $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C}/E(G,X))$ -equivariant.³

Let us see how (5.2.1) applies to the Hilbert modular varieties $Sh(G^R, X^R)$:

5.2.2 Example (Galois action on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$). We use the general set-up of Example 5.1.9, so we look at the group G^R associated to an algebraic torus R with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{O}}\mathbb{G}_m$.

As mentioned before, the reflex field of (G^R, X^R) is \mathbb{Q} , so (5.2.1) gives an action of Aut(\mathbb{C}) described by class field theory and the adelic points of the reciprocity morphism

$$r: \mathbb{G}_m \longrightarrow T = R.$$

To calculate r, take $h_0 \in X^{\mathbb{G}_m} \subset X^R$ as defined in (4.4.2). Then the cocharacter

³[Mil17, (64), p. 119] states this and sketches a proof. In the case of interest of CM points of variants of the Hilbert modular variety, we will prove a more general result in (5.2.10).

 $\mu_h \colon \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}} \to R_{\mathbb{C}}$ associated to $h = d_F \circ h_0 \colon \mathbb{S} \to R_{\mathbb{R}}$ is given (on \mathbb{C} -points) by

$$\mu_h \colon \mathbb{G}_m \to R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m,$$
$$z \mapsto \qquad (z, \dots, z) \in \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \mathbb{C}_x^{\times} = (F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C})^{\times}.$$

In other words, μ_h is equal to the fixed embedding $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R$. Here we used the assumption of (4.4.2) that



commutes, where the diagonal arrow is given by $z \mapsto (z, \ldots, z) \in \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \mathbb{C}_x^{\times}$ on complex points.

The definition of r in [Mil17, (60)] then immediately says that $r: \mathbb{G}_m \to R$ is equal to μ_h , i.e. r is equal to the fixed embedding $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R$.

Before continuing this example, let us prove the following lemma:

5.2.3 Lemma. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as before. Then

$$\pi_0(\mathrm{Sh}(G^R, X^R)) = \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})).$$

Proof. By (5.1.9) and the definition of $Sh(R, VZ^R)$ and of VZ^R we have

$$\pi_{0}(\mathrm{Sh}(G^{R}, X^{R})) = \mathrm{Sh}(R, \mathrm{VZ}^{R})$$
$$= \underbrace{\lim_{U}}_{U} R(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left[\mathrm{VZ}^{R} \times R(\mathbb{A}_{f}) / U \right]$$
$$= \underbrace{\lim_{U}}_{U} R(\mathbb{A}) / \left(R(\mathbb{Q}) \cdot (R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \times U) \right) ,$$

where $R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} = R(\mathbb{R}) \cap (F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})_{>0}^{\times}$, and the projective limit is taken over all compact open subgroups $U \subset R(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Note that $R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \times U$ is a subgroup of $R(\mathbb{R}) \times R(\mathbb{A}_f) = R(\mathbb{A})$, and that we embed $R(\mathbb{Q})$ diagonally in $R(\mathbb{R}) \times R(\mathbb{A}_f) =$ $R(\mathbb{A})$.

Let us write $C_R := R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})$, which is a subgroup of $C_F = \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times}$ endowed with the subspace topology. Since C_F is a locally compact, complete topological group, so is C_R . Moreover,

$$R(\mathbb{A}) / (R(\mathbb{Q}) \cdot (R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \times U)) = \pi_0 \left(\frac{R(\mathbb{A})}{R(\mathbb{Q}) \cdot [1 \times U]} \right) = \pi_0 (C_R / U'),$$

where we write U' for the subgroup $(R(\mathbb{Q}).[1 \times U])/R(\mathbb{Q})$ of C_R . Taking the projec-

tive limit commutes with π_0 , so

$$\varprojlim_{U} \pi_0(C_R/U') = \pi_0\left(\varprojlim_{U} C_R/U'\right).$$

It remains to show that the canonical map

$$p\colon C_R\longrightarrow \varprojlim_U C_R/U'$$

is an isomorphism.

• *p* is injective:

The kernel of p is the intersection $\bigcap_U U'$. To show it is trivial is the same as showing that

$$\bigcap_{U} R(\mathbb{Q}).[1 \times U] = R(\mathbb{Q}).$$

Now $R(\mathbb{Q})$ is discrete in $R(\mathbb{A})$, so if U is small enough, then

$$R(\mathbb{Q}).[1 \times U] = \prod_{r \in R(\mathbb{Q})} r.[1 \times U].$$

We know that the intersection of all U is 1 (because the intersection of all compact open subgroups of \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} is 1), hence

$$\bigcap_{U} \left(\prod_{r \in R(\mathbb{Q})} r \cdot [1 \times U] \right) = R(\mathbb{Q}),$$

as desired.

• p is surjective:

To ease notation, use the fact that the topology on $R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ is second countable and choose a neighbourhood basis of the identity of the form

$$U_1 \supset U_2 \supset \ldots$$

with $U_n \subset R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ compact open subgroups, and $\bigcap_n U_n = 1$. Note that this system of neighbourhoods is cofinal for the system of all compact open subgroups $U \subset R(\mathbb{A}_f)$, so we have

$$\varprojlim_U C_R/U' = \varprojlim_n C_R/U'_n.$$

Similarly, choose auxiliary open subsets

$$V_1 \supset V_2 \supset \ldots$$

of $R(\mathbb{R})$ with $\bigcap_n V_n = \{1\}$. Then $W_n := V_n \times U_n$ is a cofinal system of open neighbourhoods of 1 in $R(\mathbb{A})$ (because $\bigcap_n W_n = 1$), and similarly the images W'_n of W_n inside C_R form a cofinal system of open neighbourhoods of 1.

Now assume that $(y_n U'_n)_n \in \varprojlim_n C_R/U'_n$, with $y_n \in C_R$. Fix $N \in \mathbb{N}$. By definition of the projective limit, we have for all $m \geq N$

$$y_m \equiv y_N \mod U'_N,$$

i.e.

$$y_m^{-1} y_N \in U_N'. \tag{5.2.3.1}$$

In particular, for all $m, n \ge N$ we have

$$y_m^{-1}y_n = (y_m^{-1}y_N)(y_n^{-1}y_N)^{-1} \in U'_N \subset W'_N.$$

By the cofinality of the system $(W'_N)_N$, this means that $(y_n)_n$ is a Cauchy sequence inside C_R . But C_R is complete, so the sequence $(y_n)_n$ converges to a limit $y \in C_R$. We claim that

$$p(y) = (y_n U_n')_n,$$

which then implies that p is surjective.

Proof of claim. Since $(y_n)_n$ converges to y, we in particular have, for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$y \equiv y_N \mod W'_N. \tag{5.2.3.2}$$

If we can show this congruence modulo U'_N instead of W'_N , we are done since this then says

$$p(y) = (y_N U'_N)_N.$$

Let $(a_n, b_n) \in R(\mathbb{R}) \times R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ (resp. (a, b)) denote a lift of $y_n \in C_R$ (resp. y). Since $\lim_{n\to\infty} y_n = y$ in C_R , there exist $r_n \in R(\mathbb{Q})$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} r_n(a_n, b_n) = (a, b)$ in $R(\mathbb{A})$. Changing (a_n, b_n) to $r_n(a_n, b_n)$, we may assume that

$$(a_n, b_n) \to (a, b), \quad n \to \infty,$$
 (5.2.3.3)

inside $R(\mathbb{A})$.

			L
-	-	-	

(5.2.3.1) implies that for all $m \ge N$ (and all N) we have

$$(a_m^{-1}a_N, b_m^{-1}b_N) \in U'_N = R(\mathbb{Q}).[1 \times U_N].$$

In particular, $a_m = s_m a_1$ for $s_m \in R(\mathbb{Q})$. But $a_m \to a$ as $m \to \infty$, so $s_m \to a/a_1$ as $m \to \infty$. But $R(\mathbb{Q})$ is discrete in $R(\mathbb{R})$, hence $(s_m)_m$ must become constant, so a/a_1 lies in $R(\mathbb{Q})$ and w.l.o.g. we may assume that $s_m = a/a_1$ for all m, i. e. $a_m = a$ for all m.

Now (5.2.3.3) becomes

$$(a_n, b_n) = (a, b_n) \to (a, b), \quad n \to \infty,$$

which when combined with (5.2.3.2) becomes

$$y_N = (a_N, b_N)R(\mathbb{Q}) \equiv (a, b)R(\mathbb{Q}) = y \mod U'_N,$$

so we are done.

5.2.4 Example. (Galois action on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)) = \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$) (5.2.2) describes an action of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$. Under the identification of (5.2.3), we get an action of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$, which we will now describe:

The inclusions $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ induce inclusions on the level of adelic points $\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow R(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}^{\times}_F$ and on the level of \mathbb{Q} -points $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \hookrightarrow R(\mathbb{Q}) \hookrightarrow F^{\times}$. Hence we also get an induced map on quotients $C_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow C_R \hookrightarrow C_F$, and can pass to the connected components to get

$$\pi_0(\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}) \longrightarrow \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})) \longrightarrow \pi_0(\mathbb{A}^{\times}_F/F^{\times}).$$
(5.2.4.1)

We denote the left hand arrow by i and the right hand arrow by j. Then $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ acts on $\operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R) = \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ by multiplication by

$$i\left(\operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1}(\gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}^{\mathrm{ab}}})\right) \in \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})/R(\mathbb{Q})).$$

5.2.5 Example. Let us look in more detail at the special cases of Example (5.1.5): (5.2.5.a) As in (5.1.5.a), let $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ and $X_1 = (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$, so that $\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)$ is the Hilbert modular variety. Then the connected components of $\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)$

are given by

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G_1, X_1)) = \operatorname{Sh}(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}) = \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times}),$$

the group of connected components of the idele class group of F, which is isomorphic to Γ_F^{ab} via the Artin map art_F , see (2.4.1).

Let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ and $s \in \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$ such that $\operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}}(s) = \gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}^{ab}}$. Then γ acts on $\operatorname{Sh}(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}^{\Sigma}) = \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times})$ as multiplication by the element

$$r(s) = i(\operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1}(\gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}^{ab}})) = \operatorname{art}_{F}^{-1}(V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}^{ab}})) \in \pi_{0}(\mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}/F^{\times}),$$

where the second equality uses the commutative diagram (2.4.3) from class field theory.

(5.2.5.b) As in (5.1.5.b), look at the PEL Hilbert modular variety Sh(G, X). The connected components are given by

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G, X)) = \operatorname{Sh}(\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}) = \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}).$$

In this case, $r: \mathbb{G}_m \to R = \mathbb{G}_m$ is the identity, so $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{C})$ acts on $\operatorname{Sh}(\mathbb{G}_m, \{\pm 1\}) = \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times})$ as multiplication by the element

$$r(s) = \operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1}(\gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}^{\mathrm{ab}}}) \in \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}).$$

By (5.2.4) the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)) = \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ is determined by the map

$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1}} \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}) \xrightarrow{i} \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})).$$

We would like to extend this action to the plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. It is natural to do this by extending this map, and it will again not be the full plectic group that acts but rather a group fitting into a Cartesian diagram.

5.2.6. (Plectic action on $\pi_0(\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R))$) Let R be an algebraic torus defined over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as in (4.4.2). We define the group $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R$ by the Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\pi_{0}}^{R} & \longrightarrow & S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma} \\ (1, \mathrm{prod})_{\pi_{0}} \downarrow & & \downarrow^{(1, \mathrm{prod})} \\ \pi_{0}(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})) & \xrightarrow[\mathrm{art}_{F} \circ j]{} & \Gamma_{F}^{\mathrm{ab}}, \end{array}$$

$$(5.2.6.1)$$

where $j: \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})) \to \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times})$ denotes the right hand arrow in (5.2.4.1). From now on we denote the left vertical arrow defined by this diagram by $(1, \text{prod})_{\pi_0}$.

We also define $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ by the Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})_{\pi_{0}}^{R} & \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \\ & (1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_{0}} \circ \beta_{s} \\ & & \downarrow (1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_{s} \\ & & & \downarrow (1, \operatorname{prod}) \circ \beta_{s} \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ &$$

which is independent of s by (4.1.9.b). Note that the isomorphism β_s : Aut_F($F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$) $\xrightarrow{\sim} S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ induces an isomorphism Aut_F($F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$) $_{\pi_0}^R \xrightarrow{\sim} (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R$, which we also denote by β_s .

Now let $\gamma \in (S_{\Sigma_F} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma_F})_{\pi_0}^R$ act on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ by multiplication by the element $(1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_0}(\gamma)$. We claim that this defines a group action of $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R$ on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ that extends the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ described in (5.2.4) via the embedding $\rho_s \colon \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$.

Of course, we also let $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ act on $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ by multiplication by $(1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_0}(\beta_s(\gamma))$, which is independent of s by (4.1.9.b).

Proof of claim. It is a group action because $(1, \text{prod})_{\pi_0}$ is a group homomorphism. To show that it extends the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action, look at the diagram



where $i: \pi_0(\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}) \to \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ is the left hand arrow in (5.2.4.1). In this diagram, the composition of the two bottom arrows is equal to $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}: \Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{ab}_F$ by (2.4.3), so the commutative diagram in (4.1.9.b) precisely says that the outer trapezium in this diagram commutes. As the bottom right square is Cartesian, the the embedding $\rho_s: \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}} \to S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma^{\Sigma}_F$ factors through $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma^{\Sigma}_F)^R_{\pi_0}$. The commutativity of the left hand trapezium then precisely shows that the action of $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma^{\Sigma}_F)^R_{\pi_0}$ restricted to $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ coincides with the action in (5.2.4).

5.2.7 Remark. Note that the group $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R$ is not necessarily a subgroup of the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$. It will be a subgroup if the bottom arrow $\operatorname{art}_F \circ j$ in (5.2.6.1) is injective. Since $\operatorname{art}_F : \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_F^{\operatorname{ab}}$ is an isomorphism, the bottom arrow is injective if and only if the following condition holds:

(5.2.7.a) The map

 $j: \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})) \longrightarrow \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times}),$

induced from the inclusion $R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, is injective.

In Section 5.3, we will discuss condition (5.2.7.a) and exhibit many examples of tori satisfying it, see (5.3.1) and (5.3.7).

Let us continue by looking at special cases of (5.2.6).

5.2.8 Example. ((PEL) Hilbert modular variety) As always, let us have a closer look at the special cases $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ and $R = \mathbb{G}_m$:

- (5.2.8.a) In the case (5.1.5.a) of the Hilbert modular variety, we have $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ and $j = \mathrm{id} \colon \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times}) \to \pi_0(\mathbb{A}_F^{\times}/F^{\times})$, so R satisfies (5.2.7.a). Moreover $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R = S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$, so the entire plectic group acts on $\pi_0(\mathrm{Sh}(G_1, X_1))$.
- (5.2.8.b) In the case (5.1.5.b) of the PEL Hilbert modular variety, we have $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ and $j: \pi_0(\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}) \to \pi_0(\mathbb{A}^{\times}_F/F^{\times})$. By (2.4.3), the map j corresponds to the transfer map $V_{F/\mathbb{Q}}: \Gamma^{ab}_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \Gamma^{ab}_F$ under class field theory. Hence j is injective by (4.2.2), thus R satisfies (5.2.7.a).

Moreover, $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\pi_{0}}^{\mathbb{G}_{m}} = (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{0}$ by comparing the defining diagrams in (5.2.6) and (4.2.8): The bottom left entries are isomorphic via the Artin map $\operatorname{art}_{\mathbb{Q}} \colon \pi_{0}(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{ab}}$ and the bottom arrows are related by diagram (2.4.3).

Next, we show that the π_0 -map

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)_{\operatorname{CM}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R)$$

is equivariant with respect to the plectic actions defined in (4.4.13) and (5.2.6). Here $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)_{\mathrm{CM}}$ denotes the set of CM points of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, see (4.4.10).

First of all, we need to compare the group $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{CM}^{R}$, defined in (4.4.11), which acts on $\operatorname{Sh}(G^{R}, X^{R})_{CM}$, with the group $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\pi_{0}}^{R}$, defined in (5.2.6), which acts on $\operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^{R})$. In (5.2.8) we saw that for $R = \mathbb{G}_{m}$ or $R = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_{m}$ we have $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{CM}^{R} = (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\pi_{0}}^{R}$. In general, we have

5.2.9 Lemma. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be an intermediate algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} . Then

$$(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{CM}}^R \hookrightarrow (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R.$$

Proof. Look at the diagram

Here the top left hand square is the Cartesian square (4.4.11), which defines $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{CM}^R$, the top right hand triangle commutes because $r_F \circ \chi_F = id$, and the bottom

right hand triangle commutes by (2.4.1.1). Moreover, the bottom left hand vertical arrow is well-defined because clearly the identity component of $R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})$ contains $(R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \cdot R(\mathbb{Q}))/R(\mathbb{Q})$, and the kernel of the map $R(\mathbb{A}_f) \to R(\mathbb{A})/(R(\mathbb{R})_{>0} \cdot R(\mathbb{Q}))$ is $R(\mathbb{Q})_{>0}$. Also j is induced by $R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, and so the bottom left square commutes by functoriality of taking quotients and applying π_0 .

Looking only at the outer edges of (5.2.9.1), we conclude that the embedding $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\rm CM}^R \subset S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ factors through $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\pi_0}^R$ by the Cartesian diagram (5.2.6.1).

We are ready to prove our main result Theorem (1.2.1).

5.2.10 Theorem. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be an intermediate algebraic torus defined over \mathbb{Q} . Then the π_0 -map restricted to CM points

$$\pi_0: \operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)_{\operatorname{CM}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R)$$

is $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{CM}^R$ -equivariant.

Proof. The main ingredients of the proof are the description (5.1.9) of the π_0 -map, the interpretation (4.4.5) of (special) points of $\text{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ as (CM) abelian varieties, and of course the definition of the plectic actions on CM points (4.4.13) and on the set of connected components (5.2.6).

So let

$$\mathcal{P} = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} / \Phi(\mathfrak{a}), i_{\Phi}|_{F}, R(\mathbb{Q}) E_{t}, \eta \overline{Z^{R}(\mathbb{Q})} \right]$$

be a CM point of $\operatorname{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$, with K a totally imaginary quadratic extension of F and $(K, \Phi; \mathfrak{a}, t)$ as in (2.3.5). Write the CM type Φ as $\Phi = \{\varphi_x \mid x \in \Sigma_F\}$, where $\varphi_x|_F = x$ for all $x \in \Sigma_F$. Let us assume that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi_x(t) > 0$ for all $x \in \Sigma_F$.

(a) Calculation of $\pi_0(\mathcal{P})$:

We start by calculating the point $[h, g] \in \text{Sh}(G^R, X^R)$ corresponding to \mathcal{P} . The Hodge structure $h_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{S} \to \text{GL}(H_1(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), \mathbb{R}))$ of the abelian variety $\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a})$ is given in (2.3.3): We have $H_1(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), \mathbb{Q}) = K$ and h_{Φ} on real points is given by

$$h_{\Phi} \colon \mathbb{C}^{\times} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_{K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}} (H_{1}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi}/\Phi(\mathfrak{a}), \mathbb{R})) = (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})^{\times} \subset \operatorname{GL}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^{\Phi})$$
$$i \longmapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ & \ddots \\ & & 0 & -1 \\ & & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with respect to the \mathbb{R} -basis

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} i\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \dots, \begin{pmatrix} 0\\\vdots\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0\\\vdots\\0\\i \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$

of $\mathbb{C}^{\Phi} = K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$.

Using the totally imaginary element $\alpha := \frac{1}{t} \in K^{\times}$, which under $\varphi_x \in \Phi$ has positive imaginary parts $\beta_x := \operatorname{Im} \varphi_x(\alpha) > 0$ for all $x \in \Sigma_F$, we define the isomorphism of *F*-vector spaces

$$a \colon K \xrightarrow{\sim} F^2, \quad 1 \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \alpha \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We conclude that by (4.4.5) we have

$$h = a \circ h_{\Phi} \circ a^{-1} \colon \mathbb{S} \longrightarrow (G^R)_{\mathbb{R}}$$
 and $g = a \circ \eta \in G^R(\mathbb{A}_f) = \mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{F,f})$

but first we need to check that a satisfies condition (4.4.5.a): Indeed, a direct calculation shows that

$$E_t(u,v) = -2\operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(u_1v_2 - u_2v_1) = -2\psi(a(u), a(v)),$$

where $u = u_1 + u_2 \alpha$, $v = v_1 + v_2 \alpha \in K^{\times}$ with $u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in F^{\times}$. As $-2 \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \subset R(\mathbb{Q})$, this means that a sends E_t to an $R(\mathbb{Q})$ -multiple of ψ as desired.

Moreover, $h = a \circ h_{\Phi} \circ a^{-1} \in X^R$ holds by the following calculation of the image of h under the isomorphism $X_1 \cong (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R})^{\Sigma}$ of (3.2.1.2): We see that $h(i) = (h(i)_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in G_1(\mathbb{R})$ with

$$h(i)_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\varphi_x(\alpha) \\ \frac{-1}{i\varphi_x(\alpha)} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\beta_x \\ \frac{1}{\beta_x} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_x & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_x & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1}$$

This means that $h = Bh_0B^{-1}$ with $B = \left(\begin{pmatrix} \beta_x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G_1(\mathbb{R})$. Hence h corresponds to $B \cdot (i, \dots, i) = (\beta_x i)_{x \in \Sigma_F}$, which lies in $\mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma} = X_1^+ = (X^R)^+$. In particular, h lies in X^R and so a satisfies (4.4.5.a).

Using (5.1.9), we conclude that

$$\pi_0(\mathcal{P}) = [(\operatorname{sgn}(\beta_x))_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a \circ \eta)] = [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a \circ \eta)] \in \operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R).$$

(b) Calculation of $\gamma(\pi_0(\mathcal{P}))$, for $\gamma \in (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{CM}^R$.

By (5.2.6), the image of $[(1)_{x\in\Sigma}, \det(a\circ\eta)]$ under γ is

$$\gamma(\pi_0(\mathcal{P})) = (1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_0} \circ \beta_s(\gamma) \cdot [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a \circ \eta)].$$
(5.2.10.1)

(c) Calculation of $\pi_0(\gamma \mathcal{P})$:

On the other hand, let us first conjugate \mathcal{P} by γ and then calculate the image under the π_0 -map. After choosing $\tilde{f} \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ such that $\tilde{f}_{\Phi}(\gamma) = \tilde{f}K^{\times}$ and $u \in R(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that $\chi_F \circ (1, \text{prod}) \circ \beta_s(\gamma) = uF_{>0}^{\times}$, (4.4.13.1) gives

$$\gamma \mathcal{P} = \left[\mathbb{C}^{\gamma \Phi} / \gamma \Phi(\widetilde{f}\mathfrak{a}), i_{\gamma \Phi}|_F, F^{\times} E_{\chi t}, \widetilde{f} \circ \eta \overline{Z^R(\mathbb{Q})} \right],$$

where $\chi = \frac{u}{1+c\tilde{f}} \in F^{\times}$.

Doing the exact same steps as before, let us first calculate the point $[h', g'] \in$ Sh (G^R, X^R) corresponding to this conjugate quadruple: Write $\gamma \Phi = \{\varphi'_x \mid x \in \Sigma_F\}$, where $\varphi'_x|_F = x$ for all $x \in \Sigma_F$. Let $\alpha' := \frac{1}{\chi t} \in K^{\times}$. The calculation of the signs of χt in (4.4.13.3) shows that we have

$$\beta'_x := \operatorname{Im} \varphi'_x(\alpha') > 0, \quad \text{for all } x \in \Sigma_F.$$

The Hodge structure of $\mathbb{C}^{\gamma\Phi}/\gamma\Phi(\tilde{f}\mathfrak{a})$ is given by $h_{\gamma\Phi}$, and using the isomorphism of *F*-vector spaces

$$a' \colon K \xrightarrow{\sim} F^2, \quad 1 \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \alpha' \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

we see that

$$h' = a' \circ h_{\gamma \Phi} \circ (a')^{-1}$$
 and $g' = a' \circ \widetilde{f} \circ \eta$.

Furthermore, we see that $h'(i) = (h'(i)_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \in G^R(\mathbb{R})$ with

$$h'(i)_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\beta'_x \\ \frac{1}{\beta'_x} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta'_x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta'_x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1},$$

hence $h' = B'h_0(B')^{-1}$ with $B' = \left(\begin{pmatrix} \beta'_x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in G_1(\mathbb{R})$ and so h' corresponds to $B' \cdot (i, \ldots, i) = (\beta'_x i)_{x \in \Sigma_F} \in \mathfrak{h}^{\Sigma} \subset X^R$. Finally, we get

$$\pi_0(\gamma \mathcal{P}) = [(\operatorname{sgn} \beta'_x)_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a' \circ \widetilde{f} \circ \eta)] = [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a' \circ \widetilde{f} \circ \eta)].$$
As
$$a' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ & \chi \end{pmatrix} \circ a$$
, we see that

$$\det(a'\circ f\circ \eta) = \chi({}^{1+c}f) \det(a\circ \eta) = u \det(a\circ \eta),$$

so we conclude that

$$\pi_0(\gamma \mathcal{P}) = [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, u \det(a \circ \eta)]. \tag{5.2.10.2}$$

(d) Comparison of (5.2.10.1) and (5.2.10.2):

We do this by spelling out the action of γ in (5.2.10.1). By the proof of Lemma (5.2.9), in particular by diagram (5.2.9.1), the element $(1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_0} \circ \beta_s(\gamma)$ is equal to the image of $uR(\mathbb{Q})_{>0} \in R(\mathbb{A}_f)/R(\mathbb{Q})_{>0}$ inside $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$. Chasing through the identification $\operatorname{Sh}(R, \operatorname{VZ}^R) \cong \pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ of (5.2.3), we see that (5.2.10.1) equals

$$(1, \operatorname{prod})_{\pi_0} \circ \beta_s(\gamma) \cdot [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, \det(a \circ \eta)] = [(1)_{x \in \Sigma}, u \det(a \circ \eta)],$$

i.e. is equal to (5.2.10.2).

5.3 Appendix: When is $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^R_{\pi_0}$ a subgroup of the plectic group?

We conclude this chapter by discussing scenarios in which the torus R satisfies assumption (5.2.7.a). As a motivating example, we look at tori $R = R_{F'/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ coming from subfields $F' \subset F$:

5.3.1 Lemma. Let $F' \subset F$ be a subfield, and let $R = R_{F'/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R \hookrightarrow R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be the morphisms of \mathbb{Q} -algebraic tori that on \mathbb{Q} -points are given by the inclusions $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \hookrightarrow F'^{\times} \hookrightarrow F^{\times}$.

Then R satisfies (5.2.7.a).

Proof. First of all, note that $R(\mathbb{A}) = \mathbb{A}_{F'}^{\times}$ and $R(\mathbb{Q}) = F'^{\times}$, so that $R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})$ is equal to the idele class group $C_{F'} = \mathbb{A}_{F'}^{\times}/F'^{\times}$ of F'.

We want to prove that

$$\pi_0(C_{F'}) \longrightarrow \pi_0(C_F)$$

is injective. We reduce to the case when F/F' is Galois: Indeed, in the general case let F^{\diamond} be the Galois closure of F over F'. Then the result for Galois extensions implies that $\pi_0(C_{F'})$ and $\pi_0(C_F)$ both embed into $\pi_0(C_{F^{\diamond}})$. The map $C_{F'} \to C_{F^{\diamond}}$ factors through C_F , so the embedding $\pi_0(C_{F'}) \hookrightarrow \pi_0(C_{F^{\diamond}})$ factors through $\pi_0(C_F)$, implying that the map $\pi_0(C_{F'}) \to \pi_0(C_F)$ is injective as desired.

So now assume that F/F' is Galois, say with Galois group H. Look at the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow C_F^0 \longrightarrow C_F \longrightarrow \pi_0(C_F) \longrightarrow 0,$$

where C_F^0 denotes the identity component of C_F .

Taking H-invariants of this short exact sequence yields the long exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow (C_F^0)^H \longrightarrow C_F^H \longrightarrow \pi_0(C_F)^H \longrightarrow H^1(H, C_F^0) \longrightarrow \dots$

By [Neu13, III.2.7], we have $H^0(H, C_F) = C_{F'}$, and by [NSW15, 8.2.6] we have $H^0(H, C_F^0) = C_{F'}^0$ and $H^1(H, C_F^0) = 0$. Hence the long exact sequence yields

$$(\pi_0(C_F))^H = C_{F'}/C_{F'}^0 = \pi_0(C_{F'}),$$

so in particular the map $\pi_0(C_{F'}) \to \pi_0(C_F)$ is injective.

Inspired by the proof of (5.3.1), we can formulate a condition in terms of Galois cohomology of the torus R that also implies (5.2.7.a).

5.3.2 Proposition. Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be as in (4.4.2). Denote a Galois closure of F over \mathbb{Q} by F^{\diamond} and its Galois group by $G := \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\diamond}/\mathbb{Q})$. Write $\Lambda := X^*(R)$ for the character group of R. The torus R is split over F^{\diamond} , so Λ is a G-module, and we assume that

$$\ker\left(\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{G}(\Lambda, (F^{\diamond})^{\times}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{G}(\Lambda, \mathbb{A}^{\times}_{F^{\diamond}})\right) = 0.$$
(5.3.2.1)

Then R satisfies (5.2.7.a).

Before starting with the proof, let us simplify notation and assume that F/\mathbb{Q} is Galois:

5.3.3 Remark. (Reduction to the case when F/\mathbb{Q} is Galois) Assuming the statement of the proposition for all Galois extensions F/\mathbb{Q} , we can deduce the general statement in the same way as in the proof of (5.3.1): We then have embeddings $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})) \hookrightarrow \pi_0(C_{F^\diamond})$ and $\pi_0(C_F) \hookrightarrow \pi_0(C_{F^\diamond})$, fitting into the commutative diagram



This implies that the diagonal arrow is also injective, which is what we wanted to show.

From now on, we assume that F/\mathbb{Q} is Galois with $G = \operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$. Before completing the proof of (5.3.2), let us make some remarks about the Ext-groups $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(\Lambda, F^{\times})$ and $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(\Lambda, \mathbb{A}_F^{\times})$:

5.3.4 Remark $(\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(\Lambda, -))$. The functors $\operatorname{Ext}^p(\Lambda, -)$ are the right derived functors of the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, -)$. As functors from the category of *G*-modules to the category of abelian groups, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, -) = (\cdot)^{G} \circ \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, -).$$

The associated Grothendieck spectral sequence

$$E_2^{pq} = H^p(G, \operatorname{Ext}^q(\Lambda, -)) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_G^{p+q}(\Lambda, -).$$

degenerates, because Λ is a free abelian group and hence Hom $(\Lambda, -)$ is exact. Thus

$$H^p(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, -)) = \operatorname{Ext}_G^p(\Lambda, -), \quad p \ge 0$$

In particular, we get

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\Lambda, F^{\times}) = H^{1}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, F^{\times}))$$
$$= H^{1}(G, X_{*}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F^{\times})$$
$$= H^{1}(G, R(F)),$$

where we used the *G*-isomorphisms $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, F^{\times}) \cong X_*(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F^{\times} \cong R(F)$, the former being induced from the perfect pairing $\Lambda \times X_*(R) \to \mathbb{Z}$, the latter being [PR94, Lemma 6.7, p. 302].

Similarly, by [Tat66, p. 719] we have $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}) = R(\mathbb{A}_F)$, thus

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\Lambda, \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}) = H^{1}(G, R(\mathbb{A}_{F})).$$

Hence (5.3.2.1) is equivalent to

$$\operatorname{III}(R) := \ker \left(H^1(G, R(F)) \longrightarrow H^1(G, R(\mathbb{A}_F)) \right) = 0, \qquad (5.3.4.1)$$

where $\operatorname{III}(R)$ denotes the Shafarevich-Tate group of R, see [PR94, p. 307].

Proof of Proposition (5.3.2). By remark (5.3.3) we assume that F/\mathbb{Q} is Galois with $G := \operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$. We follow the same strategy as in the proof of (5.3.1) and start by looking at the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow C_F^0 \longrightarrow C_F \longrightarrow \pi_0(C_F) \longrightarrow 0.$$

We will always denote the identity component of a topological group A by A^0 .

Applying the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, -)$ yields

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, C_{F}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, \pi_{0}(C_{F})) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0}) \longrightarrow \dots$$

We will see below that

- (a) $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, C_F) = R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}),$
- (b) $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, C_F^0) = \operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, C_F)^0$, and
- (c) $\operatorname{Ext}^1_G(\Lambda, C^0_F) = 0,$

so the above long exact sequence yields

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, \pi_{0}(C_{F})) = \frac{R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})}{\left(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})\right)^{0}} = \pi_{0}(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q})).$$

Now note that $R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, so $\Lambda = X^*(R)$ is a quotient of $X^*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m) = \mathbb{Z}[G]$, say $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}[G]/I$ for a *G*-stable $I \subset \mathbb{Z}[G]$. This means Λ is a cyclic $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -module, thus

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, \pi_{0}(C_{F})) \longrightarrow \pi_{0}(C_{F}), \quad \alpha \mapsto \alpha([\operatorname{id}] + I)$$

is injective, i.e. $\pi_0(R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}))$ embeds into $\pi_0(C_F)$.

• Proof of (a):

Let us look at the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow F^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} \longrightarrow C_F \longrightarrow 0.$$

We apply the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, -)$ and, using the assumption (5.3.2.1), get the short exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, F^{\times}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, C_{F}) \longrightarrow 0.$

Now we use [Vos01, §2.4, p. 3111] that, because R is split over F, for every \mathbb{Q} -algebra A we have

$$R(A) = \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, (A \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} F)^{\times}).$$

Applying this fact for $A = \mathbb{Q}$ and $A = \mathbb{A} = \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ gives

Ì

$$R(\mathbb{A})/R(\mathbb{Q}) = \operatorname{Hom}_G(\Lambda, C_F).$$

• Proof of (b) and (c):

Since Λ is \mathbb{Z} -free, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0) = \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F)^0.$$
(5.3.4.2)

To shorten notation, let us temporarily denote $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F)$ by A. Since C_F^0 is G-stable, so is $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0) = A^0$. So we take G-invariants and get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0}) = \left[A^{0}\right]^{G}.$$

For (b), we are left to show

$$\left[A^0\right]^G = \left[A^G\right]^0.$$

First of all, $[A^G]^0$ is connected, so $[A^G]^0 \subset A^0$; but also every element of $[A^G]^0$ is G-invariant, hence

$$\left[A^0\right]^G \supset \left[A^G\right]^0.$$

To show equality, we need to show that $[A^0]^G$ is connected, because then the inclusion $[A^0]^G \subset A^G$ implies that

$$[A^0]^G \subset [A^G]^0.$$

To show that $[A^0]^G$ is connected, let us first use the definition of A and (5.3.4.2):

$$\left[A^{0}\right]^{G} = \left[\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F})^{0}\right]^{G} = H^{0}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})).$$

Using that Λ is a free Z-module, say of rank m, we see that as abelian groups we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0) \cong (C_F^0)^m.$$

By [NSW15, 8.2.5], $C_F^0 = ([\mathbb{R} \times \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}]/\mathbb{Z})^{r-1} \times \mathbb{R}$, where $r = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$, which by [NSW15, 8.2.4] is uniquely divisible. Thus the same is true for $(C_F^0)^m \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0)$, so by [NSW15, 1.6.2] we see that $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0)$ is cohomologically trivial, i.e.

$$\hat{H}^{0}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})) = 0 \text{ and } H^{1}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})) = 0.$$
 (5.3.4.3)

The first equality means that

$$H^{0}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})) = N_{G}(\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})),$$

so the continuity of the norm map $N_G = \sum_{\sigma \in G} \sigma \colon C_F \to C_F$ implies that $[A^0]^G = H^0(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0))$ is connected because $\operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_F^0) \cong (C_F^0)^m$ is. This finishes the

proof of (b).

Finally, using (5.3.4) and (5.3.4.3) we can also deduce (c):

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0}) = H^{1}(G, \operatorname{Hom}(\Lambda, C_{F}^{0})) = 0.$$

This finishes the proof of the proposition.

5.3.5 Remark. For completeness, note that the torus $R = R_{F'/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ for a subfield $F' \subset F$ satisfies (5.3.2.1), so that (5.3.2) includes (5.3.1) as a special case:

We still assume that F/\mathbb{Q} is Galois with $G = \operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$, and let $H := \operatorname{Gal}(F/F')$. Then $\Lambda = X^*(R) = \mathbb{Z}[G/H] = \operatorname{Coind}_H^G \mathbb{Z} = \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \mathbb{Z}$ as G-modules⁴, hence by [NSW15, footnote p. 63] we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Lambda, -) = \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \mathbb{Z}, -) = \operatorname{Hom}_{H}(\mathbb{Z}, \operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G}) = (\cdot)^{H} \circ \operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G},$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G}$ is the functor from *G*-modules to *H*-modules that simply restricts the *G*-action to the subgroup *H*, and \mathbb{Z} is equipped with the trivial *H*-action.

The functor $\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G}$ is clearly exact, hence in the same way as in (5.3.4) we deduce that

$$H^p(H, \operatorname{Res}_H^G -) = \operatorname{Ext}_G^p(\Lambda, -), \quad p \ge 0.$$

Thus by Hilbert 90:

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{G}^{1}(\Lambda, F^{\times}) = H^{1}(H, F^{\times}) = 0,$$

hence R satisfies (5.3.2.1).

We finish this section by discussing condition (5.3.4.1) and providing more examples of tori R satisfying it.

5.3.6 Remark. Let F/\mathbb{Q} be Galois with Galois group G and $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as before. Let $S = S_F$ denote the set of all places of F. We view $\mathbb{Z}[S]$ as a G-module via the usual action of G on places of F, and let A be the kernel of the G-equivariant surjective map

$$\mathbb{Z}[S] \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z},$$
$$\sum_{w \in S} a_w[w] \longmapsto \sum_{w \in S} a_w.$$

We apply [Tat66, Thm, p. 717] with $M := X_*(R)$ and r+2 = 1 to get the

⁴See [NSW15, footnote p. 61] for the definition of the functor $\operatorname{Coind}_{H}^{G}$ from *H*-modules to *G*-modules. Here it is equal to $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}$ (see (4.1.4.1)) because *G* is finite.

following commutative diagram with exact rows and vertical isomorphisms:

Thus

$$\operatorname{III}(R) = \ker \left(\hat{H}^{-1}(G, A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) \to \hat{H}^{-1}(G, \mathbb{Z}[S] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{coker} \left(\hat{H}^{-2}(G, \mathbb{Z}[S] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) \to \hat{H}^{-2}(G, M) \right),$$

so (5.3.4.1) is equivalent to

$$\operatorname{coker}\left(\hat{H}^{-2}(G,\mathbb{Z}[S]\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}M)\to\hat{H}^{-2}(G,M)\right)=0.$$
(5.3.6.1)

For certain fields F, all tori R with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ satisfy (5.3.6.1):

5.3.7 Example. Let F/\mathbb{Q} be Galois and $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ as before. Denote $M := X_*(R)$. Assume that there exists a prime number p with precisely one prime ideal \mathfrak{p} above p in F. For example, if F/\mathbb{Q} is cyclic, there exist inert primes p by Chebotarev's Density Theorem [Neu92, VII.13.4], which have this property.

The *G*-module $\mathbb{Z}[S]$ decomposes as $\bigoplus_{v} \mathbb{Z}[S_{v}]$, where *v* runs over the places $S_{\mathbb{Q}}$ of \mathbb{Q} and S_{v} denotes the places of *F* above *v*. Let us show that *R* satisfies (5.3.6.1), i.e. that the map

$$\hat{H}^{-2}(G, \mathbb{Z}[S_F] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) = \bigoplus_{v \in S_{\mathbb{Q}}} \hat{H}^{-2}(G, \mathbb{Z}[S_v] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) \longrightarrow \hat{H}^{-2}(G, M)$$

is surjective: By assumption $S_p = \{\mathfrak{p}\}$, so

$$\mathbb{Z}[S_p] \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}, \quad a[\mathfrak{p}] \longmapsto a,$$

is an isomorphism of G-modules, inducing a G-equivariant isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}[S_p] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M \cong M$. Thus $\hat{H}^{-2}(G, \mathbb{Z}[S_p] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M) \cong \hat{H}^{-2}(G, M)$ is also an isomorphism, hence R satisfies (5.3.6.1).

5.3.8. (Summary) We have seen that the equivalent conditions (5.3.2.1), (5.3.4.1) (vanishing of III(R)) and (5.3.6.1) are satisfied for many tori R, see (5.3.5) and (5.3.7). We also saw in (5.3.2) that these conditions imply (5.2.7.a).

However, we do not know whether (5.2.7.a) is equivalent to (5.3.2.1), or whether either of these conditions holds for all tori R. There are examples of "norm one tori" T which do not satisfy III(T) = 0, see e.g. [PR94, Ex. 1, p. 308]. The ShafarevitchTate group of a norm one torus is well-studied because it vanishes if and only if the Hasse norm principle holds for the corresponding field extension. See [MN19] for more details.

Unfortunately, the norm one torus for the extension F/\mathbb{Q} does not contain \mathbb{G}_m , so it does not fall into the setup of (4.4.2). Nonetheless the fact that for certain fields F there are tori $T \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ that do not satisfy $\mathrm{III}(T) = 0$ seems to us to be an indication that (5.3.4.1) probably does not hold for all R with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R$ either. 6

Plectic action on cocharacters

Fix a totally real number field F. The reflex field of a Shimura datum (G, X) is of fundamental importance in the theory of Shimura varieties. The goal of this chapter is to define the plectic analogue of the absolute Galois group of the reflex field, the so-called plectic reflex Galois group, for algebraic groups G that differ only in the centre from a group of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$.

In Section 6.1, we recall from [NS16, §5] how the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ canonically acts on the cocharacters of the group $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$, and how this action is used to define the plectic reflex Galois group of a Shimura datum $(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H, X)$.

In Section 6.2 we look at cocharacters of the groups G^R that differ only in the centre from $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$, where R is an algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} with $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$. The Cartesian diagram (1.2.0.3) allows us to view the cocharacter group $X_*(G^R)$ of G^R as a subgroup of $X_*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2)$. The latter carries an action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ by Section 6.1, so we can define the subgroup $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{\mathrm{cc}}^R$ of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ as the stabiliser of the subset $X_*(G^R) \subset X_*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2)$. In (6.2.6), it is then straightforward to define the plectic reflex Galois group of (G^R, X^R) as the stabiliser of a certain conjugacy class μ_{X^R} of cocharacters of G^R .

We finish Section 6.2 with discussing properties of algebraic groups G that differ only in the centre from an arbitrary group G_1 . By definition, this means that diagram (1.2.0.2) is Cartesian. In (6.2.9), we relate the derived group, the adjoint group, the centre, and the cocentre of G to their respective counterparts of G_1 using this Cartesian diagram. Moreover, if G_1 is of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ and admits a Shimura variety, the same methods as for the groups G^R can be used to define the plectic reflex Galois group associated to G.

6.1 Plectic action on cocharacters of restrictions of scalars

6.1.1. (Cocharacters) Let G be an algebraic group defined over \mathbb{Q} . Then a *cochar*acter of G is a morphism of algebraic groups from the multiplicative group \mathbb{G}_m to G, defined over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. We denote the set of cocharacters of G by

$$X_*(G) := \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{O}}}, G),$$

where "Hom" denotes morphisms of group schemes over \mathbb{Q} .

The set $X_*(G)$ comes equipped with an action of the Galois group $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$. To define this action, let us recall:

6.1.2. (Galois action on schemes) Let k be a field, X_0 a scheme over k and X the base change of X_0 to the separable closure \overline{k} of k. This means we have a Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X & \xrightarrow{\pi} & \operatorname{Spec} \overline{k} \\ a & & & \downarrow^{\iota} \\ X_0 & \xrightarrow{\pi_0} & \operatorname{Spec} k. \end{array}$$

Here $\iota = \operatorname{Spec}(i)$ for the fixed inclusion $i: k \hookrightarrow \overline{k}$, and π_0 is the structure morphism.

Now for $\gamma \in \Gamma_k$, we have $\gamma \circ i = i$, which translates to $\iota \circ \operatorname{Spec}(\gamma) = \iota$. This yields the unique dotted arrow in the following diagram, defining a (right) action of Γ_k on the scheme X.

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Spec} \overline{k} \\ & \swarrow & & \swarrow^{\gamma_X^*} & \downarrow^{\operatorname{Spec}(\gamma)} \\ & X & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Spec} \overline{k} \\ & & \downarrow^{\iota} \\ & X_0 & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Spec} k. \end{array}$$

As a concrete example, assume $X_0 = \operatorname{Spec} k[T_1, \ldots, T_n]/(f_1, \ldots, f_m)$ is an affine variety. The \overline{k} -points of X are the simultaneous solutions $(x_i)_i \in \overline{k}^n$ to the polynomial equations $f_j(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = 0, j = 1, \ldots, m$. Then γ_X^* acts on the \overline{k} -points of X by $(x_i)_i \mapsto (\gamma(x_i))_i$.

From now on, we will simply write γ (or sometimes γ^*) for γ_X^* or $\text{Spec}(\gamma)$. We hope this does not cause confusion.

6.1.3. (Galois action on cocharacters) We apply (6.1.2) for the scheme \mathbb{G}_m over \mathbb{Q} , and the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ induces an action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $X_*(G)$ by pre-composition

$$\gamma \colon \chi \mapsto \chi \circ \gamma, \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, \ \chi \in X_*(G).$$
 (6.1.3.1)

Note that, despite its appearance, this is a *left* action because in reality we are precomposing by $\gamma^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}$ and $(\gamma_1\gamma_2)^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}} = (\gamma_2)^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}(\gamma_1)^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}$. Also note that $\chi \circ \gamma$ is again a morphism of group schemes, i.e. a cocharacter of G.

There is another way of defining this action, which will be useful for us. First of all, note that by base-change

$$X_*(G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}).$$
(6.1.3.2)

The absolute Galois group $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ acts on both $\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ and $G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ by (6.1.2). The previous Definition (6.1.3.1) then translates (via base-change) to

$$\gamma \colon \chi \mapsto \gamma^{-1} \circ \chi \circ \gamma, \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, \ \chi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}} - \operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}).$$
(6.1.3.3)

To be precise, the right hand side is equal to $(\gamma^{-1})^*_{G_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}} \circ \chi \circ \gamma^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{O}}}}$.

6.1.4 (Plectic action on cocharacters for restrictions of scalars I). Let H be an algebraic group defined over a number field F and let $G := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$. Then G is an algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} , hence $X_*(G)$ carries a $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action as explained above. However, because G is a restriction of scalars, it carries an action by the plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ which can be described as follows:

First of all, we can exploit that $G(S) = H(S_F)$ for every Q-scheme S, i.e.

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}-\operatorname{Sch}}(S,G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{F-\operatorname{Sch}}(S_F,H),$$

where S_F denotes the base change $\operatorname{Spec}(F) \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Q})} S$ of S.

Note that $X_*(G)$ is by definition the subset of $G(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}})$ consisting of those \mathbb{Q} morphisms from $\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ to G which are morphisms of group schemes. This property
means that a certain diagram commutes, and translates into the analogous property
in $H(\mathbb{G}_{m,F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}})$. Thus

$$X_*(G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}},G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{F-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}},H).$$
(6.1.4.1)

In analogy to diagram (6.1.2), we get for $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$



We conclude that $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ acts (on the left) on $X_*(G)$ by precomposition

$$\gamma \colon \chi \mapsto \chi \circ \gamma^*, \quad \gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \ \chi \in X_*(G).$$
 (6.1.4.2)

It clearly extends the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action (6.1.3.1).

6.1.5 (Plectic action on cocharacters for restrictions of scalars II). We can also describe the plectic action more explicitly in the following way, using the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$: Because G is a restriction of scalars of H, the action of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on $X_*(G)$ is the induced action of Γ_F on $X_*(H)$, i.e. we have an isomorphism of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -sets

$$X_*(G) \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma_F}^{\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}} X_*(H). \tag{6.1.5.1}$$

The action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ is then given by (4.1.4). This definition of the plectic action agrees with the one in (6.1.4) under the isomorphism β_s : $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ of (4.1.3).

6.1.6 Remark (Plectic equivariant maps on cocharacters). Let $G_i = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H_i$, i = 1, 2, be two algebraic groups over \mathbb{Q} that are restriction of scalars, and let $f: H_1 \to H_2$ be defined over F. Then f induces $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(f): G_1 \to G_2$, which is defined over \mathbb{Q} , and thus induces the map

$$R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(f)_* \colon X_*(G_1) \longrightarrow X_*(G_2), \quad \chi \longmapsto R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(f) \circ \chi.$$

This map is not only $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -equivariant, but by functoriality in the adjunction (6.1.4.1) and by Definition (6.1.4.2) it is also equivariant with respect to the plectic action.

6.1.7 Example. Consider the algebraic torus $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ over \mathbb{Q} . Here we consider \mathbb{G}_m as an algebraic group over F, and $X_*(\mathbb{G}_m)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} with the trivial Γ_F -action by

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\sim} X_*(\mathbb{G}_m) = \operatorname{Hom}_{F-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{F}}, \mathbb{G}_{m,F}), \quad n \mapsto [t \mapsto t^n].$$

By (6.1.5.1) and (4.1.4.2), the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -module $X_*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma]$, see (2.1.6). By (4.1.4.2), the plectic action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ is given as the linear extension of

$$(\sigma, h)[x] = [\sigma(x)], \quad x \in \Sigma, \ (\sigma, h) \in S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$$

This means the plectic action on $X_*(R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m)$ factors through the canonical quotient S_{Σ} , see (4.1.9.a).

6.1.8 Example. Let K be a totally imaginary quadratic extension of the totally real field F. Let $\operatorname{Gal}(K/F) = \langle c \rangle$, i. e. denote complex conjugation by c. Consider

the algebraic torus $R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}R_{K/F}\mathbb{G}_m$. The $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -module $X_*(R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_K]$, where $\Sigma_K := \operatorname{Hom}(K, \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, with $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action given by

$$\gamma[\varphi] = [\gamma\varphi], \quad \varphi \in \Sigma_K.$$

In (4.1.6) we have seen how $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ acts on Σ_K , and the action on $\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_K]$ is thus given by

$$(\sigma, h)[c^b\varphi_x] = [c^{b+\overline{h}_x}\varphi_{\sigma(x)}].$$

This shows that the plectic action on $X_*(R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m)$ factors through the group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \operatorname{Gal}(K/F)^{\Sigma}$. If K is Galois over \mathbb{Q} , then this group is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} K)$ (resp. $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) \# \operatorname{Gal}(K/F)$) under a modification of β_s (resp. π_s) from (4.1.3) (resp. (4.1.5.1)), see [Bla15, (3.2.12)].

6.1.9 Remark. Similar to (6.1.3.3), we can also define the plectic action on cocharacters as follows: Let H again be an algebraic group defined over F and $G := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$. Starting from (6.1.4.1), base change yields

$$X_*(G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{F - \operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m, F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, H) = \operatorname{Hom}_{F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}} - \operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m, F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, H_{F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}}),$$

where $H_{F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} := H \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(F)} \operatorname{Spec}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}).$

In complete analogy to (6.1.3.3), base-change of (6.1.4.2) yields

$$\gamma \colon \chi \mapsto \gamma^{-1} \circ \chi \circ \gamma, \quad \gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \ \chi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}} - \operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m, F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, H_{F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}}).$$

$$(6.1.9.1)$$

To be precise, the right hand side is equal to $(\gamma^{-1})^*_{H_{F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}} \circ \chi \circ \gamma^*_{\mathbb{G}_{m,F\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}$.

6.1.10 (Galois action on conjugacy classes of cocharacters). Let G be an algebraic group over \mathbb{Q} . In (6.1.3.3) we defined a Galois action on $X_*(G)$. This action induces an action on the $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters which we will now explain:

By (6.1.3.2), the cocharacters of G are given by $X_*(G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}-\operatorname{Gr-Sch}}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}})$. Recall that an element $g \in G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ acts on the scheme $G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ by conjugation as follows:

$$\operatorname{ad}(g) \colon G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \to G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \times G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \longrightarrow G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$$
$$x \mapsto (g, x) \longrightarrow gxg^{-1}$$

To be precise, the map denoted $x \mapsto g$ is shorthand for

$$G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \xrightarrow{g} G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$$

and the second map is the conjugation map (built from the group law $G \times G \to G$).

We can therefore use (6.1.3.2) to define the cocharacter conjugate to $\chi \in X_*(G)$ by $g \in G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ as ${}^g\chi := \operatorname{ad}(g) \circ \chi$, i.e.

$${}^{g}\chi\colon \mathbb{G}_{m,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \xrightarrow{\chi} G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{ad}(g)} G_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}.$$
 (6.1.10.1)

In order to deduce an action on the conjugacy classes of cocharacters, we need to show that the $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action on $X_*(G)$ is compatible with conjugation. We show

$$\gamma({}^{g}\chi) = {}^{\gamma g}(\gamma \chi), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}, g \in G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \chi \in X_{*}(G).$$
(6.1.10.2)

The calculation is straight-forward:

$$\begin{split} \gamma({}^{g}\chi) &= (\gamma^{-1})_{G}^{*} \circ ({}^{g}\chi) \circ \gamma_{\mathbb{G}_{m}}^{*} \\ &= (\gamma^{-1})_{G}^{*} \circ (\mathrm{ad}(g) \circ \chi) \circ \gamma_{\mathbb{G}_{m}}^{*} \\ &= (\gamma^{-1})_{G}^{*} \circ \mathrm{ad}(g) \circ \gamma_{G}^{*} \circ (\gamma^{-1})_{G}^{*} \circ \chi \circ \gamma_{\mathbb{G}_{m}}^{*} \\ &= \mathrm{ad}(\gamma g) \circ (\gamma \chi) \\ &= {}^{\gamma g}(\gamma \chi). \end{split}$$

In the penultimate step, we used $\operatorname{ad}(\gamma g) = (\gamma^{-1})^*_G \circ \operatorname{ad}(g) \circ \gamma^*_G$ and Definition (6.1.3.3) of $\gamma \chi$. The former is a scheme-theoretic exercise which comes down to the fact that the group law, and hence conjugation, on G is defined over \mathbb{Q} .

6.1.11. (Reflex field of a Shimura datum) Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum. We recall the definition [Mil17, Def. 12.2] of the *reflex field* E(G, X) of (G, X): Take any $h \in X$ and look at the associated cocharacter μ_h of G, see (2.2.5). Then the $G(\mathbb{C})$ -conjugacy class \mathcal{C} of μ_h is independent of the choice of h, hence only depends on X. Moreover, \mathcal{C} contains a unique $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy class μ_X of cocharacters of G. The reflex field is defined to be the field of definition of μ_X .

6.1.12 (Plectic Galois action on conjugacy classes of cocharacters). With the notation of (6.1.10), assume that $G = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ for some algebraic group H over F. We use the description (6.1.9.1) of the plectic Galois action on $X_*(G)$. In exactly the same way as in (6.1.10.2), one can show that

$$\gamma({}^{g}\chi) = {}^{\gamma g}(\gamma \chi), \quad \gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_{F}(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}), g \in G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}), \chi \in X_{*}(G).$$
(6.1.12.1)

In particular, the plectic action on $X_*(G)$ induces an action on $G(\mathbb{Q})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters.

6.1.13 (Plectic reflex Galois group). Let (G, X) be a Shimura datum with $G = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ for some algebraic group H over F. In analogy to (6.1.11), using (6.1.12) we

can define the *plectic reflex Galois group* of (G, X) to be the stabiliser of μ_X inside the plectic group $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, see [NS16, Def. 5.1].

6.1.14 Example. (Hilbert modular variety) The Hilbert modular variety is associated to the group $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂, see (3.2.1). So the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ acts on the set $X_*(G_1)$, and by (6.1.12) also on the set of $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of $X_*(G_1)$. We can describe this more explicitly as follows:

We use the \mathbb{Q} -torus $S_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathbb{G}_m^2)$, embedded as a maximal torus inside $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ as the diagonal matrices. Then we can identify the set of $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters of G_1 with

$$X_*(G_1)/G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$$
-conj. = $X_*(S_1)/W$,

where W denotes the Weyl group of S_1 .

We have $S_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \begin{pmatrix} * \\ & * \end{pmatrix} \subset G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, hence the cocharacters of S_1 are given by

$$\chi = (\chi_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \colon \mathbb{G}_m \longrightarrow S_1$$
$$\chi_x \colon t \longmapsto \begin{pmatrix} t^{n_x} \\ t^{m_x} \end{pmatrix},$$

for integers $n_x, m_x \in \mathbb{Z}$. The Weyl group W is isomorphic to $(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma}$, with the element $w_x = (0, \ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ (with the 1 in the *x*-th coordinate) acting on the *x*-th factor of $S_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) = \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \binom{*}{*}$ by swapping the two entries and acting trivially on all other factors. Thus in the above notation

$$X_*(S_1)/W \cong \{\chi = (\chi_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \mid \chi_x \colon t \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} t^{n_x} \\ t^{m_x} \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } n_x \ge m_x \text{ for all } x\}.$$

We can also describe the plectic Galois action on $X_*(S_1)$ explicitly, which will then also describe the plectic action on the $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of $X_*(G_1)$ by (6.1.6): Note that $X_*(\mathbb{G}^2_{m,F})$ carries the trivial Γ_F -action, hence by (4.1.4.2) the action of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ on $X_*(S_1)$ factors through S_{Σ} and is given by

$$(\sigma, h) \colon \chi = (\chi_x)_{x \in \Sigma} \longmapsto (\chi_{\sigma^{-1}(x)})_{x \in \Sigma}.$$

6.2 Plectic action on cocharacters of more general groups

In this section we define a plectic action on cocharacters of algebraic groups that differ only in the centre from a group of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$. The following purely group-theoretical observations will be very useful:

Assume Γ is a group acting on a set A_1 , and let $A \subset A_1$. We denote the largest subgroup of Γ stabilising A by $\operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(A)$.

6.2.1 Lemma. Let Γ be a group acting on the sets A_1 and B_1 , and let $d: A_1 \to B_1$ be Γ -equivariant and surjective. Assume that $B \subset B_1$ is a subset, and that $A \subset A_1$ is given by the following Cartesian diagram of sets



i. e.

$$A = \{a \in A_1 \mid d(a) \in B\} = d^{-1}(B).$$

Then

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(A) = \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(B).$$

Proof. An element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ preserves A if and only if for all $a \in A$ we have $\gamma a \in A$, i.e. $d(\gamma a) \in B$. But $d(\gamma a) = \gamma d(a)$ and $d|_A \colon A \to B$ is surjective, so this is equivalent to γ preserving B.

As a motivating example, we generalise (6.1.8) to certain subtori of $R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, for a totally imaginary quadratic extension K of F:

6.2.2. (Subtori of $R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$) We use the notation of (6.1.8), and abbreviate $R_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ and $T_1 := R_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}R_{K/F}\mathbb{G}_m$ for the algebraic tori over \mathbb{Q} of (6.1.7) and (6.1.8), respectively. Let

$$N := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(N_{K/F}) \colon T_1 \to R_1$$

be the norm map, which on $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -points is given by

$$N \colon (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times} = \prod_{x \in \Sigma, \ b \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in \Sigma} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times} = (F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times},$$
$$(z_{x,b})_{x,b} \longmapsto (z_{x,0}z_{x,1})_{x}.$$

It will be useful to calculate the induced map $N_*: X_*(T_1) \to X_*(R_1)$ on cocharacters explicitly: Recall that $X_*(R_1) = \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma]$ and $X_*(T_1) = \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma_K]$. By using the description of the cocharacter [x] in (2.1.6), we see that

$$N_*: \sum_{x \in \Sigma, \ b \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} m_{x,b}[c^b \varphi_x] \longmapsto \sum_{x \in \Sigma} (m_{x,0} + m_{x,1})[x].$$
(6.2.2.1)

Let $R \hookrightarrow R_1$ be an algebraic subtorus over \mathbb{Q} and define T to be the algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} that makes the following diagram Cartesian

$$\begin{array}{c} T & \longleftrightarrow & T_1 \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow_N \\ R & \longleftrightarrow & R_1. \end{array}$$

Note that in general T will not be of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$ for some algebraic torus H over F, hence (6.1.4) does not give a plectic action on $X_*(T)$.

However, it does give an action on $X_*(T_1)$, see (6.1.8), and hence $X_*(T) \subset X_*(T_1)$ inherits an action by the largest subgroup of the plectic group $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ which stabilises the subspace $X_*(T)$. This subgroup is $\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}}(X_*(T))$ in the notation of (6.2.1). It contains, of course, the absolute Galois group of \mathbb{Q} because T is an algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} , but it is in fact much bigger. We can calculate it explicitly as follows:

The above diagram of tori induces a Cartesian diagram of $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules

$$X_*(T) \longleftrightarrow X_*(T_1)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{N_*}$$

$$X_*(R) \longleftrightarrow X_*(R_1),$$

i.e.

$$X_*(T) = \{ \chi \in X_*(T_1) \mid N_*(\chi) \in X_*(R) \subset X_*(R_1) \}.$$
 (6.2.2.2)

For example, if $R = \mathbb{G}_m$ and $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow R_1$ is the usual embedding which on \mathbb{Q} -points is simply the inclusion $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \subset F^{\times}$, then the corresponding map on cocharacters is given by

$$X_*(\mathbb{G}_m) = \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow X_*(R_1) = \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma],$$

$$n \longmapsto n \sum_{x \in \Sigma} [x]$$
(6.2.2.3)

and thus

$$X_*(T) = \left\{ \sum_{\varphi \in \Sigma_K} m_{\varphi}[\varphi] \; \middle| \; m_{\varphi} + m_{\overline{\varphi}} = m_{\varphi'} + m_{\overline{\varphi}'} \text{ for all } \varphi, \varphi' \in \Sigma_K \right\}.$$
(6.2.2.4)

Using (6.1.6) and the fact that N_* is surjective (obvious from (6.2.2.1)), (6.2.1) implies that

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(T)) = \operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(R)).$$

We can be more explicit as follows: The action of the plectic group on $X_*(R_1)$ factors through its canonical quotient S_{Σ} , see (6.1.7). Let $\mathcal{S}(R) := \operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}}(X_*(R))$ be the largest subgroup of S_{Σ} stabilising $X_*(R) \subset X_*(R_1)$, then

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(R)) = \operatorname{preimage} \text{ of } \mathcal{S}(R) = \mathcal{S}(R) \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}.$$
(6.2.2.5)

We denote this group by $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R$.

6.2.3 Example. Let us look at subtori $R = R_{F'/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ coming from intermediate fields $\mathbb{Q} \subset F' \subset F$:

- (6.2.3.a) Clearly, if F' = F, then $R = R_1$ and $T = T_1$, so $\mathcal{S}(R) = S_{\Sigma}$ and the full plectic group acts on the cocharacters of T.
- (6.2.3.b) Let $F = \mathbb{Q}$, so $R = \mathbb{G}_m$, embedded in R_1 diagonally (on \mathbb{Q} -points). Then the associated T is the algebraic torus introduced in (2.5.1) (the "PEL torus").

Then $X_*(R) \subset X_*(R_1) = \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma]$ corresponds to $\mathbb{Z}(\sum_{x \in \Sigma} [x])$. Clearly this is stable under the action of S_{Σ} (in fact, S_{Σ} acts trivially on it), hence again the full plectic group acts on $X_*(T)$.

This example also shows that $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R = S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ is possible even though the torus T is not the restriction of scalars of some torus defined over F.

(6.2.3.c) General case: This example will show that it is possible that $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{cc}^{R} \subsetneq S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$. We have

$$X_*(R) \hookrightarrow X_*(R_1), \quad [x'] \mapsto \sum_{x|x'} [x],$$

where x|x' means that $x: F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ extends $x': F' \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Therefore $\mathcal{S}(R)$ is equal to all permutations of Σ preserving the partition $\Sigma = \bigsqcup_{x' \in \Sigma'} \{x \colon x | x'\}$, where $\Sigma' \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}(F', \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, i.e. $\sigma \in S_{\Sigma}$ belongs to $\mathcal{S}(R)$ if and only if for all $x' \in \Sigma'$ there exists $y' \in \Sigma'$ such that $\{\sigma(x) \colon x | x'\} = \{x \in \Sigma \colon x | y'\}$.

The cases F' = F and $F' = \mathbb{Q}$ give back the previous examples. But in all other cases, this is a proper subgroup of S_{Σ} , hence also $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{cc}^{R}$ is a proper subgroup of $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}$.

After this introductory example, we will define a plectic action on the cocharacters of a group that differs only in the centre (see (6.2.9)) from a restriction of scalars. As the second and most important example, we look at groups that differ only in the centre from $G_1 := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$.

6.2.4 Example (Cocharacters of variants of $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂). Similar to (6.2.2) and as in (4.4.2), let $R \hookrightarrow R_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$ be an algebraic subtorus over \mathbb{Q} and let $G = G^R$. Recall the Cartesian diagram (4.4.2.1)

$$\begin{array}{c} G & \longleftrightarrow & G_1 \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow_{d_F} \\ R & \longleftrightarrow & R_1, \end{array}$$

where $d_F := R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\det) \colon G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2 \to R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m = R_1$. Then $X_*(G)$ is a subset of $X_*(G_1)$, fitting into the Cartesian diagram of sets with $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action

$$X_*(G) \longleftrightarrow X_*(G_1)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{(d_F)_*}$$

$$X_*(R) \longleftrightarrow X_*(R_1),$$

i.e.

$$X_*(G) = \{ \chi \in X_*(G_1) \mid (d_F)_*(\chi) \in X_*(R) \}.$$
 (6.2.4.1)

The cocharacters $X_*(G_1)$ of G_1 carry an action by the plectic group by (6.1.4), and so once again $X_*(G)$ inherits an action by $\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}}(X_*(G))$. In analogy to (6.2.2.2), $(d_F)_*$ is plectic equivariant by (6.1.6), hence (6.2.1) implies that

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(G)) = \operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(R)) = (S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{\operatorname{cc}}^{R}$$

For Definition (6.1.11) of the reflex field in the theory of Shimura varieties, one does not use the action of the Galois group $\Gamma_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on cocharacters of G, but the induced action on $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters of G.

6.2.5 Example (Conjugacy classes of cocharacters of G^R). We continue the previous example. Having defined a plectic action on the cocharacters of G, we now need to make sure this action is compatible with conjugation by $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Note that by (6.1.12) the full plectic group acts on the $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters

of G_1 .

If two cocharacters $\chi_1, \chi_2 \in X_*(G)$ of G are $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugate, then they are clearly also $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugate, and hence by what we know about G_1 their plectic images $\gamma\chi_1, \gamma\chi_2$ are $G_1(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugate. To conclude that they are $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugate, note that conjugation factors through the adjoint groups G^{ad} and G_1^{ad} . But these two groups are equal by (6.2.8) below.

Thus we may conclude that $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R$ acts on conjugacy classes of cocharacters of G.

In (6.1.13) we defined the *plectic reflex Galois group* for Shimura data (G, X), with G a group of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$, as the stabiliser inside $\operatorname{Aut}_F(F \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ of a certain conjugacy class μ_X of cocharacters. In analogy, we have:

6.2.6. (Plectic reflex Galois group of (G^R, X^R)) We continue (6.2.4). Let $(G, X) := (G^R, X^R)$. Let μ_X be the $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy class of cocharacters of G determined by X, see (6.1.11). Then the *plectic reflex Galois group* of (G, X) is defined to be the stabiliser of μ_X inside $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R$.

6.2.7 Example. We continue (6.2.4). By (6.2.5), we can identify the set of $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ conjugacy classes in $X_*(G)$ with a subset of $X_*(S_1)/W$, namely those cocharacters χ with $(d_F)_*(\chi) \in X_*(R)$. Here W again denotes the Weyl group of S_1 , see (6.1.14).
We can explicitly calculate that for $\chi = (\chi_x)$ we have

$$(d_F)_*(\chi) = \sum_{x \in \Sigma} (n_x + m_x)[x] \in \mathbb{Z}[\Sigma],$$

where we identify $X_*(R_1)$ with $\mathbb{Z}[\Sigma]$ as in (6.1.7). Hence

$$X_*(G)/G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$$
-conj. $\cong \{\chi = (\chi_x) \mid n_x \ge m_x \text{ and } \sum_{x \in \Sigma} (n_x + m_x)[x] \in X_*(R)\}.$

Note the resemblance with (6.2.2.1) and (6.2.2.2).

To compare the groups G and G_1 of (6.2.4), let us first recall some facts about algebraic groups:

6.2.8 (Adjoint and derived group). Recall that for any connected reductive group G over \mathbb{Q} one has two short exact sequences fitting into the following diagram of

algebraic groups over \mathbb{Q} :



Here

- Z denotes the centre of G,
- $G^{\mathrm{ad}} = G/Z$ denotes the adjoint group of G,
- $G^{\text{der}} = [G, G]$ denotes the derived subgroup of G,
- $C := G/G^{\text{der}}$ denotes the cocentre of G,

and the induced dashed arrows are *isogenies*, i.e. surjective morphisms with finite kernel. For example, for $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{GL}_2$ we get:

- $Z_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$, embedded diagonally in G_1 ,
- $G_1^{\mathrm{ad}} = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{PGL}_2,$
- $G_1^{\operatorname{der}} = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\operatorname{SL}_2,$
- $C_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m = R_1$ and the map $G_1 \to C_1$ is equal to $d_F \colon G_1 \to R_1$.

The calculation of C_1 indicates that defining G by the Cartesian diagram (4.4.2.1) means a change in the cocentre, and we can indeed proceed in greater generality:

6.2.9. (Change in the cocentre) Let G_1 be a reductive groups over \mathbb{Q} . Fix some subtorus R of C_1 . Define the reductive group G over \mathbb{Q} by the Cartesian diagram

where $d: G_1 \to C_1$ denotes the canonical map. In this case, we say that G differs only in the centre from G_1 , compare (1.2.0.2). To justify this terminology, we now successively calculate the groups Z, C, G^{ad} , G^{der} associated to G from the corresponding groups Z_1 , C_1 , G_1^{ad} , G_1^{der} of G_1 by a diagram chase:

Step 1: The groups G and G_1 have the same derived groups:

By definition, we have $G_1^{\text{der}} = \ker(d)$. Now $d|_G$ factors through R by the diagram (6.2.9.1) defining G, and R is abelian (because C_1 is), hence $\ker(d)$ contains G^{der} . On the other hand, the Cartesian diagram (6.2.9.1) also implies that G contains $\ker(d) = G_1^{\text{der}}$, and hence G^{der} contains $(G_1^{\text{der}})^{\text{der}} = G_1^{\text{der}}$, where the last equality holds because G_1^{der} is semisimple. We conclude:

$$G^{\mathrm{der}} = G_1^{\mathrm{der}}.$$

Step 2: The cocentre of G is R:

Because R is abelian, the map $G \to R$ factors through the cocentre C. This shows that $G^{\text{der}} \subset K := \ker(G \to R)$.

Moreover, since $G^{der} = G_1^{der}$ there is a map $C \hookrightarrow C_1$ which factors through R, i.e. we get a commutative diagram



This means we get the commutative diagram with exact rows



A direct diagram chase shows that $G^{der} = K$, hence

$$C = R.$$

Step 3: The groups G and G_1 have the same adjoint group:

The adjoint group of a reductive group is the same as the adjoint group of its derived group, hence step 1 implies that G and G_1 have the same adjoint group.

Step 4: The centre Z of G is equal to $Z_1 \cap G$:

By step 3 we have

$$Z = \ker(G \to G^{\mathrm{ad}}) = \ker(G \hookrightarrow G_1 \to G_1^{\mathrm{ad}} = G^{\mathrm{ad}}) = G \cap Z_1.$$

6.2.10 (Plectic reflex Galois group – general case). Assume that G and G_1 are related by the Cartesian diagram (6.2.9.1). We saw that this implies that G and G_1 have the same derived and adjoint groups. They only differ in the cocentre $C = R \hookrightarrow C_1$ and the centre $Z = Z_1 \cap G$.

Now if $G_1 = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H_1$ is a restriction of scalars, then C_1 is of the form $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}D_1$ for some algebraic torus D_1 over F. This means that the cocharacters of both G_1 and C_1 carry plectic actions by the full plectic group, and that the induced map $X_*(G_1) \to X_*(C_1)$ is equivariant with respect to these actions by (6.1.6).

We can now mimic (6.2.4) to define a plectic group acting on $X_*(G)$: Recall that $\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_F^{\Sigma}}(X_*(R))$ is the largest subgroup of the plectic group stabilising the subset $X_*(R)$ of $X_*(C_1)$. Then (6.2.1) shows that $X_*(G)$ inherits an action by

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(G)) = \operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma}}(X_{*}(R)) =: (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{cc}^{R}.$$

Note that this group is not necessarily of the form $\mathcal{S} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ for some subgroup $\mathcal{S} \subset S_{\Sigma}$ because the action of the plectic group on $X_*(C_1)$ does not necessarily factor through S_{Σ} like in (6.2.4).¹

Also note that because $G^{\mathrm{ad}} = G_1^{\mathrm{ad}}$, the same argument as in (6.2.5) shows that the action of $\mathrm{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_F^{\Sigma}}(X_*(R))$ on cocharacters induces an action on $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy classes of cocharacters of G. This allows us to define the *plectic reflex Galois group* of a Shimura datum (G, X) as the subgroup of $\mathrm{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_F^{\Sigma}}(X_*(R))$ fixing the $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy class μ_X of cocharacters of G.

Let us conclude this section by relating the plectic action on cocharacters of tori defined in (6.2.2) to the action on cocharacters of groups related to $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ GL₂:

6.2.11 Remark. (Functoriality of the plectic reflex Galois group) Let $\mathbb{G}_m \subset R \subset R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{G}_m$ be an intermediate algebraic torus over \mathbb{Q} , and define $G = G^R$ as in (6.2.4). Moreover, let K/F be a totally imaginary quadratic extension, and let T be the torus defined in (6.2.2).

A *F*-vector space isomorphism $a: K \xrightarrow{\sim} F^2$ as in the proof of (5.2.10) induces an embedding $(T_1, h_{\Phi}) \hookrightarrow (G_1, X_1)$ of Shimura data. We choose the isomorphism a is so that $a \circ h_{\Phi} \circ a^{-1}$ lies inside $X = X^R$, hence we also get an embedding $(T, h_{\Phi}) \hookrightarrow (G, X)$. From now on, we will suppress a from notation, so we view h_{Φ} as an element of X.

The plectic reflex Galois group of (G, X) is the stabiliser, inside $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{cc}^{R}$, of the $G(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ -conjugacy class μ_{X} determined by the cocharacter μ associated to a fixed $h \in X$. For example, we can take the conjugacy class of the cocharacter μ_{Φ} associated to $h_{\Phi} \in X$.

¹However, the action of the plectic group on $X_*(C_1)$ factors through some finite quotient of the plectic group, and so one does at least get a more concrete description of $\operatorname{Stab}_{S_{\Sigma}\ltimes\Gamma_E^{\Sigma}}(X_*(R))$.

Now $T \hookrightarrow G$ induces a map $X_*(T) \hookrightarrow X_*(G)$ that is $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R$ -equivariant: Indeed, $X_*(T_1) \hookrightarrow X_*(G_1)$ is $S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma}$ -equivariant by (6.1.6), and so by the definition of the plectic action on $X_*(T)$ in (6.2.2) and on $X_*(G)$ in (6.2.4) the assertion follows from the commutative diagram



So if $\gamma \in (S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_F^{\Sigma})_{cc}^R$ lies in the plectic reflex Galois group of (T, h_{Φ}) , then γ fixes μ_{Φ} (viewed as a cocharacter of T), so in particular it fixes the conjugacy class of μ_{Φ} inside $X_*(G)$, hence γ is an element of the plectic reflex Galois group of (G, X). This means that the plectic reflex Galois group of (T, h_{Φ}) is contained in the plectic reflex Galois group of (G, X).

One can easily prove the plectic analogue of [Mil17, 12.3(c)]:

6.2.12 Lemma. For i = 1, 2, let $G_i = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H_i$ for some algebraic group H_i over F. Denote the cocentre of G_i by C_i , let $R_i \subset C_i$ be a subtorus and look at the group $G_i^{R_i} \subset G_i$ defined by the Cartesian diagram



Moreover, let $(G_i^{R_i}, X_i)$ be a Shimura datum. Let $f: H_1 \to H_2$ be a morphism defined over F such that $R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(f): G_1 \to G_2$ restricts to a morphism of Shimura data $(G_1^{R_1}, X_1) \to (G_2^{R_2}, X_2)$.

Then the plectic reflex Galois group of $(G_1^{R_1}, X_1)$ is contained in the plectic reflex Galois group of $(G_2^{R_2}, X_2)$.

6.2.13 Remark. [Del71, Thm 5.1] says that the reflex field of a Shimura datum is determined by the reflex fields of its special points. Is there a plectic analogue of this, i.e. is the plectic reflex Galois group determined by the plectic reflex Galois group of its special points? We do not know the answer to this question, not even in the case where $G = R_{F/\mathbb{Q}}H$.

6.2.14 Remark. We are also curious to see how the plectic groups $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{CM}^{R}$ and $(S_{\Sigma} \ltimes \Gamma_{F}^{\Sigma})_{cc}^{R}$ are related.

Bibliography

- [BL04] Christina Birkenhake and Herbert Lange. Complex abelian varieties, volume 302 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004.
- [Bla15] Chris Blake. Topics in Complex Multiplication. PhD thesis, University of Cambridge, 2015.
- [Bla16] Chris Blake. A plectic Taniyama group. ArXiv e-prints, page arXiv:1606.03320, June 2016.
- [Del71] Pierre Deligne. Travaux de Shimura. In Séminaire Bourbaki, 23ème année (1970/71), Exp. No. 389, pages 123–165. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 244. Springer, Berlin, 1971.
- [Del79] Pierre Deligne. Variétés de Shimura: interprétation modulaire, et techniques de construction de modèles canoniques. In Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, pages 247-289. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979.
- [Del82] Pierre Deligne. Motifs et groupes de Taniyama. In Hodge cycles, motives, and Shimura varieties, volume 900 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 261-279. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [DS17] Fred Diamond and Shu Sasaki. A Serre weight conjecture for geometric Hilbert modular forms in characteristic p. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:1712.03775, Dec 2017.
- [DT04] Mladen Dimitrov and Jacques Tilouine. Variétés et formes modulaires de Hilbert arithmétiques pour Γ₁(c, n). In Geometric aspects of Dwork theory. Vol. I, II, pages 555–614. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 2004.
- [Far06] Laurent Fargues. Motives and automorphic forms: The (potentially) abelian case. https://webusers.imj-prg.fr/ laurent.fargues/Notes.html, 2006.

- [Hat02] Allen Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [Hid04] Haruzo Hida. p-adic automorphic forms on Shimura varieties. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004.
- [Kot92] Robert E. Kottwitz. Points on some Shimura varieties over finite fields. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 5(2):373-444, 1992.
- [Lan79] R. P. Langlands. Automorphic representations, Shimura varieties, and motives. Ein Märchen. In Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, pages 205-246. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979.
- [Lan83] Serge Lang. Complex multiplication, volume 255 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [Liu16] Yifeng Liu. Hirzebruch-Zagier cycles and twisted triple product Selmer groups. Invent. Math., 205(3):693–780, 2016.
- [Mil81] James S. Milne. Abelian varieties with complex multiplication (for pedestrians). https://jmilne.org/math/articles/1981dT.pdf, 1981. Online version, June 1998.
- [Mil05] James S. Milne. Introduction to Shimura varieties. In Harmonic analysis, the trace formula, and Shimura varieties, volume 4 of Clay Math. Proc., pages 265–378. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [Mil06] James S. Milne. Complex multiplication. https://www.jmilne.org/math/CourseNotes/cm.html, 2006. Version 0.00, April 2006.
- [Mil07] James S. Milne. The fundamental theorem of complex multiplication. ArXiv e-prints, page arXiv:0705.3446, May 2007.
- [Mil08] James S. Milne. Abelian varieties. http://jmilne.org/math/CourseNotes/av.html, 2008. Version 2.0, 2008.
- [Mil17] James S. Milne. Introduction to Shimura varieties. https://jmilne.org/math/xnotes/svi.html, 2017. Revised version of [Mil05], September 2017.

- [MN19] André Macedo and Rachel Newton. Explicit methods for the Hasse norm principle and applications to A_n and S_n extensions. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:1906.03730, Jun 2019.
- [MS82a] James S. Milne and Kuang-yen Shih. Conjugates of Shimura varieties. In Hodge cycles, motives, and Shimura varieties, volume 900 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 280–356. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [MS82b] James S. Milne and Kuang-yen Shih. Langlands's construction of the Taniyama group. In Hodge cycles, motives, and Shimura varieties, volume 900 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 229-260. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [Mum70] David Mumford. Abelian varieties. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Mathematics, No. 5. Published for the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay; Oxford University Press, London, 1970.
- [Nek09] Jan Nekovář. Hidden symmetries in the theory of complex multiplication. In Algebra, arithmetic, and geometry: in honor of Yu. I. Manin. Vol. II, volume 270 of Progr. Math., pages 399–437. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2009.
- [Neu92] Jürgen Neukirch. Algebraische Zahlentheorie. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [Neu13] Jürgen Neukirch. Class field theory. Springer, Heidelberg, 2013. The Bonn lectures, edited and with a foreword by Alexander Schmidt, Translated from the 1967 German original by F. Lemmermeyer and W. Snyder, Language editor: A. Rosenschon.
- [NS16] J. Nekovář and A. J. Scholl. Introduction to plectic cohomology. In Advances in the theory of automorphic forms and their L-functions, volume 664 of Contemp. Math., pages 321–337. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2016.
- [NS17] J. Nekovář and A. J. Scholl. Plectic Hodge theory I. https://www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/ ajs1005/, 2017. Preprint.
- [NSW08] Jürgen Neukirch, Alexander Schmidt, and Kay Wingberg. Cohomology of number fields, volume 323 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2008.
- [NSW15] Jürgen Neukirch, Alexander Schmidt, and Kay Wingberg. Cohomology of number fields. https://www.mathi.uni-

heidelberg.de/ schmidt/NSW2e/index-de.html, 2015. Version 2.2 of [NSW08], Juli 2015.

- [Orr18] Martin Orr. Galois conjugates of special points and special subvarieties in Shimura varieties. *arXiv e-prints*, page arXiv:1812.06819, Dec 2018.
- [PR94] Vladimir Platonov and Andrei Rapinchuk. Algebraic groups and number theory, volume 139 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1994. Translated from the 1991 Russian original by Rachel Rowen.
- [Sch94] Norbert Schappacher. CM motives and the Taniyama group. In Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), volume 55 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 485– 508. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994.
- [Sch98] Norbert Schappacher. On the history of Hilbert's twelfth problem: a comedy of errors. In Matériaux pour l'histoire des mathématiques au XX^e siècle (Nice, 1996), volume 3 of Sémin. Congr., pages 243–273. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1998.
- [SD74] H. P. F. Swinnerton-Dyer. Analytic theory of abelian varieties. Cambridge University Press, London-New York, 1974. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, No. 14.
- [Shi71] Goro Shimura. Introduction to the arithmetic theory of automorphic functions. Publications of the Mathematical Society of Japan, No. 11. Iwanami Shoten, Publishers, Tokyo; Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1971. Kanô Memorial Lectures, No. 1.
- [Sil94] Joseph H. Silverman. Advanced topics in the arithmetic of elliptic curves, volume 151 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994.
- [ST61] Goro Shimura and Yutaka Taniyama. Complex multiplication of abelian varieties and its applications to number theory, volume 6 of Publications of the Mathematical Society of Japan. The Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 1961.
- [Tat66] John Tate. The cohomology groups of tori in finite Galois extensions of number fields. Nagoya Math. J., 27:709-719, 1966.
- [Tat67] John Tate. Global class field theory. In J.W.S. Cassels and A. Fröhlich, editors, Algebraic Number Theory (Proc. Instructional Conf., Brighton, 1965), pages 162–203. Academic Press, London, 1967.

- [Tat16] John Tate. On conjugation of abelian varieties of CM type. In Barry Mazur and Jean-Pierre Serre, editors, *Collected works of John Tate*, pages 153–158. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2016.
- [TX16] Yichao Tian and Liang Xiao. p-adic cohomology and classicality of overconvergent Hilbert modular forms. Astérisque, (382):73-162, 2016.
- [vdG88] Gerard van der Geer. Hilbert modular surfaces, volume 16 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [Vos01] V. E. Voskresenskii. Galois lattices and algebraic groups. J. Math. Sci. (New York), 106(4):3098-3144, 2001. Pontryagin Conference, 8, Algebra (Moscow, 1998).